Biologiske Skrifter <sup>udgivet af</sup> Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab Bind 7, nr. 3

Biol. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk. 7, no. 3 (1952) (ed. 2, 1958)

# THE PERIODICITY OF WOOD FORMATION

BY

# **KJELD LADEFOGED**

SECOND EDITION



København 1958 i kommission hos Ejnar Munksgaard DET KONGELIGE DANSKE VIDENSKABERNES SELSKAB udgiver følgende publikationsrækker:

THE ROYAL DANISH ACADEMY OF SCIENCES AND LETTERS issues the following series of publications:

Oversigt over Selskabets Virksomhed (8°) (Annual in Danish)

Historisk-filosofiske Meddelelser (8°) Historisk-filosofiske Skrifter (4°) (History, Philology, Philosophy, Archeology, Art History)

Matematisk-fysiske Meddelelser (8°) Matematisk-fysiske Skrifter (4°) (Mathematics, Physics, Chemistry, Astronomy, Geology)

Biologiske Meddelelser (8°) Biologiske Skrifter (4°) (Botany, Zoology, General Biology) Bibliographical Abbreviation Overs. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Hist. Filos. Medd. Dan. Vid. Selsk. Hist. Filos. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Mat. Fys. Medd. Dan. Vid. Selsk. Mat. Fys. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Biol. Medd. Dan. Vid. Selsk. Biol. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

Selskabets sekretariat og postadresse: Dantes Plads 5, København V.

The address of the secretariate of the Academy is: Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab, Dantes Plads 5, Köbenhavn V, Denmark.

Selskabets kommissionær: EJNAR MUNKSGAARD's Forlag, Nørregade 6, København K.

The publications are sold by the agent of the Academy: EJNAR MUNKSGAARD, Publishers, 6 Nörregade, Köbenhavn K, Denmark.

> Réimpression inaltérée (1. édition 1952). Uforandret optrykt efter 1. udgave 1952. Offsettrykt i Carl Allers Etablissement A/S.

Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab Biologiske Skrifter, bind 7, nr. 3

Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no. 3 (1952)

# THE PERIODICITY OF WOOD FORMATION

BY

KJELD LADEFOGED



København i kommission hos Ejnar Munksgaard 1952 Translation: HARRIET OPPENHEJM

.

PRINTED IN DENMARK BIANCO LUNOS BOGTRYKKERI

# CONTENTS

		Page
Ι.	Introduction	5
II.	Literature	6
III.	Technique, Locality and Climate	15
IV.	The Cambium during the Rest Period	16
v.	The Preliminary Change of the Cambium	17
VI.	The Time of the Inception of Cell Division        Methods, Material and its Elaboration. The Successive Order of the Inception of Cell Division        The Time of the Inception of Cell Division in Relation to Bud Break        1. At Bud Base        2. At Breast Height in the Stem (1.3 m)        3. In the Roots	21 21 24 24 29 32
VII.	The Reason why Cambial Activity Begins at Bud Base	34
VIII.	The Course of Wood Formation and the Time of its Termination	37 37 37 38 38 39 56 57 57 60 63 63 63 64
IX.	The Thickening of the Cell Walls	66
X.	The Change in the Width of the Vessels and Tracheids during the Growth Period        Methods.        Tables and Figures.        The Difference between Spring and Summer Wood and the Time of the Inception of Summer        Wood.        1. Definition        2. The Successive Order of the Formation of Summer Wood	67 67 67 70 70 71

		rage
	3. A Comparison between the Tree Species	71
	4. The Width of the Annual Ring	76
	The Cause of the Difference between Spring and Summer Wood	76
	1. Literature	76
	2. A Comparison between the Length of the Shoot Extension Period and the Difference	•
	between the Size and Number of the Vessels in Spring and Summer Wood	78
XI.	Water Transportation	80
	Water Transportation in the outermost Annual Ring	81
	Total Water Transportation	81
XII.	Comparisons	83
	1. Hardwoods	83
	2. Conifers	87
XIII.	Summary	87
Referer	nces	90

# I. Introduction.

K nowledge of the growth periodicity of the various species of trees is of importance for the understanding of their nature and growth reaction to different external conditions.

In Denmark the time of foliation, flowering, and defoliation is known from observations made in the field as well as from phenologic investigations carried out by LANGE (1873, 1879, and 1884) and BRUUN (1889 and 1919). The time of the extension growth of the roots has been investigated by O. G. PETERSEN (1898 and 1903) and LADEFOGED (1939).

On the other hand we have no certain knowledge of the periodicity of wood formation in this country. From observations of the rising of the sap and when the bark 'slips' we know in practice the approximate time of the beginning of wood formation in spring and its termination in autumn. But beyond this our knowledge of its periodicity and dependence on external conditions is pretty insufficient.

If we want to form an opinion in this direction it may be done on the basis of the many, and often very valuable, investigations carried out abroad, chiefly in Central Europe, England, and U.S.A.

Owing to the often considerable climatic differences the results of these investigations cannot directly be transferred to conditions in Denmark. To this comes that the results frequently differ to a certain extent, and chiefly apply to species of trees of a rather peripheric interest to Danish forestry.

From the desire to obtain a more satisfactory basis for the determination of the periodicity of wood formation in our forest trees I have from the time from March 1944 till November 1945 watched cambial activity and wood formation in the following species of trees:

Conifers:

Pinus silvestris L. Scotch pine. Larix decidua MILL. Larch. Picea abies L. KARST. Norway spruce. Picea sitchensis (BONG.) CARR. Sitka spruce. Abies alba MILL. European silver fir. Pseudotsuga taxifolia (PORR.) Britt. Douglas fir.

Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no.3.

Hardwoods:

Betula pendula ROTH. Birch. Alnus glutinosa (L.) GAERT. Alder. Corylus avellana L. Hazel. Carpinus betulus L. Hornbeam. Fagus silvatica L. Beech. Quercus robur L. Common oak. Ulmus glabra HUDS. Elm. Tilia cordata MILL. Lime. Aesculus hippocastanum L. Horse-chestnut. Acer pseudoplatanus L. Maple. Prunus avium (L.) MOENCH. Wild cherrv. Sorbus aucuparia L. Mountain ash. Fraxinus excelsior L. Ash.

Through our examinations it has in the first line been our aim to throw light on:

1. The time of the beginning and termination of cambial activity in branches, stem, and roots.

2. The process of wood formation in the most important species of trees.

3. The time of the beginning of summer wood formation, and the difference between spring and summer wood.

Further, investigations have been carried out concerning the duration of the shoot extension period and water transportation at breast height.

# II. Literature.

Some of the first investigations of the periodicity of wood formation were undertaken by TH. HARTIG (1857 and 1863a). In Germany he i.a. watched the wood formation in 16-year-old *Pinus silvestris, Larix decidua, Quercus robur* and *Acer pseudoplatanus* all through a summer.

He found that cambial activity began first in the young branches, then it started in the stem, and last in the roots. Between the time it began in the branches and in the roots a period of  $1\frac{1}{2}$  to  $2\frac{1}{2}$  months elapsed.

In *Pinus silvestris* and *Quercus robur* cambial activity began in the branches as well as in the stem before May 5th. He did not notice the same growth condition till June 7th in *Larix decidua* and *Acer pseudoplatanus*.

In autumn cambial activity terminated in the same succession as it began in spring, 2 to 3 weeks later in the roots than in the stem.

SCHRÖDER (1879) in Russia measured the thickness of the stem at a week's interval in young  $(3\frac{1}{2}-4\frac{1}{2} \text{ m high})$  Quercus robur, Populus tremoluides and Picea abies var. sibirica.

6

In *Picea abies* the wood formation was liveliest in May; in the *Quercus robur* and *Populus* in the middle of June. In all three trees it ceased in the middle of August.

RUSSOW (1884) found in contradistinction to TH. HARTIG that only a few days elapsed between the beginning of cambial activity in the stem and in the roots.

GULBE (1888a and b) has in Russia examined the periodicity of wood formation in seventeen different species of hardwoods and conifers. In conformity with TH. HARTIG and Russow he found that cambial activity started in the branches, while it began later in stem and roots. Between the time of its inception in the young branches and roots a period of 4 to 5 weeks elapsed.

In autumn it ceased in the same succession—two months later in the roots than in the branches.

CHRISTISON (1889) through eight years at short intervals measured the increase in circumference in nineteen different species of trees in a botanical garden at Edinburgh.

In *Quercus robur* and evergreen conifers the growth in thickness began earlier —in the other species of trees<sup>1</sup> not until some time after bud break.

In May and June wood formation was livelier in conifers than in hardwoods. Averagely 54  $^{0}/_{0}$  of the new annual ring was formed by July 1st in conifers against  $35 \, ^{0}/_{0}$  only in hardwoods.

MISCHKE (1890) examined in Germany the process of wood formation in *Pinus* silvestris and *Picea abies* by cutting sections from the stem nine times in the course of a summer and counting how many new cells had formed radially.

In *Pinus silvestris* wood formation began in May. It progressed slowly till the end of June when it completely ceased—probably owing to drought. In August it started again, and for a short time it was very lively.

In *Picea abies* wood formation began at the end of April. It was most lively during the time from the middle of May till the middle of June as well as in August.

R. HARTIG (1882b and 1891, pp. 161–164) has in various places in Germany examined the inception of cambial activity in trees in different growth localities.

He found that it started earlier in spring in sun-exposed than in shaded stems.

The branches are more quickly warmed up in spring than the stem and roots. Therefore cambial activity starts first in the branches.

MER (1892a) found under investigations of the time for the inception of cambial activity in *Quercus, Fagus, Carpinus, Tilia, Populus* and *Picea* that 10 to 15 days passed between its inception in the stem and the roots.

JOST (1892) through a period of two years regularly measured the increase of the circumference of the stem with a steel band in 16 different species of trees at the botanical garden in Strassburg. In 10 species of trees he further watched the growth in thickness by measuring their diameters with a "Fuhlhebel".

The growth in thickness began in May and reached maximum in June or July. Hereafter it quickly decreased and ceased in September or October.

<sup>1</sup> Of ring porous trees only Quercus robur was measured.

The growth in thickness in the branches all the time preceded that in the stem.

He found a still lively cambial activity at the base of one- and two-year-old branches after the leaves and buds were fully developed. From this he concludes that there is no connection between the development of the leaves and the growth in thickness of the branches.

REUSS (1893) constructed a dendrograph by means of which he through a period of two years followed the growth in thickness of the stem of a 15-year-old open-grown *Tilia*.

The growth in thickness began in May after foliation.

The first year it already ceased at the beginning of July, the second year not until the end of August.

FRIEDRICH (1897) constructed a "Zuwachs-Autograph" which might be placed on the stem and automatically recorded the changes in its circumference. With a series of such instruments he through a period of 5 years watched the growth in thickness from day to day at breast height in i. a., older *Fagus silvatica*, *Acer pseudoplatanus*, *Tilia cordata*, *Picea abies* and *Pinus silvestris* at the botanical garden at Mariabrunn.

The growth in thickness on the whole began simultaneously with foliation. It did not, however, really gather speed till after the leaves were completely developed. In several of the species of trees there were two annual maxima: one at the end of May, and another towards the middle of July.

The growth in thickness ceased within the period between the middle of August and the beginning of October.

REICHE (1897) found that in Chile the growth in thickness began after bud break.

WALTER (1898) all through a summer watched the wood formation in the stems of four 100-200-year-old *Fagus silvatica* standards in the neighbourhood of Giessen. At intervals he extracted cores with a borer from 1.5 m height, and under the microscope he then counted how may new cells had formed radially.

The opening of the buds began slowly on April 21st. Wood formation in the stem did not begin till a month had passed and lasted till August 18th.

WIELER (1898) applied the same method to examine the periodicity of wood formation in amongst other trees, *Pinus silvestris*, *Picea abies*, *Abies alba*, *Quercus robur* and *Fagus silvatica* in various parts of Germany. The variation in the individual trees and species of trees between the dates for the inception and termination of wood formation was very great.

O. G. PETERSEN (1898) found in 1896 beginning wood formation on May 20th in the stems of 2-5-year-old Fraxinus excelsior, Betula pendula, Fagus silvatica, Quercus robur, Acer pseudoplatanus, Picea abies and Pinus Mugo. In Alnus glutinosa it could only be ascertained on June 11th.

BUCKHOUT (1907) watched the periodicity of the growth in thickness from 1897— 1900 in two old *Larix decidua* MILL. and *Pinus strobus* L. in Pennsylvania. Like Jost he measured at intervals how much the stem had increased in circumference.

The growth in thickness began simultaneously with bud break at the end of

April. In *Larix decidua* it ceased already in July; in *Pinus strobus* not until mid-September. The reason of this great difference he seeks in the fact, that the growth of *Larix decidua* is adapted to Alpine climates, whereas that of *Pinus strobus* is adapted to a milder climate.

The rainfall and temperature of the various years exercised no influence on the time for the beginning of the growth in thickness.

AMILON (1910) found under investigations of 20–22-year-old *Larix sibirica* LEDEBOUR in Bjurfors Kronopark North of Ystad, in Sweden, that cambial activity started earlier in spring in the upper than in the lower part of the stem.

He thinks that the reason of this is that the upper part of the stem is more thin-barked and therefore more quickly gets warmed up than its lower part. In this connection he draws attention to the fact that no thin-barked trees, by nature, grow in Sweden.

BROWN (1912) by cutting sections from the stem has through two years watched the formation of wood in 22-year-old and 100-year-old *Pinus rigida* MILL. in Ithaca in North America.

Contrary to the abovenamed investigators he found that wood formation began in the stem at some distance from the top shoot; not until 19 days later did it reach up into the latter.

The time for the beginning of wood formation in the lower part of the stem was dependent upon the insolation, thickness of the bark, etc.

The extension growth of the roots preceded the growth in thickness.

By applying the same methods BROWN (1915) examined the periodicity of wood formation in *Pinus strobus* L. The trees were of all ages and grew in different parts of North America.

He found that the growth in thickness might be divided into a) growth in thickness without division into cells and b) growth in thickness by division into cells.

a) It started in March and was due to an extension radially of the cambium cells and the youngest sieve tissue cells.

b) It started a few days before bud break at the end of April.

As in *Pinus rigida* MILL. wood formation began in the stem at some distance from the top shoot.

Wood formation continued in branches, stem and roots as long as temperature conditions permitted it.

The formation of summer wood started in the middle of August, and first in the branches.

The formation of sieve tissue continued longer into the autumn than wood formation.

KNUDSON (1913) in 1909 watched the formation of wood in the stem of four 13-year-old *Larix laricina* Koch in a nursery in Ithaca in North America. At intervals he cut out 1 cm deep sections from the stem under each circle of branches from top to root and measured the width of the fresh-formed wood ring. He found, like BROWN, that the cambium cells extended radially before the beginning of the division into cells.

In contrast to BUCKHOUT he found, that wood formation did not begin till a month after bud break.

During the period from May 25th till June 3rd over one third of the new annual ring was formed. By July 6th wood formation was almost completely finished in the whole stem.

New investigations (1911) showed that wood formation in the stem by far preceded wood formation in the branches.

KNUDSON supports his opinion on not named works and arrives at the conclusion, that wood formation can only begin after the young needles are so far developed that they yield a sufficiently large assimilation surplus.

MACDOUGAL (1921 and 1924) constructed a dendograph which in similarity with FRIEDRICH's "Zuwachs-Autograph" may be placed round the stem and which carefully records the changes in its circumference. With a series of such instruments he through several years followed the course of the growth in thickness in many various species of trees in North America.

In Fraxinus excelsior and Pseudotsuga taxifolia the growth in thickness preceded bud break. In most of the other species of trees—amongst others Quercus robur—it began from a few days and up to 10—12 weeks after bud break.

The growth in thickness in the roots often lasted few weeks only, and it started later than in the stem.

The width of the annual ring increased with the duration of the growth period. "Ringed" stems did not grow in thickness under the ringing place.

KORSTIAN (1921) followed with the same dendrograph the growth in thickness from April till June in an Acer negundo L. and a Picea pungens ENGEL in Big Cottonwood Canyon, 25 miles southeast of Salt Lake City, Utah.

From this examination, which covered a short period, he arrived at the conclusion that the growth in thickness in evergreen conifers begins simultaneously with the opening of the buds. In deciduous trees it can on the other hand only begin when the foliage is so far developed, that it produces a sufficiently large assimilation surplus.

PEARSON (1924) also followed the course of the growth in thickness with a dendrograph in two young *Pinus scopulorum* ENGELM. in Arizona.

In one tree the growth in thickness of the stem started in May and ceased on September 10th. In the other tree it began on June 1st and terminated already on August 27th.

ROMELL (1925) in connection with investigations of the periodicity of shoot extension also—through three years—followed the course of the growth in thickness in the stem of *Pinus silvestris*. During the first two years he followed it by making measurements on cores extracted at certain intervals in time. The last year he measured at intervals how much the stem had increased in circumference.

The investigations were carried out in Central Sweden and comprised 20 trees evenly spread over the following four plantations:

a) thinned a) thinned b) non-thinned plantation on a south slope.

d) non-thinned | plantation at a flat area.

The two first years the growth in thickness started a few days later than the shoot extension; the last year not until 18 days later.

There was no conspicuous difference between the time of the beginning of the growth in thickness in the unevenly treated and exposed plantations. On the other hand wood formation proceeded relatively more quickly in early spring in the thinned than in the non-thinned plantations.

In comparison with the shoot extension the period of growth in thickness varied much from year to year. In 1923 it was 27 days shorter than in 1922. ROMELL concludes from this, that the shoot extension and the growth in thickness are caused by widely differing factors.

In contradistinction to Schwarz (1899), LAITAKARI (1922) and MACDOUGAL (1921 and 1924) ROMELL found that the width of the annual ring did not increase with the length of the growth period.

MORIKAWA (1927) found by investigations in Japan that in Pinus densiflora SIEBOLD and ZUCCARINI and P. Thunbergii PARLATORE wood formation began in the two-year-old branches coincident with bud break.

CHALK (1927 and 1930) has in the neighbourhood of Oxford investigated the periodicity of wood formation in Fraxinus excelsior L., F. oxycarpa WILLD. as well as Pseudotsuga taxifolia BRITT. He followed the growth in thickness by means of MacDougal's dendrograph and by measurements on sections.

In Fraxinus excelsior wood formation started three weeks before foliation, and first in the stem. By May 26th the leaves were completely expanded, and about one third of the new annual ring was formed by then.

In *Pseudotsuga taxifolia* the growth in thickness in the stem began about 12 days before bud break.

The winter buds were fully developed by July 21st. By this time  $90^{0}/_{0}$  of the new annual ring had been formed in Fraxinus excelsior, and in Pseudotsuga taxifolia 73  $^{0}/_{0}$ .

In Fraxinus excelsior wood formation ceased at the middle of August; in the Pseudotsuga taxifolia about the middle of September.

COSTER (1927) has through four years carried out comprehensive investigations concerning the periodicity of wood formation in a large number of species of trees within the dry monsoon area in East Java (Toeban) and the more rainy West Java (Tjibodas and Buitenzorg).

In the periodically deciduous species of trees wood formation began simultaneously with foliation. That also applied to ring porous trees (among others Quercus robur) introduced from Europe.

Wood formation was most active as long as the foliage was young. It ceased at leaf fall.

The lignification of the newly formed wood elements continued into the leafless period.

In tree species where the growth of the branches was not synchronous, wood formation in the branches closely followed the growth rhythm of the branches themselves. In these trees there were therefore at the same time branches with a beginning cambial activity, branches that were in the midst of the period of wood formation, and branches in which the cambium was at rest. The ring porous *Castanea sativa* MILL. introduced from South Europe belonged to these trees.

In the evergreen trees (naturally occurring *Quercus* species, *Castanea argenta* BL. and others) wood formation took place all the year round, if there was sufficient precipitation. If longer periods of drought occurred (East Java) wood formation generally ceased during the latter.

LODEWICK (1925 and 1928) in North America followed the periodicity of woodand sieve-tissue formation in, among others *Fraxinus americana* L., *Quercus borealis* MICH., *Betula lutea* MICH., *Acer saccharum* MARCH., *Liriodendron tulipifera* L. and *Thuja occidentalis* L. The investigations were carried out partly by application of MacDougal's dendrograph and partly by measurements on sections.

In the ring porous trees wood formation started in the stem just before or simultaneously with bud break. In the diffuse porous it only began two to three weeks after bud break, when the leaves were from a quarter to completely expanded.

In *Fraxinus excelsior* in open stands wood formation began first in the stem just under the crown. In other cases it began at the surface of the ground and spread from there up through the stem. In the thin roots of *Fraxinus excelsior* it began a week later than in the stem.

Sieve tissue formation started simultaneously with wood formation.

In the ring porous trees summer wood formation began as soon as the foliage was fully developed.

A few years later LODEWICK (1930) found by investigations of *Pinus palustris* MILL. in West Florida that the width of the annual ring here increases with the rate of rainfall during the summer months.

SWARBRICK (1927 a) has examined cambial activity in fruit trees. He found, like KNUDSON and BROWN, that about a fortnight before the beginning of division into cells the cambial cells extended radially. At the same time the cambium was "... translucent, and it was much more turgid than during the winter" (p. 151).

Wood formation began in the branches and spread from here in basipetal direction.

In the course of summer the cambium cells increased somewhat in size.

In the same year SWARBRICK (1927b) published the result of investigations on the effect of ringing in the stems of fruit trees.

Wood formation began first in the stem above the ring.

Between the rings of double-ringed stems no wood formation took place, even though there still were branches in this place. The cambium in stead entered into a vaecuolate condition. SWARBRICK concludes from this that the connection between

wood- and sieve-tissue is of great importance for the coordinated and continuous physiological activity in the stem.

REES (1929) in 1926 and 1927 examined the periodicity of wood formation in nine 150—300-year-old *Picea rubra* LINK in different growth localities in the neighbourhood of Wanakena in the State of New York. He was content to determine the growth condition on sections taken at certain intervals from branches, stem, and roots.

Wood formation started c. a fortnight before bud break. In well drained grounds it began at the end of May; in wet and cold soil on the other hand not until the middle of June.

COCKERHAM (1930) at Leeds in England at intervals of four to five weeks in the course of a year felled in all thirty sycamores and each time carefully investigated the cambial activity from top to root.

The cambium began to swell at the end of March. Immediately afterwards the formation of sieve tubes started.

Wood formation began simultaneously with bud break at the end of April.

The differentiation of the sieve tubes was most active just before bud break and after the termination of wood formation in autumn.

PRIESTLEY (1930) in a way reviews the hitherto obtained results concerning the periodicity of wood formation.

PRIESTLEY, SCOTT and MALINS (1933) at Leeds in England investigated the time for the beginning of cambial activity in thirty six hardwood- and conifer-species.

For the investigations a special method was used, the so-called "strip" method. The bark is loosened from the stem, and the new-formed wood is scraped off with a knife. In this way we get long strips of it which float out in water and are excellent objects for microscopic study. The process has been described by DETLEV MÜLLER (1943).

Of conifers only young trees were examined at a newly planted area. In these young vigorous trees cambial activity started in the stem a few days after it had begun at bud base. In the *Pinus-*, *Picea-* and *Abies-*species it began before but break. In *Larix decidua* it only began after the needles on the dwarf shoots were fully developed.

The hardwoods are divided into the following three groups:

1) Fraxinus excelsior, Quercus robur group. To this also Aesculus hippocastanum and Ulmus glabra belong, so that all "English-grown timber" trees with ring porous wood belong to this group.

In these trees wood formation started on the young branches before bud break and rapidly spread in basipetal direction, so that it reached stem base before the buds were well open.

2) Alnus glutinosa, Fagus silvatica group. Here wood formation started on the one-year-old branches after bud break only. When shoot extension began wood formation quickly increased, and it soon reached down to stem base.

3) A large and varied group comprising i. a. *Rosaceae, Acer, Salix, and Populus.* Cambial activity began in the latter "at various stages relative to the opening of the buds" (p. 372), and comparatively long time passed before it reached stem base. Investigators seek the reason why wood formation in the ring porous trees begins before, and in the diffuse porous not till after bud break, in the difference between the annual ring formation of the two groups.

WIGHT (1933) five miles from Leeds in England each month through a period of a year—except in the summer months—felled a 20-year-old *Pinus silvestris*. From each tree he took sections from top to root and examined wood formation and starch content. Like many of the abovementioned workers he found that wood formation began at bud base and from there spread in basipetal direction. In the stem it began c about bud break time.

IWANOV (1934) in Russia through a period of three years followed the growth in thickness in *Picea abies* and *Pinus silvestris*.

He found that as a consequence of lower temperature wood formation was not so lively in the lower, shaded parts of the stem as in the upper, sunny ones.

The summer wood percentage was greatest in the lower part of the stems.

He draws the conclusion from the investigations that as a consequence of the effect of the shade on the stems of the dominant trees the undergrowth in the forests reduce the production of stem wood.

KIENHOLZ (1934) in connection with measurements of the growth of the top shoot and the needles in a series of North American species of trees also followed the course of growth in thickness in two *Pinus resinosa* Aiton by means of MacDougal's dendrograph.

The growth in thickness began between May fifth and May twelfth and terminated in October.

There was a certain correlation between the growth in the various organs. The extension growth of the roots and the top shoot and the most active growth in thickness thus took place simultaneously at the beginning of July.

ELLIOTT (1935) has examined the time of the sieve-tube formation in Acer pseudoplatanus.

He found that as long as wood is formed, no sieve tubes are formed. When wood formation ceases in the autumn, sieve tube formation begins and continues until the fall of the leaves.

The last formed sieve tissue cells winter in incomplete condition. Before the cambium begins to divide in the spring, these sieve tissue cells grow and form a special type of sieve tissue, which he calls the spring type of sieve tubes.

SIGMOND (1935) has through a period of three years investigated when cambial activity at breast height ceases in *Picea abies, Abies alba, and Pinus silvestris* in the heights around the Lunzer Lake in Niederösterreich. In all the trees the division of the cambium ceased at the beginning of September. The walls of the summer wood cells on the other hand continued to grow in thickness into late October.

BROWN (1935) examined on sections the cambial activity in *Populus tremuloides* MICHW. and *P. balsamifera* L. at Alberta in Canada.

Wood formation began at bud base in the second week of May; ten to twenty days later it started in the roots. It took shortest time in the youngest trees.

In root shoots wood formation began simultaneously with that in the branches of the mother tree. From the root shoots wood formation spread to the older roots.

GÄUMANN (1935, pp. 227–229) has on sections followed the course of wood formation in *Fagus silvatica*. Wood formation began in the middle of May and ceased in the middle of September.

ABELL (see DETLEV MÜLLER (1943, p. 163)) found that cambial activity in *Faqus silvatica* in Geel Forest in Denmark began c. eight days after foliation.

# III. Technique, Locality and Climate.

# Technique.

The investigations are carried out on sections taken in the course of 1944 and 1945 from branches, stem, and roots. The sections were as a rule cut with a sharp knife. Some times also cores were taken with an increment borer.

Of the sections or the cores there was by means of a razor blade made a micron section which after being stained with haematoxylin (after DelaFIELD) was examined under the microscope while still wet<sup>1</sup>.

All measurements on the sections were made with a Zeiss Zeichnenapparat. The sections were projected down on the table in 50 to 200 times magnifications. Then the measurements were taken with compasses and read on a transversal plotting scale.

A more detailed description of the technique used will be found in the introductions to the separate parts of the investigations.

### Locality.

The investigations concerning the time of the beginning of wood formation have chiefly been carried out in Geel Forest, Rude Forest and Store Dyrehave at Hillerød as well as in Bogø Forest.

The investigations concerning the course of wood formation within the growth period have all been carried out in Bogø.

### Climate.

Climatic conditions in the various months of 1944 and 1945 for Bogø and Geel Forest (Lyngby) appear from Table I.

With exception of May and June 1944 the vegetation period in both years was considerably warmer than normal. Particularly August 1944 was extremely hot.

In Bogø July and August 1944 were very poor in rain.

 $^{1}$  As the young unlignified wood elements shrink on drying it is of the greatest importance that all observations and measurements are carried out before the sections become dry.

# TABLE I.

The Monthly Mean Temperature	and Rainfall	in 1944 and	1945 and	Averagely for	•
the Years from 1886-1925 Me	easured at Bogo	and Lyngby	Meteorolo	ogic Station.	

	Mean Temperature C°							Rainfall mm.					
Month	Bogø			Lyngby			Bogø			Lyngby			
	1886 - 1925	1944	1945	1886 - 1925	1944	1945	1886 - 1925	1944	1945	1886– 1925	1944	1945	
January	0.1	3.2	-0.9	-0.5	3.0	-1.5	40	45	57	39	66	58	
February	0.0	1.4	2.3	-0.7	0.9	1.7	33	14	60	30	20	59	
March	2.0	1.5	5.2	1.3	1.3	4.9	38	30	18	37	35	13	
April	5.8	6.2	7.7	5.5	5.9	7.5	36	37	45	42	21	40	
May	10.8	9.9	11.6	10.9	9.9	11.2	41	73	18	39	53	36	
June	14.5	13.6	15.3	14.5	13.9	14.8	47	67	80	52	50	111	
July	16.4	17.4	18.0	16.3	17.9	17.4	71	34	45	63	55	74	
August	15.9	19.1	17.3	15.4	19.0	17.1	67	19	58	82	33	112	
September	13.0	13.3	13.9	12.3	12.9	13.4	47	59	16	53	116	59	
October	8.7	9.7	10.4	7.9	9.4	9.9	57	54	46	56	41	63	
November	4.4	4.9		3.6	4.4		45	92		47	91		
December	1.7	1.5		1.0	1.8		50	41		53	39		
The year	7.8	8.5		7.3	8.4		573	565		592	620		

# IV. The Cambium during the Rest Period.

The appearance of the cambium during the rest period has been examined on sections taken in the course of winter from new-felled trees.

During the rest period the secondary cambium is usually four to eight cells wide. The number is greatest in those parts of the branches, that grow most in thickness, smallest in older branches and roots with slight growth in thickness. It is on the whole wider in conifers than in hardwoods.

After BROWN (1915) the cambium in *Pinus strobus* L. is two to four cells wide in the two-year-old branches, and seven to ten cells wide in the stem. After HANSON and BRENKE (1926) it is in *Fraxinus campestris* BRITT. four to six, and in *Acer Saccharinum* L. three to four cells wide. SWARBRICK (1927a) states that in the branches of fruit trees it is seven cells wide.

The cambium cells consist of an initial cell and young not yet differentiated protoplasm-filled wood- and sieve-tissue cells formed at the end of the preceding growth period, cf. Cockerham (1930, Fig. 1) and ELLIOT (1935).

The young wood- and sieve-tissue cells are distributed round the initial cell in the following way:

Secondary bark: two to five undifferentiated sieve tissue cells. the initial cell. The cambium { one to three undifferentiated wood cells.

# Secondary wood:

During the resting stage the cell walls of the cambium generally stand out sharply and distinctly under the microscope. The form of the cell is most often rectangular, see Fig. 1.

# V. The Preliminary Change of the Cambium.

When the temperature begins to rise in spring and the buds begin to swell the appearance of the cambium alters as described by SWARBRICK (1927a).

The cell walls become semi-transparent and appear more slurred under the microscope than in the resting period (comp. Figs. 1 and 2). The protoplasm simultaneously passes from a gel-like into a sol-like condition.

At the same time the radial cell walls of the cambium begin to extend, and the cambium as a whole increases in width: comp. KNUDSON (1913), BROWN (1915),



Fig. 1. The cambium of a Larix decidua during the resting period. Transverse section taken at breast height in 15-year-old Larix decidua at the beginning of February, 1945.

- $s_1$  Young, undifferentiated sieve tissue cells formed at the end of preceding growth period.
- The initial cell. i
- $w_1$  Undifferentiated wood cells formed at the end of preceding growth period.
- w<sub>2</sub> Summer wood from preceding year. Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no.3.



Fig. 2. The cambium of the Larix decidua at the preliminary change. Transverse section taken at the middle of April 1945 at breast height of the same Larix decidua as the section in Fig. 1.

- s2 Spring sieve tissue.
- The initial cell.
- $w_1$  Young wood cells under differentiation (see  $w_1$ , Fig. 1).
- w2 Summer wood from preceding year.

SWARBRICK (1927 a), REES (1929), COCKERHAM (1930), PRIESTLEY, SCOTT and MALINS (1933) and WIGHT (1933). Often the width of the cambium is almost doubled before the beginning of the division into cells<sup>1</sup>.

The sieve tissue cells  $(s_1, \text{ Fig. 1})$  are differentiated in the course of short time into spring sieve tissue  $(s_2, \text{ Fig. 2})$  as described by ELLIOTT (1935).

In broad leaved trees a few of the young wood cells  $(w_1, \text{ Figs. 1 and 2})$  increase much more in size than the others and press the neighbouring cells strongly together



(340 ×).

Fig. 3. Transverse section through the cambium in an older *Ulmus glabra* a few days after the beginning of cell division. Two large vessels are almost completely differentiated. The cambium appears as a slurred belt winding round the vessels. In the wedges to the right and left of the vessels fully differentiated parenchyma cells are seen.

s<sub>3</sub> Collapsed sieve tissue.

- s2 Spring sieve tissue.
- c Cambium at division stage.

w2 Last year's summer wood.



Fig. 4. Transverse section in same Ulmus glabra as in Fig. 3. The section was taken c. one week after the beginning of cell division. To the left is seen a fully formed and lignified<sup>2</sup> vessel. To the right a vessel under differentiation.

s2 Spring sieve tissue.

c Cambium at division stage.

w2 Last year's summer wood.

and the cambium outwards (see Figs. 3 and 4). These particularly quick growing cells develop into the first spring vessels, which do not, however, succeed in becoming completely differentiated before the beginning of cell division.

This change in the cambium in the spring, which may be called the preliminary change, begins first in the one-year-old branches, whereafter it spreads in basipetal direction. Same observation is made by WIGHT (1933) in *Pinus silvestris* L.

After my own observations the lignification of the cell walls of the vessels proceeds considerably quicker in the ring porous than in the diffuse porous trees.

In Figs. 5 and 6 is stated the approximate time of the beginning of the preliminary change in the springs of 1944 and 1945.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> BROWN (1915) found that the cambium in *Pinus strobus* L. was 70  $^{0}/_{0}$  wider, and REES (1929) that in *Picea rubra* LINK it was over 100  $^{0}/_{0}$  wider.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> SWARBRICK (1927a, p. 151) writes about the lignification of the cell walls of the vessels in fruit trees: "After becoming empty the lignification of the vessel walls did not take place for at least ten days".

Fig. 5. The approximate time of the transition of the cambium from the resting stage to the preliminary change in the spring of 1944:

□ in 1-year-old top branches.

■ at 1.3 m height in the stem.

The dates apply to the older trees in close stands.

Entered the maximum and minimum temperatures measured at the Meteorological Station at Lyngby.



Pseudotsuga taxifolia and Picea sitchensis: In 1945 the preliminary change in the branch cambium might already be observed in the middle of March. The mean temperature was at this time about  $4^{\circ}-5^{\circ}$  C. The maximum temperature had not exceeded  $12^{\circ}$  C.

Pinus silvestris, Larix decidua, Picea abies, Betula pendula, Alnus glutinosa, Corylus avellana, Carpinus betulus, Ulmus glabra, Tilia cordata, Aesculus hippocastanum, Acer pseudoplatanus, Prunus avium, and Sorbus aucuparia: In these species the preliminary change could not be observed in the branch cambium till the end of March (1945) or the beginning of April (1944) after some warm spring days with a maximum temperature above 12° C.

Fagus silvatica, Quercus robur, and Fraxinus excelsior: In these species the pre-



Fig. 6. The approximate time of the transition of the cambium from the resting stage to the preliminary change in the spring 1945:

□ in 1-year-old top branches.

■ at 1.3 m height in the stem.

The dates apply to the older trees in close stands.

Entered the maximum and minimum temperatures measured at the Meteorological Station at Lyngby.

liminary change in the branch cambium only occurred towards the end of April. The time seems to be more autonomously determined than in other species of trees.

In young trees in sheltered and warm localities the change in the cambium began some days earlier than shown in Figs. 5 and 6.

The condition of the soil was apparently of subordinate importance.

The change in the cambium spread more quickly from the young branches and down to stem base in the hardwoods than in the conifers. And it took shorter time in hardwoods in the ring porous than in the diffuse porous trees (see Figs. 5 and 6).

When the cambium is at the stage of change it is sensitive towards frost. On March 20th 1945 I laid a packing with a cold mixture round vigorous 3-year-old branches of a young *Pseudotsuga taxifolia* and a *Picea sitchensis*. In both branches the change in the cambium was already quite distinct. The packing was placed by

means of the same process as I had previously used in a similar experiment, see BORNE-BUSCH and LADEFOGED (1940). The temperature reached down to  $-8^{\circ}$  and  $-10^{\circ}$  C.

In July both branches were cut off. In the cold-affected places frost ring formations appeared similar to those found by me in the same species of wood after the spring frost in 1938, see LADEFOGED (1938).

# VI. The Time of the Inception of Cell Division.

The transition between the preliminary change of the cambium and the stage of division occurs gradually. It has therefore only been possible to determine the time of the inception of cell division (the wood formation) with an exactitude of about 3 to 5 days.

# Methods, Material, and Elaboration.

For each species of tree is determined:

a) The date of the inception of cell division in the branches and the other part of the stem in relation to bud break.

The determinations have been made by a comparison of bud development and cambial activity in young and older new-felled trees. The summer felling in 1945 was of great value for the said investigations.

b) The date of the inception of cell division at breast height and in the roots in relation to bud break.

These determinations are made by following the development of buds and cambial activity at breast height and in the roots of the following trees:

	Nur	nber	Age		Nur	nber	Age
	1944	1945	Years		1944	1945	Years
a) Trees over 10 Years:				Aesculus hippocastanum.	3	2	c. 100
Conifers:				Acer pseudoplatanus	6	6	30-100
Pinus silvestris	-	5	25-30	Prunus avium	6		10-35
Larix decidua	6	7	25-100	Sorbus aucuparia	7	6	10-25
Picea abies	8	8	25-35	Fraxinus excelsior	7	7	35-45
Picea sitchensis	-	6	18-25				
Abies alba	-	5	35-40	b) Trees under 10 Years:			
Pseudotsuga taxifolia	5	8	14-20	Conifers:			
Hardwoods:				Picea abies	5	-	7
Betula pendula	6	6	35-60	Hardwoods:			
Alnus glutinosa	8	8	15-35	Betula pendula	6	6	2-8
Corylus avellana	6	8	c. 10	Alnus glutinosa	8	8	3-8
Carpinus betulus	-	5	c. 30	Fagus silvatica	6	5	7-9
Fagus silvatica	6	8	35-100	Quercus robur	6	6	78
Quercus robur	8	8	25-40	Ulmus glabra	4	6	2-7
Ulmus glabra	9	6	15-60	Acer pseudoplatanus	6	6	2—9
Tilia cordata	6	4	20-60	Fraxinus excelsior	6	5	2-7

4

Species of Tree	Number	of Trees	Age	Bud	Break
	1944	1945		1944	1945
Hardwoods					
Ring porous:					
Fraxinus excelsior	7	7	35-45	$\frac{23}{5} + 1.3$	$\frac{19}{5} + 2.3$
Quercus robur	8	8	25-40	$\frac{19}{5} + 2.5$	$\frac{15}{5} + 2.4$
Ulmus glabra with flowers	4	3	20-60	$^{7/_{5}} \pm 3.1$	$\frac{13}{4} \pm 0.3$
— without flowers	5	3	15 - 25	$^{29/_4} \pm 2.0$	$^{9/_{4}}\pm 1.1$
Diffuse porous:					
Carpinus betulus		5	c. 30	_	$^{15}/_{4} \pm 1.9$
Tilia cordata	6	4	20-60	$^{15}/_{5} \pm 1.3$	$\frac{20}{4} \pm 1.9$
Sorbus aucuparia	7	6	10-25	$^{3}/_{5} \pm 2.7$	$\frac{16}{4} \pm 1.7$
Prunus avium	6	-	10-35	$^{4/_{5}}\pm 1.9$	_
Fagus silvatica	6	8	35-100	$^{9/_{5}} \pm 1.5$	$\frac{5}{5} \pm 1.7$
Aesculus hippocastanum	3	2	c. 100	$\frac{5}{5} \pm 2.1$	<sup>12</sup> / <sub>4</sub> ±
Acer pseudoplatanus	6	6	30-100	$^{4/_{5}}\pm2.8$	$^{21}/_{4} \pm 3.7$
Corylus avellana	6	8	c. 10	$\frac{29}{4} \pm 0.9$	$\frac{8}{4} + 1.1$
Betula pendula	6	6	25-60	$\frac{26}{4} \pm 3.1$	$^{9/4} \pm 1.5$
Alnus glutinosa	8	8	15—35	$^{7}/_{5} \pm 1.9$	$^{7/_{4}} \pm 0.3$
Conifers					
Picea abies	8	8	25 - 35	$\frac{25}{5} \pm 1.7$	$^{11}/_5 \pm 3.2$
Pseudotsuga taxifolia	5	8	14-20	$^{2}/_{5} \pm 2.7$	$\frac{4}{5} \pm 1.8$
Picea sitchensis		6	18-25		$^{3/_{5}}\pm2.6$
Abies alba		5	35-40		$\frac{27}{4} \pm 2.7$
Pinus silvestris	-	5	25-30		$^{30}/_{4} \pm 1.3$
Larix decidua	6	7	25-100	27/4 ± 2.2	$^{2}/_{4} \pm 1.9$

TABLE II. Number of Days between the Inception of Cell Division at Breast Height and Bud

The results appear from Tables II and III.

Different trees were used each year.

The forest trees grew in close stands. The *Tilia cordata* were open-grown. The *Corylus avellana*, *Sorbus aucuparia* and most of the *Prunus avium* grew as undergrowth under older hardwoods and conifers. The young trees stod in open culture areas or as natural reproduction under older hardwoods.

The trees were all growing well.

The bud break was determined by examinations from day to day.

The sections from the stem were taken at 2 to 4, from the roots at 8 to 10 days intervals.

The examinations were supplemented with a number of sections taken from newly felled trees.

N	-	2
11	L	0

Cell Be	Division at 1.3 egan the Follow	m. Height in th ving Number of	e Stem. Days	Extension	Growth in	Cell Division in the		
Before B	ud Break	After Bu	id Break	the roo	to Degan	10003	Degan	
1944	1945	1944	1945	1944	1945	1944	1945	
$8\pm0.9$	$9\pm0.9$			29/5	20/5	12/6	22/5	
$5\pm0.7$	$8 \pm 1.0$			16/5	21/4	24/6	8/6	
$4 \pm 1.2$	$3 \pm 0.7$			15/5	28/4	27/6	10/6	
		$1 \pm 0.4$	$1 \pm 0.8$					
			7 + 2.1		3/_		7/2	
		8 + 1.6	4 + 0.1	25/5	27/4	25/e	11/e	
		10 + 1.0	13 + 4.0	25/5	10/5	25/4	15/6	
		15 + 3.7		25/5		25/a		
		13 + 3.1	15 + 1.8	14/5	14/4	26/6	13/6	
		15 + 2.1	30	25/5	5/5	18/6	29/5	
		18 + 3.4	29 + 3.2	17/5	28/4	25/6	12/6	
		$20 \pm 1.6$	$33 \pm 2.4$	28/5	25/5	25/6	11/6	
		$24 \pm 2.2$	$39 \pm 2.3$	14/5	14/5	25/6	27/5	
		$27 \pm 2.6$	$43 \pm 1.8$	14/5	<sup>3</sup> / <sub>5</sub>	25/6	16/6	
$4 \pm 0.7$	$6 \pm 1.7$			5 /_	20/_	3/_	21/_	
$2 \pm 0.2$	$6 \pm 0.7$			11/_	30/	/6 25/_	22/	
0.1	$5 \pm 3.1$			/5	24/	/5	24/_	
	0 <u>1</u> 0.1		2 + 3.3		27/		26/_	
			$3 \pm 1.1$		28/		14/	
		26 + 2.6	$46 \pm 3.3$	18/	8/	3/_	25/_	

Break in 1944 and 1945 in Trees over 10 Years, and of the Inception of Growth in the Roots.

# The successive Order of the Inception of Cell Division.

Division of cells begins at bud base. From here it spreads in basipetal direction through the branches, the stem, and finally stretches down into the roots; cf. TH. HARTIG (1857), GULBE (1888a and b), STRASBURGER (1891), JOST (1892), SWARBRICK (1927a), COCKERHAM (1930), PRIESTLEY, SCOTT, and MALINS (1933), WIGHT (1933) and BROWN (1935).

RUSSOW (1884), KNUDSON (1913), BROWN (1912 and 1915) and CHALK (1927) found in contradistinction to this that division of cells begins first in the stem. TH. HARTIG (1857), LODEWICK (1925, 1928 and 1930) found that in some cases it may begin at stem base.

PRIESTLEY (1930) has gone through the lastmentioned results critically. His view is that they rest on insufficient investigations.

	Number of Trees			Bud	Break	The Division at Stem Base Began on the Following Number of Days				
Species			Age			Before Bud Break		After Bud Break		
	1944	1945		1944	1945	1944	1945	1944	1945	
Hardwoods										
Ring porous:										
Quercus robur	6	6	7-8	$^{20}/_5 \pm 1.7$	15/5 ± 2.4	$5\pm0.9$	$8\pm1.0$			
Fraxinus excelsior	6	5	2-7	$18/_5 \pm 0.9$	$^{15}/_{5} \pm 2.1$	• 4 ± 0.2	$1\pm0.7$			
Ulmus glabra	4	6	2-7	26/4 ± 1.3	10/4 ± 1.9	at bud	$3\pm0.9$			
						break				
Diffuse porous:										
Fagus silvatica	6	5	7-9	$8/_{5} \pm 0.1$	<sup>8</sup> / <sub>5</sub> ± 2.0			$18\pm2.2$	$9\pm1.8$	
Acer pseudoplatanus	6	6	2-9	<sup>24</sup> / <sub>4</sub> ± 1.9	13/4 ± 4.9			$12\pm5.5$	$22\pm3,3$	
Betula pendula	6	6	2-8	<sup>22</sup> / <sub>4</sub> ± 1.9	<sup>8</sup> / <sub>4</sub> ± 1.1			$12\pm1.0$	$32\pm4.4$	
Alnus glutinosa	8	8	38	$^{7/_{5}} \pm 1.9$	$^{7}/_{4} \pm 0.3$			$13 \pm 1.9$	$17 \pm 2.1$	
Conifers										
Picea abies	5	-	7	$1^{1/6} \pm 1.7$	-	$4 \pm 0.7$				

TABLE III. Number of Days between the Inception of Cell Division at Bases of Stem and Bud Break in 1944 and 1945 in Trees under 10 Years.

# The Time of the Inception of Cell Division in Relation to Bud Break. 1. At Bud Base.

The division of cells at bud base begins some days before or simultaneously with bud break except in *Larix decidua* (see Figs. 7, 8, 9 and 10).

Among the tree species there are the following general differences:

### a) Hardwoods.

 $\alpha$ ) The diffuse porous

In the diffuse porous the time of the inception of cell division in relation to bud break depends on how much the buds extend before bursting.

In Betula pendula, Alnus glutinosa, Corylus avellana, Fagus silvatica and Tilia cordata where bud extension as a rule is comparatively slight the division of cells begins simultaneously with or at the earliest two days before bud break.

In Sorbus aucuparia, Acer pseudoplatanus, Aesculus hippocastanum and Prunus avium, where the shoot extension is often fairly considerable, cell division begins up to one week before bud break.

 $\beta$ ) The ring porous

In Quercus robur, Fraxinus excelsior and flower-bearing Ulmus glabra cell division begins 1 to 9 days before bud break. The same applies to cases where the bud extension is very slight only (Fraxinus excelsior).





□ At bud base.

- At 1.3 m height in the stem.
- In the roots at ten cms depth and c. 1.5 m from stem base.
- o Time of bud break.

Rainfall and maximum and minimum temperatures recorded as measured at the Meteorological Station at Lyngby.



Fig. 8. Mean time of inception of cell division (wood formation) in 1945 in hardwoods over ten years:

- □ At bud base.
  At 1.3 m height in stem.
- In roots at 10 cms depth and 1.5 m from stem base.
- o Time of bud break.

Rainfall and maximum and minimum temperatures recorded as measured at the Meteorological Station at Lyngby.

In Ulmus glabra without flowers cell division on the other hand in many cases only begins simultaneously with bud break<sup>1</sup>, cp. Russow (1884).

# b) Conifers.

In Pinus silvestris, Picea abies, Picea sitchensis, Abies alba and Pseudotsuga taxifolia cell division generally begins 5 to 15 days before bud break.



Fig. 9. Mean time of the inception of cell division (wood formation) in 1944 in conifers over ten years:

- □ At bud base.
- At 1.3 m height in the stem.
- In the roots at 10 cms depth and 1.5 m from stem base.
- o Time of bud break.

Rainfall and maximum and minimum temperatures recorded as measured at the Meteorological Station at Lyngby.

In *Larix decidua* where little shoot extension takes place only in connection with bud break of the dwarf shoots, cell division does not begin till shortly before, or simultaneously with, the bursting of the long shoots.

<sup>1</sup> CHALK (1927) found that in *Fraxinus excelsior* cambial activity begins one week before the flower buds burst. COSTER noticed the same thing in *Prunus puddum* ROXB, and *Magnolia obovala* THUNB, which also flower before foliation.

After GILL (1933) there is, however, no beginning cambial activity in connection with the growth and development of catkins.

Literature only gives one piece of information of the time of the inception of cell division at bud base in relation to bud break. After BROWN (1935) it here begins after bud break only in *Populus tremuloides* Michw. and *P. balsamifera* L.



Fig. 10. Mean time for the inception of cell division (wood formation) in 1945 in conifers over ten years:

- □ At bud base.
- At 1.3 m height in the stem.
- In the roots at 10 cms depth and 1.5 m from stem base.
- o Time of bud break.

Rainfall and maximum and minimum temperatures recorded as measured at the Meteorological Station at Lyngby.

There is on the other hand more information about the time of its inception in the young branches.

After R. HARTIG (1891) it here begins before or simultaneously with bud break in *Pinus* silvestris, *Picea abies*, and *Fagus silvatica*. ANTEVS (1917) after own investigations states that cambial activity in the young branches only begins after the foliage more or less has developed. NYDAM (see COSTER, 1927, pp. 77—78) found new-formed vessels in young *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Quercus robur*-branches before the buds had begun to swell. COCKERHAM (1930) thinks that cambial activity begins in the young branches in *Acer pseudoplatanus* about the time

of bud break. PRIESTLEY, SCOTT and MALINS (1933) found, as mentioned above (pp. 371— 372), that wood formation in ring porous species began before bud break; in the diffuse porous on the other hand "at various stages relative to the opening of the buds". In *Pinus*, *Picea*, and *Abies* wood formation begins "within a short time of any signs of movement in the uppermost buds". In the branches of *Larix decidua* it only begins after the needles of the dwarf shoots are fully developed.

In the diffuse porous species cell division most often begins in the branches in the lower parts of the crown. The reason of this is probably that the shaded buds burst before the sunny ones<sup>1</sup>.

In 45-year-old Acer pseudoplatanus in 1945 up to 11 days and in 120-year-old Fagus silvatica up to 9 days elapsed between bud break in the lower and upper parts of the crown.

In the ring porous trees and in conifers the buds almost burst simultaneously all over the crown, and in conformity with this cell division begins practically simultaneously in all branches.

# 2. At Breast Height (1.3 m.) in the Stem.

Cell division takes place at a quicker rate in basipetal direction in the ring porous than in the diffuse porous trees and conifers (comp. Figs. 7, 8, 9 and 10).

In the ring porous and in evergreen conifers cell division begins in the lower part of the stem a few days before or at the latest simultaneously with bud break. In the diffuse porous and in *Larix decidua* it does not on the other hand begin till after the foliage (the needles of the shoots in *Larix decidua*) are partly or completely expanded (see Tables II and III).

This is conformity with most statements found in literature. At variance with this MACDOUGAL (1921 and 1924) found that in *Quercus robur* the growth in thickness in the stem began after bud break only.

HUBER (1935) connects the generally late foliation in the ring porous species with the fact that they must have formed some fresh spring wood before foliation, because the rising of the sap (in contradistinction to the diffuse porous species) mainly takes place in the new spring vessels (mentioned by DETLEV MÜLLER 1943, p. 163 and CARL MAR: Møller (1945), pp. 281 and 282).

The relation between bud break and the inception of cell division in the stem varies on the whole somewhat with  $\alpha$ ) age,  $\beta$ ) exposure to light and  $\gamma$ ) the size of the crown.

<sup>1</sup> ENGLER (1913) thinks that the reason of this is that the sunny buds have greater difficulty in bursting than the shaded ones on account of more and thicker raments.

MÜNCH (1936) after experimental investigations arrives at the result, that ENGLER's explanation must be considered the most probable one.

HUBER (1931) gives quite a different explanation. According to him the sunny buds always possess a larger "Treibwilligkeit" than the shaded ones. When the latter nevertheless are the first to burst it is due to the fact that—as a consequence of their being placed within the crown—they may sooner benefit by the rising water flow than the sunny buds.

#### a) Age.

In the diffuse porous species a shorter time elapses between bud break and the inception of cell division at stem base in the young (low) trees than in the older (high) ones (comp. Tables II and III).

The difference is undoubtedly due to the fact, that the distance between crown and stem base is shorter in the young than in the older trees.

# $\beta$ ) Exposure to Light.

In sun exposed c. 30-year-old *Picea abies, Pseudotsuga taxifolia* and *Pinus sil-vestris*-stems cell division began in the lower parts of the stems in 1945 up to two weeks before bud break and, approximately estimated, one week earlier than in shaded stems within close-grown stands.

The reason must be sought in the fact that the sun-exposed stems are more quickly warmed up in spring than the shaded ones, comp. R. HARTIG (1891), AMILON (1910) and IWANOV (1934).

In conformity with MER (1892), BROWN (1912), CHALK (1927), and LODEWICK (1928) I have not observed that cell division begins earlier in the sun-exposed side of the stem than in their shaded side as stated by WALTER (1898) and SCHUITMAKER (see COSTER, 1927, pp. 79 and 80).

## $\gamma$ ) The Size of the Crown:

In the diffuse porous species a shorter time elapses between the inception of cell division at bud- and stem-base when the trees have large crowns than when they have small ones (see Table IV). In trees with very small crowns, poor in leaf, (whips) wood formation may completely fail to appear in the lower part of the trunk, comp. R. HARTIG (1869), O. G. PETERSEN (1904, p. 180), RUBNER (1910, pp. 246–250) and PRIESTLEY (1930, p. 335).

The explanation must be sought in difference in stuff production, possibly also in difference in growth hormone production (see pp. 34 to 36).

#### TABLE IV.

The Number of Days by which Cell Division at Breast Height Started after Bud Break in 1944 and 1945 in *Fagus silvatica*, *Betula pendula* and *Acer pseudoplatanus* With Large and Medium Sized Crowns Respectively. The Figures were Arrived at by Dividing the Trees in Table II after Crown Breadth.

	Trees with:								
Species	Large	Crowns	Medium Sized Crowns						
	1944	1945	1944	1945					
Fagus silvatica Acer pseudoplatanus Betula pendula	$5 \pm 0.7$ 11 $\pm 1.5$ 21 $\pm 3.0$	$13 \pm 2.6 \ 35 \pm 0.7 \ 23 \pm 2.0$	$18 \pm 2.2 \\ 25 \pm 1.8 \\ 27 \pm 2.7$	$19 \pm 0.3 \\ 41 \pm 3.0 \\ 35 \pm 3.7$					

30



Fig. 11. The difference in wood formation per June 1, 1945 in a one-year-old, vigorous top branch (a) and at 1.3 m height in the stem (b) in

- I: A 35-year-old Prunus avium. II: A 35-year-old Alnus glutinosa. III: A 120-year-old Fagus silvatica.

b = bark, s = sieve tissue, c = cambium,  $w_1 = new$ -formed wood and  $w_2 = summer wood$ , from last year.

31

As a consequence of the relatively long period that elapses between the beginning of cell division at bud- and stem-base in the diffuse porous trees and the conifers a relatively great part of the annual ring has already formed in the young branches in the said species at the time, when wood formation is to begin in the lower part of the stem (see Fig. 11).

In the ring porous trees there is on the contrary little difference between the wood formation in the young branches and in the lower part of the stem as long as the differentiation of the large spring vessels is taking place.

# 3. In the Roots.

Cell division in the roots only begins when the ground temperature has reached  $10^{\circ}$  to  $13^{\circ}$  C.

On May 15th, 1945 cell division had started in branches and stem in young *Fraxinus* excelsior and *Acer pseudoplatanus* that stood in the shade under older *Fagus silvatica*, *Fraxinus* excelsior and *Acer pseudoplatanus* in Geel forest. In the roots the cambium was on the other hand still in the resting period.

On the same day I placed a maximum and a minimum thermometer (model "Six") at 5 cms depth in the ground among the young trees. I then read the temperature at 2 to 3 days' interval. Simultaneously I followed the cambial activity in the roots.

The cell division started within a time when the ground temperature ranged between  $10^{\circ}$  and  $12^{\circ}$  C.

Thereafter I moved the thermometer out into some swamp-like, pretty watery and cold soil under a mixed stand of uneven-aged *Betula pendula*, *Acer pseudoplatanus*, *Fraxinus ex*celsior, *Alnus glutinosa*, *Fagus silvatica*, *Prunus avium*, *Ulmus glabra* and *Sorbus aucuparia*, all of different ages.

In this place cell division in the roots began within a period when the temperature of the ground ranged between  $10^{\circ}$  and  $13^{\circ}$  C.

Cell division starts first in the roots in the uppermost layer of the ground, which is most quickly warmed up. If a root grows so near the surface of the ground, that part of its surface is bare from stem basis and a piece outward, cell division begins in this part of the root either simultaneously with or a few days after cell division has begun in the lower part of the stem.

In older *Fagus silvatica* and *Quercus robur* in clayey lands from 4 to 6 weeks may pass between the beginning of cell division in the surface roots and the deepest roots<sup>1</sup>.

In well drained shaded forest lands cell division begins in the roots at 10 cms depth two to eleven weeks after bud break, and two to eight weeks after it has begun at breast height (see Table II and Figs. 7, 8, 9 and 10). The variation in individuals as well as in species is very considerable. The times stated in the tables must therefore not be taken too rigoristically.

<sup>1</sup> In 1944 I observed this condition in c. 120-year-old Fagus silvatica and Quercus robur that grow just above the slope to the Baltic in Fanefjord forest. By digging into the slope I easily reached the deepest roots.

Existing literature also gives us the impression that there is much variation. The various investigators record the following intervals between the beginning of cell division in stem and roots:

TH. HARTIG (1857): 1 month in Larix decidua and Pinus silvestris,  $2\frac{1}{2}$  months in Quercus robur, and 14 days in Acer pseudoplatanus.

Russow (1884): A few days in *Quercus robur*, *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Pinus silvestris* and *Larix decidua*. In *Tilia cordata* cell division begins in the roots earlier than in the stem.

GULBE (1888a and b): Averagely 14 days.



Fig. 12. Transverse section through the cambium in an 1-year-old *Picea abies* root 14 days after the beginning of extension growth. The cambium is still at the rest stage.

- b Secondary bark.
- c Cambium.
- w<sub>2</sub> Summer wood from last year.

MER (1892a): 10 to 15 days in Fagus silvatica, Quercus robur, Carpinus betulus, Tilia cordata and Picea abies.

BROWN (1915): Over 1 month in Pinus strobus L.

LODEWICK (1928): 1 week between stem base and the thick roots in *Fraxinus americana* L. COCKERHAM (1930) found that in thin roots in *Acer pseudoplatanus* cambial activity may continue all through winter.

In the main roots in older trees O. G. PETERSEN (1898) found beginning wood formation on 2nd to 5th June in *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Sorbus aucuparia*; from 7th to 9th July in *Acer pseudoplatanus, Betula pendula, Populus, Tilia cordata, Larix decidua, Picea abies* and *Pinus silvestris*; and from 24th to 26th August in *Quercus robur.* 

None of the said investigators give any information about soil, insolation or root depth.

There is not the same state of interpendence between the growth in length and thickness in the roots as between that of the branches. In spring one often sees fresh new-formed root tips in young roots in which the secondary cambium is not yet in the rest stage (see Fig. 12).

# VII. The Reason why Cambial Activity Begins at Bud Base.

Investigations in the years 1934—41 have shown why cambial activity begins at bud base and from here spreads in basipetal direction. When the buds of the trees begin to swell in spring, new growth hormones are formed within them. From the buds the growth hormones proceed down through the cambium of branches, stem and root and cause it to resume growth.

## a) Earlier Assumptions.

Already Jost (1893, p. 192) draws attention to the fact "... dass nicht immer und nicht allein die Zufuhr von Baustoffen die Cambialtätigkeit bedingt ...".

He arrived at this result partly from his observation that cambial activity begins first at bud base, and partly through a series of experiments.

He thus found, that if the buds are removed from a branch at some time before bud break, it does not grow in thickness, comp. TH. HARTIG (1858 and 1862), LUTZ (1895) and WIELER (1897). He showed that the reason was not due to failing assimilation by letting intact branches shoot in the dark. Even if the leaves under such conditions are unable to assimilate wood formation nevertheless takes place in the branches at the cost of the stored nutrient materials, comp. WIELER (1897).

He further found, that if we at some time before bud break remove all buds on the branches of fir, they do not grow in thickness even though the old assimilative needles still are left on the branches. On the other hand they grow in thickness if all the old needles are removed, but the buds are left to develop into new shoots. Even in darkness such branches grow in thickness.

He also found that if the stems or branches of the trees are "ringed" little or no wood formation takes place under the ringing belt. But above it wood formation is lively, compare i. a. TH. HARTIG (1862), STRASBURGER (1891), MER (1892a) and SWARBRICK (1927b).

COSTER (1927) after similar observations and experiments as Jost advances the assumption that some hormone issues from buds and leaves which somehow influences the growth in thickness. He writes among other things (p. 77): "Durch die vielen Versuche ist vorerst unzweideutig bewiesen, dass der Anfang des neuen Dickenwachstums bei periodisch kahlstehenden Laubhölzern von einem Reiz abhängig ist, der von den sich entfaltenden Knospen oder anderen auswachsenden Organen ausgeht".

MÜNCH (1932) and SNOW (1933) take a similar view.

## $\beta$ ) The Presence of Growth Substances.

The presence of growth substances has been shown by CZAJA (1934), ZIMMER-MANN (1936—37), SÖDING (1936, 1937, and 1940—41), AVERY, BURKHOLDER and CREIGHTON (1937) and BENNET and SKOOG (1938). These investigators have come to the following results:

a) During the rest stage buds and cambium contain no-or very small-quantities of active growth hormones.

b) Swelling buds, leaves, and flowers that are growing contain and produce considerable quantities of active growth hormones.
c) The growth hormone proceeds from the said organs down through the cambium<sup>1</sup> in branches, stem and roots and is followed by beginning cell division.

d) As long as the cambium is growing it contains larger and smaller quantities of growth hormones. When growth ceases in autumn the growth hormone content declines and becomes very small.

Söding (1937 and 1940—41), Münch (1938) and Jost (1940) think, by the way, that the cambium is itself able to produce growth hormones after a first supply is received from the young shoot organs that are developing.

### $\gamma$ ) The Effect of Growth Hormones.

That the growth hormones are able to make the cambium in trees resume growth is shown by experiments by Söding (1936 and 1940—41), GOUWENTAK (1936 and 1941) and GOUWENTAK and MAAS (1940). By means of auxin preparations or extractions from swelling buds these investigators have produced wood formation in different species of trees.

The experiments have chiefly been carried out by decapitating branches or young stems and thereafter applying a paste with the growth hormone onto the cut surface. In these branches or young stems wood formation began long before it started in untreated control-branches or -stems placed under completely similar external conditions.

After GOUWENTAK and MAAS (1940) and GOUWENTAK (1941) the periodicity of cambial activity cannot, however, directly be explained by a difference in the growth hormone production, as the cambium is not always equally susceptible to the influence of growth hormones. They found that it had an "independent", presumably materialphysiologically determined, resting period which may be divided into a preliminary, middle and subsequent resting period. Under the middle resting period there cannot by means of experiments be produced any wood formation by growth substance influence, except after a preceding rest-breaking treatment.

#### $\delta$ ) Various Reflections.

There is reason to assume that the change in the cambium (its preliminary change) preceding the beginning division into cells (see p. 16) is due to the beginning spread of growth hormones downwards from the swelling buds<sup>2</sup>.

The growth hormones possibly proceed downwards through the cell walls of

<sup>1</sup> After HUBER, SCHMIDT and JAHNEL (1937) the transport of the growth hormone also takes place in the sieve tissue, comp. KASTENS (1924).

BOYSEN JENSEN (1943, p. 330) writes: "In leaves the growth hormone transport seems to take place in the leaf traces, presumably in their sieve part".

After HELLINGA (1937) the growth hormone transport may only take place in a direction leading away from buds and leaves.

<sup>2</sup> Söding (1937 and 1940-41) found fairly large quantities of growth substances in the cambium some time before the inception of wood formation.

SÖDING (1940—41) has made a close study of this and found that the sieve tissue may contain growth materials.

the cambium, cf. WEIJ 1932. The change in the appearance of the latter seems to indicate that this is so (comp. Figs. 1 and 2).

The formation of growth hormones in flower buds under expansion offer an explanation of the reason why cell division in the young branches begins simultaneously with flowering when this occurs before bud break (*Ulmus glabra*, see also footnote p. 24).

The downward progression of growth hormones from the swelling buds of the



Fig. 13. Cross section through the new formed wood under a callus growth at the end surface of a *Larix decidua* billet cut at the end of February 1945. The section was taken on August 1, same year,  $2^{1}/_{2}$  cms from the cut surface of the billet.

b Bark. c Cambium.  $w_1$  New formed wood.  $w_2$  Last year's summer wood.

root shoots and young leaves explains why wood formation begins locally in roots with root shoots, compare BROWN (1935).

Beginning wood formation is not absolutely dependent of any connection with shoot organs under development.

In forests it is often seen that callus growths form between bark and wood at bruises on stumps or on clean boled stems.

If we examine such stumps or stems a new formation of wood from the callus tissue will often be found 2 to 10 cms inside the stem or the stump (see Fig. 13). The new-formed wood ring is widest just under the callus growth and narrows inwards like a wedge. In stems it proceeds in acropetal as well as in basipetal direction.

It is to be supposed that this wood formation is due either to the wound effect from the cut surface<sup>1</sup>, growth hormones formed in the callus tissue, or wintered growth hormones (see MüNCH, 1938, p. 621).

The wood formed is just as ineffectually differentiated as the wood which Söding (1937), GOUWENTAK and MAAS (1940) and GOUWENTAK (1941) succeeded in producing experimentally by external supplies of growth hormones. On cross sections the width of the tracheids is less than in normally built wood. The cell walls are thin and give the impression of incomplete lignification. The wood is very crisp when cut with a knife.

 $^1$  After GOUWENTAK and MAAS (1940) the wound effect is able to produce a much limited wood formation.

# VIII. The Course of Wood Formation and the Time of its Termination.

#### Methods.

#### 1. A Survey of Applicable Methods.

The process of wood formation may be determined by two different processes:

#### a) By measurements on the outside of the stem of its diameter or circumference.

By this method the process of wood formation may only be determined with approximate exactness; as established diameter- or circumference-changes are due not only to growth in the wood, but also to the growth in the bark and the  $\pm$  changes in the circumference of the stem that is due to difference in the sap tension.

In the night when the transpiration is reduced the stem "swells". Reversely its volume decreases in daytime when the transpiration increases, compare KAISER (1879), FRIEDRICH (1897), and KORSTIAN (1921), MACDOUGAL (1921 and 1924), PEARSON (1924) and CHALK (1927).

During rainy periods the stem is for the same reason relatively thicker than during periods of drought, see HAASIS (1932).

In cold periods its volume decreases, see FRIEDRICH (1907).

#### $\beta$ ) By measuring the width of the new formed wood ring in sections or increment cores.

We get an approximate determination by this method only, as the width of the new formed wood ring may vary considerably even within rather narrow areas of a stem, i. a. as a consequence of eccentric growth.

#### 2. The Method Applied.

The present examinations are carried out after the latter method  $(\beta)^1$ .

In order to some extent to avoid the uncertainty due to local variations in the width of the annual ring the width of the new formed wood ring at the various dates in the summer is stated in percentage of the width of the preceding year's annual ring. This method has previously been used by CHALK (1927) and gives a fairly safe determination of the process of wood formation.

Measurements which during the winter 1945 I have made on a great number of cut stems have shown that if one sticks to the same side of the stem there proves to be a fairly constant relation between the width of the two adjoining annual rings, comp. CHALK (1930, p. 10). For trees with a diameter of over 10 cms one may usually calculate with a correlation coefficient of 80 to 90. An absolute condition is, however, that the stem is well formed in the place in question. There must be no gnarls, furrows or other irregularities.

 $^{1}$  Circumference measurements with sensitive, selfrecording measuring instruments had to be abandoned in advance as they were too expensive to buy.

In 1944 circumference measurements were tried till mid-June with a steel band with Vernier scale. The variations in the records were so large from one measurement to the next that this method was abandoned.

Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no. 3.

In order more easily to compare the process of wood formation in the various trees the per cents found are calculated in relation to 100 at the time of the termination of wood formation.

#### Material.

The examinations comprise the following species of trees:

	1945	
Age		Age
15 - 35	Larix decidua	13-45
	Picea abies	10 - 35
15 - 35	Betula pendula	10 - 26
10 - 45	Alnus glutinosa	14 - 55
20 - 120	Fagus silvatica	14 - 70
20 - 35	Quercus robur	14 - 70
15 - 60	Acer pseudoplatanus	20 - 35
12 - 40	Fraxinus excelsior	20 - 59
15 - 30		
	Age 15-35 10-45 20-120 20-35 15-60 12-40 15-30	1945         Age         15—35       Larix decidua         Picea abies         15—35       Betula pendula         10—45       Alnus glutinosa         20—120       Fagus silvatica         20—35       Quercus robur         15—60       Acer pseudoplatanus         12—40       Fraxinus excelsior         15—30

The trees for which the process of wood formation is stated separately in Tables and Figures are described in Tables V-XIII.

The other trees were dominant or co-dominant trees in closed well nursed stands. The Acer pseudoplatanus on the whole were found as undergrowth under older Fagus silvatica, Acer pseudoplatanus and Fraxinus excelsior.

The growth conditions may no doubt be counted among the very best in Denmark.

The soil was in most cases deep, very mouldy and had a suitable content of clay. The ground flora chiefly consisted of such herbs that characterize a soil rich

in nutrients in good biological condition.

#### Taking of Sections.

In 1944 sections were taken 3 to 5 times during the summer from 20-25 trees within each species. With the exception of a few trees (see Tables V-XIII) new trees were used every time. The sections were taken at breast height (1.3 m) and from 1.5 to 2 cms thick, leafy branches in the uppermost half of the tree.

In the spring of 1945 4 to 10 trees were chosen within each species. From these trees 8 sections were taken from the stem during summer from the middle of the crown, and at breast height. The first place corresponds to  $^{2}/_{3}$  to  $^{3}/_{4}$  of the full height of the trees<sup>1</sup>.

The sections were each time extracted at the same side of the stem and at the same height over the ground (see Fig. 14). The method mentioned p. 15 was applied.

 $^{1}$  As the sections are to be taken in places free of adjoining branches, callus growths etc. it has been impossible to extract them at the same relative height in all trees.

In trees with very deep crowns they were taken somewhat above the midst of the crown.



Fig. 14. Scar at breast height after 6 sections and 2 increment cores extracted in the course of the summer 1945. Photograph taken in October 1945, from the stem of *Acer pseudoplatanus* No. 2. (See Table VIII).

## Tables and Figures.

The process of wood formation in the various species of trees is shown by curves in Figs. 15-30.

In the Figures are entered precipitation and mean temperature measured at the Meteorological Station at Bogø.



Fig. 15. Betula pendula. The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the two trees described in Table V. The thick curves show the mean for medium sized to large crowns and in close stands in sandy and clayey ground and well drained swamp soil:

..... In 1.5 to 2 cms thick, leafy branches in the upper half of the crown. \_\_\_\_\_ At 1.3 m height in the stem.



Fig. 16. Betula pendula. The relative process of wood formation in 1945. The thin curves show wood formation in the 8 trees described in Table V. The thick curves show the mean for trees Nos. 1—6: ..... In the stem in the middle of the crown. \_\_\_\_ In the stem at 3 m height.

			TABLE V.			
Betula	pendula	<b>Котн</b> .	Description	of the	Individual	Trees

Tree No.		ge Height	Height	Height	Dia	meter		Crown		So	il	
	Age				Height		incre-		dian	neter		
		m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil	Subsoil			

**1944:** The two trees whose wood formation was followed from July 4th Both were medium-sized trees in closed *Betula* stands

1 2	25 25	12.3 12.5	12 14	4 8	0.35 0.40	3.0 3.9	3.3 3.5	30 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse grained, deep and loose mould	Clayey sand. 1 m to ground water	Urtica, Rubus fruticosus
--------	----------	--------------	----------	-----	--------------	------------	------------	---	--	-----------------------------

1945: An open-grown tree over young Picea abies

1	10	6.0	6	6	0.80	2.0	1.5	25 cms clayey sand. Coarse grained, fairly thin layer of mould	Sand to slightly clayey sand. Presumably 2 m to ground water	No herbaceous vegetation
---	----	-----	---	---	------	-----	-----	--	--	-----------------------------

II. Trees in closed Betula stand with a mixture of even-aged Fagus silvatica

A. Dominant trees

2 3 4 5 6	26 26 26 26 26	11.8 12.3 13.0 13.7 14.0	17 16 16 20 19	5 6 5 11 10	0.66 0.40 0.54 0.50 0.58	4.4 3.1 4.0 4.0 4.2	4.1 3.3 3.7 4.8 5.0	22 cms sand. Coarse grained deep, loose mould	Sand to 50 cms depth. Then slightly clayey sand. Ground water at 75 cms depth	Undergrowth of Alnus glutinosa (Urtica), (Rubus idaeus and R. fruticosus), (Anemone)
B. In 7 8	termed 26 26	liate tre 10.2 11.0	es wit	h ver	y small 0.14 0.28	crowns 1.5 1.2	1.2 0.9	s)		





Fig. 17. Alnus glutinosa. The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the 4 trees, that are described in Table VI. The thick curves show it in the mean for trees with medium sized to large crowns and in close-grown plantations in very watery swamp soil:

..... In 1.5 to 2 cms thick leafy branches in the upper half of the crown. \_\_\_\_ At 1.3 m height in the stem.



Fig. 18. Alnus glutinosa. The relative process of wood formation in 1945. The thin curves show wood formation in the 7 trees, that are described in Table VI. The thick curves show it in the mean for tree Nos. 1—5: ..... In the stem in the middle of the crown. \_\_\_\_\_ In the stem at 1.3 m height.

TABLE VI.

Alnus glutinosa (L.) GAERT. Description of the Individual Trees.

Tree No.		e Height	Diameter		Crown			S									
	Age		ge Height	Age Height	Age Height	Age Height	Height	Height	Height	rieght		incre-		diar	neter		
		m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil	Subsoil								

**1944:** The four trees whose wood formation was followed from July 9th All trees in an uneven-aged *Alnus glutinosa* plantation

1 2 3 4	10 14 19 25	6.1 8.0 12.5 12.7	5 8 10 18	8 8 10 10	0.50 0.45 0.33 0.33	2.5 2.9 3.1 3.2	2.2 2.5 2.6 4.0	Very moist marsh soil	Marsh still at 1 m depth. Ground water at 20—30 cms depth	Undergrowth of a few bushes, <i>Urtica</i>
------------------	----------------------	----------------------------	--------------------	--------------------	------------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------	---	--

1945: Trees in pure Alnus glutinosa stands or mixed in even-aged ash stands

A. Dominant trees

1	14	7.6	8	6	0.40	3.1	2.0	18 cms clayey sand. Coarse grained, very humusrich and moist mould	Sand to stiff clay. Ground water at c. 50 cms depth	Urtica
2 3 4	$\begin{array}{c c} 18 \\ - \\ 40 \end{array}$	9.0 9.1 14.0	13 10 26	13 9 9	0.60 0.45 0.33	5.1 2.8 5.3	3.3 2.2 4.0	60 cms rich and very wet swamp soil	Stiff clay. Ground water at 20—30 cms depth	Undergrowth of a few Sambucus nigra, Urtica, Geranium, Galium
5	55	18.1	33	8	0.53	4.3	6.1	24 cms clayey sand. Coarse grained, rich moist mould	Sand to stiff clay. Ground water at c. 50 cms depth	Urtica, Rubus fruticosus, (Anemone), (Geranitam)

В.	Intermediate	and	overshadowed	trees	with	small	crowns

6 7	14	5.8 7.3	5 6	1 2	0.20 0.25	1.5 1.9	1.0 2.0	18 cms clayey sand. Coarse grained, very humus rich and moist mould	Sand to stiff clay. Ground water at c. 50 cms depth	Urtica	
--------	----	------------	--------	--------	--------------	------------	------------	---	--	--------	--



Fig. 19. Fagus silvatica. The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the four trees, that are described in Table VII. The thick curves show the mean for trees with medium sized to large crowns and in close-grown plantations:

..... In 1.5 to 2 cms thick leafy branches in the upper half of the crown. \_\_\_\_\_ At 1.3 m height in the stem.



Fig. 20. Fagus silvatica. The process of wood formation in 1945. The thin curves show wood formation in 9 of the 10 trees, that are described in Table VII. The thick curves show it in the mean for trees Nos. 1—8: ..... In the stem in the middle of the crown. \_\_\_\_\_ In the stem at 1.3 m height.

TABLE VII. Fagus silvatica L. Description of the Individual Trees.

-			Diar	neter		Crown		S	oil	
Tree	Age	Height		incre-		diar	neter			Ground flora
No.		m	cm	mm	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil	Subsoil	
<b>1944:</b> All do	The i	four tre t trees	es wh in clo	ose wo sed sta	od forn ands	nation	was fol	lowed from July	12th	
1 2 3 4	30 45 45 60	11.4 15.9 16.2 21.0	14 23 20 24	6 12 10 6	0.60 0.50 0.50 0.60	4.0 4.8 4.6 5.5	4.4 5.2 4.3 5.0	20—35 cms clayey sand. Coarse grained, rather deep mould	Sandy clay to clayey sand. 1.5 to 2 m to ground water	Anemone, Asperula, Rubus idaeus
1945:	I. Pa	artly isc	olated	trees						
1	40	14.0	31	11	1.00	6.7	9.2	45 cms sand. Coarse grained to fine-grained mould	Sand and gravel. Fairly high ground water level	Urtica, Rubus idaeus
2	70	18.0	43	8	0.90	9.8	9.2	40 cms clayey sand. Coarse- grained mould	Clayey sand to sandy clay c. 1.5 m to ground water	Anemone, Asperula, Trientalis, Stachys
II. Tr A. Do	rees in ominan	closed at trees	stand	s						
3	14	5.1	5	6	0.50	2.1	1.9	20 cms clayey sand. Coarse- grained, rich mould	Lime-rich friable clay. Fairly high ground water level, swamp border	Anemone
4 5	28 28	12.8 12.9	17 18	10 8	0.64 0.72	5.0 6.0	4.1 4.4	20 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse-grained, loose, deep mould	Sandy clay 1 to 2 m to ground water	Anemone
6 7	28 60	14.1 22.0	20 32	12 10	0.58 0.64	4.8 6.3	5.0 5.3	24 cms clayey sand. Rich humusrich mould	Friable clay. Fairly high ground water level	Anemone, Asperula, Urtica
B. Sti	rongly	suppres	ssed t	rees						
8	26	10.1	4	0	0.10	0.9	1.1	15 cms clayey sand. Coarse- to fine-grained mould	Sandy clay. 1—2 m to ground water	Anemone
9 10	28 28	9.0 4.5	6 5	0.6	0.18	0.9 0.9	1.6 0.9	20 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse-grained, loose, deep mould	Sandy clay. 1.5 to 2 m to ground water	Anemone





Fig. 21. Acer pseudoplatanus. The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the two trees, that are described in Table VIII. The thick curves show the mean for trees with medium sized to large crowns and in closed stands in clayey soil:

..... In 1.5 to 2 cms thick, leafy branches in the upper half of the crown. \_\_\_\_ At 1.3 m height in the stem.



Fig. 22. Acer pseudoplatanus. The relative process of wood formation in 1945. The thin curves show wood formation in the 7 trees, that are described in Table VIII. The thick curves show the mean for trees Nos. 1—4: ..... In the stem in the midst of the crown. \_\_\_\_\_ In the stem at 1.3 m height.

# TABLE VIII.

# Acer pseudoplatanus L. Description of the Individual Trees.

Tree			Dia	meter		Crown		So	il			
	Age	Height	Height -		incre-		diar	neter			- Ground flora	
No.		m	m	m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil	Subsoil	

**1944:** The two trees whose wood formation was followed from July 3rd Trees in a stand of *Acer pseudoplatanus* and *Fagus silvatica* 

1 2	25 25	10.7 15.5	9 14	5 5	0.66 0.38	3.2 5.2	3.2 4.1	20—30 cms sandy clay to clayey sand. Coarse-grained, loose mould	Sandy clay to clayey sand. Presumably c. 2 m to ground water	Self-sown growth of Acer pseudoplatanus, Anemone, Asperula
--------	----------	--------------	---------	--------	--------------	------------	------------	--	--	--

1945: Trees in stand of Acer pseudoplatanus, Fraxinus excelsior and Fagus silvatica.

#### A. Dominant trees

1 2 3 4	26 — 35	11.9 14.6 14.9 15.8	16 19 24 32	8 7 11 5	0.50 0.65 0.65 0.50	4.0 4.1 8.0 6.6	3.6 3.0 5.8 5.8	15 to 20 cms sandy clay to clayey sand. Coarse-grained, loose mould	Sandy clay. c. 1 m to ground water	Anemone, Asperula, Melica
------------------	---------------	------------------------------	----------------------	-------------------	------------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------	---	--	---------------------------------

B. Undergrowth

5	18	7.2	5	3	0.40	2.4	3.6	30 cms moist swamp soil	Stiff clay. Ground water at 50 cms depth	Anemone, Hepa- tica, Geranium, Ficaria, Urtica
6 7	20	8.1 9.0	4 3	2 3	0.35 0.40	2.6 2.4	2.0 1.8	60 cms clayey sand. Coarse- grained, humus- rich deep, loose mould	Stiff clay. Ground water at 65 cms depth	Urtica, Milium Mercurialis, (Rubus fruti- cosus and R idaeus)



Fig. 23. Quercus robur. The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the five trees, that are described in Table IX. The thick curves show the mean for trees with medium sized to large crowns in close-grown plantations in deep and clayey soil:
 In 1.5 to 2 cms thick, leafy branches in the upper half of the crown. — At 1.3 m height in the stem.



Fig. 24. Quercus robur. The relative process of wood formation in 1945. The thin curves show wood formation in the first eight of the ten trees, that are described in Table IX. The thick curves show the mean for trees Nos. 1—7:

..... In the stem in the middle of the crown. \_\_\_\_ In the stem at 1.3 m height.

## TABLE IX.

Quercus robur L. Description of the Individual Trees.

Tree	1.00	Hoight	Dia	meter		Crown		So	il				
	Age	Tiergin	e Height		incre-		diar	neter			- Ground flora		
No.		m	m	m	m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil	Subsoil	

1944: The five trees whose wood formation was followed from July 12th

All trees in a closed stand

A. Dominant trees

1 2	23 23	9.2 10.0	8 10	14 18	0.70 0.66	2.7 3.1	4.0 2.4	Clayey sand. Coarse-grained, rich mould.	Sandy clay. Presumably between 1 and	Anemone in patches Pteridium
B. Sn	naller 1	trees (to	o be f	elled)	11			In patches remains of old morformation	2 m to ground water	aquilinum
3	23	8.1	6	8	0.50	1.9	2.1			
4	23	8.5	6	6	0.45	1.6	1.6			
5	23	8.7	8	8	0.50	1.7	2.0			

1945: I. Partly isolated trees

1	14	6.5	7	10	0.79	3.3	2.9	30 cms sand. Coarse-grained, loose mould	Clayey sand. Between 1 and 1.5 m to ground water	Urtica
2	26	12.6	30	14	0.90	8.3	6.5	32 cms rich swamp-soil	Stiff clay. 75 cms to ground water	Picea sitchensis undergrowth
3	70	18.0	42	8	0.90	9.8	13.4	35 cms fine- grained strongly humus coloured mould	Gray sand and gravel. At beach. High ground water level	Asperula, Pteridium aqui- linum, Rubus fruticosus

#### II. Trees in closed stand

A. Dominant trees

4 5 6 7	33 33 33 33 33	$     \begin{array}{r}       14.0 \\       14.2 \\       14.6 \\       14.0 \\     \end{array} $	18 18 22 24	9 6 6 8	$0.50 \\ 0.60 \\ 0.45 \\ 0.60$	5.0 5.0 3.3 6.0	4.4 5.0 4.3 4.1	25 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse-grained, loose, deep mould	Stiff clay, in patches sandy clay and marl. Between 1 and 2 m to ground	Anemone, Asperula, Rubus fruticosus (Deschampsia flexuosa)
B. St	rongly	suppres	ssed tr	ees						
8	33	7.6	5	1	0.14	0.9	0.7			
9	33	7.0	4	(0)	0.09	0.7	0.5			
10	33	8.1	4	(0)	0.11	0.7	0.8			

Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no. 3.





Fig. 25. *Fraxinus excelsior*. The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the four trees, that are described in Table X. The thick curves the mean for trees with medium sized to large crowns and in closed stands on sandy and clayey soil as well as along the swamp borders and on well drained swamp soil:





Fig. 26. Fraxinus excelsior. The relative process of wood formation in 1945. The thin curves show wood formation in the 8 trees, that are described in Table X. The thick curves show the mean for trees Nos. 1—4: ..... In the stem in the middle of the crown. \_\_\_\_\_ In the stem at 1.3 m height.

TABLE X. Fraxinus excelsior L. Description of the Individual Trees.

Tree		Listabt	Dia	meter	Crown		Soil				
	Age	Height	Height –	Age Height		incre-		diar	neter		
No.		m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil	Subsoil		

1944: The four trees whose wood formation was followed from July 12th

All dominant trees in a closed stand

1	17	7.4	8	15	$0.50 \\ 0.40 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50$	3.1	2.2	30—40 cms	Stiff clay to	Urtica, Rubus
2	17	7.9	7	14		2.7	2.7	swamp soil.	sandy clay.	idaeus. Scat-
3	17	8.1	7	8		3.3	3.6	Edge of a	High ground	tered Alnus
4	17	10.1	12	12		4.0	3.7	swamp	water level	glutinosa bushes

1945: I. Trees in closed stands in relatively well drained soil

A. Dominant trees

1 2	28 28	12.1 13.2	18 19	11 10	0.50 0.40	5.0 4.0	5.0 3.8	Edge of a swamp. Coarse- grained, deep, rich and humus- rich soil	Marl and sandy clay. C. 50 cms to the ground water	Scattered Alnus glutinosa bu- shes. Urtica. Geranium Impatiens
3	28	14.4	22	16	0.43	5.2	4.3	20 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse-grained, loose and deep mould	Sandy clay. 1.5 to 2 m to ground water	Anemone
4	59	16.0	30	5	0.63	7.0	6.6	25 cms clayey sand. Coarse- grained, rich mould	Stiff clay, marl in patches. C. 50 cms to ground water	Deschampsia caespitosa

B. Suppressed tree

5	28	8.0	5	4	0.12	1.1	1.6	20 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse-grained, deep and loose mould	Sandy clay. 1.5 to 2 m to ground water	Anemone
---	----	-----	---	---	------	-----	-----	---	--	---------

II. Dominant trees in closed stands in very watery swamp soil

6 7 8	20 20 20	9.0 7.1 10.5	10 9 18	8 7 6	$0.85 \\ 0.50 \\ 0.50$	2.6 3.3 6.0	2.7 2.5 4.1	Very watery swamp soil	Ground water at 25 cms depth. C. 30 cms deep ditches	Urtica, Geranium Valeriana
-------------	----------------	--------------------	---------------	-------------	------------------------	-------------------	-------------------	---------------------------	---	----------------------------------





Fig. 27. Ulmus glabra. The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the three trees, that are described in Table XI. The thick curves show the mean for wind-exposed trees with medium sized crowns in clayey soil:





Fig. 28. Larix decidua. The process of wood formation at 1.3 m height in 1945. The individual trees are described in Table XII.

## TABLE XI.

# Ulmus glabra Hups. 1944. Description of the Trees Whose Wood Formation was Followed from July 11th.

Tree No.	1.00	Unight	Dia	meter		Crown		Soi	il		
	Age	m		incre-		diar	neter			- Ground flora	
			m	m	m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil

#### All three trees intermixed in Fagus silvatica stands

1 2	16 16	9.4 10.6	10 10	7 8	$0.25 \\ 0.25$	3.1 2.9	3.0 3.0	25 cms clayey sand. Coarse- grained mould	Sandy clay. Ground water at 0.5 m depth	Anemone, Asperula, (Mercurialis)
3	45	16.9	29	14	0.40	5.5	4.1	20 cms clayey sand. Coarse- grained, loose mould	Sandy clay. Ground water at 65 cms depth	Undergrowth of Alnus glutinosa bushes. Mer- curialis, Urtica

			TABLE X	Π.			
Larix	decidua	MILL.	Description	of	the	Individual	Trees.

Tree	1.00	Usight	Dia	meter		Crown		Soi	il	
Tree	Age	Height		incre-		diar	neter			Ground flora
No.		m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil Subsoil		

All four trees intermixed in even-aged Fagus silvatica stands A. Larix leptolepis

1	13	8.0	7	10	0.75	2.2	1.8	30 cms clayey sand. Coarse- grained, deep and loose mould	Clayey sand. C. 1 m to ground water	(Anemone)
2	13	8.4	9	14	0.75	1.9	2.1	20 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse-grained mould	Sandy clay. C. 1 m to ground water	Anemone

B. Larix decidua

3 4	45 45	16.9 20.0	30 44	4 7	0.30 0.33	4.5 7.0	4.3 6.4	24 cms clayey sand	Friable clay. Fairly high ground water level	Anemone, Asperula, (Rubus fruti- cosus)
--------	----------	--------------	----------	--------	--------------	------------	------------	-----------------------	---	--

Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no. 3.





Fig. 29. *Picea abies.* The relative process of wood formation in 1944. The thin curves show wood formation in the five trees, that are described in Table XIII. The thick curves show the mean for trees with medium sized to large crowns in closed stands, in sandy and clayey soil:

..... In 1.5 to 2 cms thick, leafy branches in the upper half of the crown. \_\_\_\_\_ At 1.3 m height in the stem.



TABLE XIII. Picea abies L. KARST. Description of the Individual Trees.

Tree No.	1	ITalaht	Dia	meter		Crown		So	il	
	Age	Height		incre-		diameter				- Ground flora
			m	m	cm	ment	ratio	N-S m	E-W m	Surface soil

1944:	The	five	trees	whose	wood	formation	was	followed	from	July	22nd
-------	-----	------	-------	-------	------	-----------	-----	----------	------	------	------

Border trees

1 2 3 4 5	15 15 15 15 15	5.6 6.5 6.9 7.0 7.2	8 10 10 12 9	7 6 7 7 4	1.00 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90	$2.2 \\ 3.0 \\ 2.1 \\ 3.2 \\ 3.4$	2.6 2.4 2.1 3.4 3.5	20—30 cms clayey sand. Coarse-grained to fine-grained mould	Clayey sand. C. 1.5 m to ground water	None
-----------------------	----------------------------	---------------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------	--------------------------------------	-----------------------------------	---------------------------------	---	---	------

#### 1945: I. Partly isolated trees

1 2 3 4	10 12 16 27	4.0 4.9 . 6.8 10.4	5 5 8 12	8 8 6 4	1.00 1.00 0.80 0.82	2.2 2.2 3.0 2.8	2.4 2.0 3.2 2.2	20—30 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse- grained to fine- grained mould	Sandy clay. Between 0.5 to 2 m to ground water	(Oxalis)
------------------	----------------------	-----------------------------	-------------------	------------------	------------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------	--	---	----------

II. Trees in closed stands

A. Dominant trees

5 6	27 27	13.6 14.1	16 19	6 4	0.64 0.70	3.6 $4.6$	3.8 3.2	30 cms slightly clayey sand. 1 cm raw humus	Clayey sand. C. 1.5 m to ground water	(Oxalis)
7 8	35 35	19.8 22.0	22 38	5 8	0.40 0.50	4.8 6.8	2.9 5.1	20 cms slightly clayey sand. Coarse-grained to fine-grained mould	Sandy clay. C. 2 m to ground water	(Anemone)

B. Strongly suppressed trees

9 10 11	27 27 27	7.0 7.1 8.5	6 6 5	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6\\ 0\\ 0\end{array}$	0.12 0.20 0.09	$1.2 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.3$	0.9 2.0 1.0	30 cms slightly clayey sand. Raw humus	Clayey sand. C. 1.5 m to ground water	(Oxalis)	
---------------	----------------	-------------------	-------------	---	----------------------	---------------------	-------------------	--	---	----------	--

#### Wood Formation in the Branches.

In the young branches the main part of the new annual ring is formed during the period in which the most active shoot extension takes place.

#### a) The Short Shoots.

The short shoots have a minimal growth in length and thickness. The extension growth is practically terminated when the foliage is completely expanded.

Wood formation often ceases at the end of May or during the first half of June.

As a rule only few new vessels are formed. Often there is no summer wood formation, so that it may be very difficult to distinguish the individual annual rings from each other (comp. HERRMANN (1916)).

#### $\beta$ ) The Long Shoots.

In Quercus robur, Fraxinus excelsior, Ulmus glabra and Fagus silvatica that have short shoot extension periods (see Table XVII) wood formation in the young branches is most active in May and at the beginning of June. In one-year-old branches  $^{3}/_{4}$  of the new annual ring are often formed at the close of May.

In most branches wood formation is completed at the end of June or the beginning of July. The cambium, however, does not enter into the resting period (see Fig. 1) till September.

If repeated shoots are formed wood formation continues until these shoots are fully grown. Wood formation in the young branches has in such cases two annual maximum periods, one in May and the beginning of June, and one at the end of June and the beginning of July.

In Acer pseudoplatanus, Betula pendula, Picea abies, and Larix decidua, that have long shoot extension periods, wood formation proceeds more slowly in the young branches.

Maximum occurs in May and June. An almost equally great quantity of wood is formed during both months. At the end of June approximately  $^{3}/_{4}$  of the new annual ring are formed in the one-year-old branches.

Wood formation generally terminates at the end of July or the beginning of August.

Literature offers little information only about wood formation in the branches.

R. HARTIG (1882b, pp. 118 and 119) found that in *Acer pseudoplatanus* and *Fagus silvatica*-branches wood formation terminates at the beginning of August, in *Larix decidua* in mid-August, and in *Pinus silvestris*-branches at the beginning of September. The age of the branches is not given.

Jost (1892) found that by July 1st 75  $^{0}/_{0}$  of the new annual ring were formed in 2—4year-old Fagus silvatica-branches and 90  $^{0}/_{0}$  in 1—2-year-old Quercus robur-branches. In the Fagus silvatica-branches wood formation ceased in August, in the Quercus robur-branches in July.

ANTEVS (1917, p. 341) found that wood formation proceeds quickly in the branches and reaches maximum about the middle of June. It then continues "recht gleichmässig".

Wood formation is relatively more advanced in the terminal than in the basal parts of the branches. The difference may be very considerable, particularly in the younger parts of the branches (see Fig. 31) and it does not increase evenly downwards.



Fig. 31. Cross section through a one-year-old vigorous branch of a young Acer pseudoplatanus the section shows wood formation on April 27, 1945.

a = 5 cms and b = 30 cms from bud base (80 ×). B = bark,  $W_1 =$  new formed wood, and  $W_2 =$  last year's summer wood.

There is a relatively greater difference among the one- and two-year-old branch parts etc. than in the two- and three-year-old branch parts, comp. SWARBRICK (1927a, p. 152). It is greatest in trees with short shoot extension period.

#### Wood Formation in the Stem.

The length of the wood formation period increases from the young branches and down into the stem, and a relatively greater part of the new annual ring is formed late in summer.

#### 1. A Comparison between the Tree Species.

In Table XIV a general survey is given of the relative wood formation at breast height during the various months in 1944 and 1945.

It appears from the latter that there is some difference between the development of wood formation in the various species of trees. They may be divided into the following groups:

*Fraxinus excelsior*: It is among the trees examined the one in which the formation of the annual ring takes place at the relatively earliest time in summer. Wood formation is lively from the very start. About three fifths of the new annual ring are formed in May and June. After July there is little wood formation only (see Figs. 25 and 26).

*Picea abies* and *Larix decidua*: Wood formation is lively from the start as in *Fraxinus excelsior*. About half of the annual ring is formed in May and June. After July wood formation is not very active (see Figs. 28, 29 and 30).

Betula pendula, Fagus silvatica, Alnus glutinosa, Acer pseudoplatanus and Quercus robur: In most cases some time passes before wood formation becomes really active. Only between one third and one half of the annual ring is formed in May and June. In contrast to Fraxinus excelsior, Picea abies and Larix decidua wood formation is on the other hand very active still in August. Between one third and one fourth of the annual ring is formed in this month and during the first days of September (see Figs. 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23 and 24).

TABLE XIV. The Relative Wood Formation (Formation of the Annual Ring) at Breast Height during the Various Months of 1944 and 1945. The Percentages are Read on the Thick Curves in Figs. 15-30<sup>1</sup> and Give the Average for Opengrown Trees and Dominant and Co-dominant Trees in Close Stands. The Mean Temperature and Precipitation is Measured at Bogø Meteorological Station (see Table I).

Species of Tree	Average Diameter- increment mm.	May	June	May– June	July	August	Sept.	Σ
1944:								
Betula pendula		6	33	39	26	33	2	100
Quercus robur	_	11	32	43	26	31	_	100
Fagus silvatica	_	5	41	46	30	24	_	100
Alnus glutinosa		4	48	52	17	26	5	100
Fraxinus excelsior	-	19	41	60	26	10	4	100
Average		9	39	48	25	25	2	100
Picea abies		14	37	51	27	10	12	100
Mean temperature		9.9	13.6		17.4	19.1	13.3	
Precipitation		73	67		34	19	59	193²
1945:								
Fagus silvatica	9.3	12	22	34	40	22	4	100
Acer pseudoplatanus	8.7	12	26	38	38	24	_	100
Betula pendula	9.0	16	25	41	29	25	5	100
Alnus glutinosa	9.0	14	28	42	31	20	7	100
Quercus robur	8.4	18	26	44	32	23	1	100
Fraxinus excelsior	10.5	26	30	56	31	11	2	100
Average		16	26	42	34	21	3	100
Larix leptolepis	12.0	19	31	50	33	16	1	100
Picea abies	6.1	29	20	49	32	18	1	100
Mean temperature		11.6	15.3		18.0	17.3	13.9	
Precipitation		18	80		45	58	16	201 <sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Acer pseudoplatanus and Ulmus glabra are not included in 1944. It is because these tree-species grow under other conditions than the other species (see p. 38 and 53). In 1945 Acer pseudoplatanus No. 4 is left out (see Table VIII and Fig. 22). In the same year the average for Betula pendula is calculated for trees Nos. 3, 5 and 6 only (see Table V and Fig. 16). The other Betulas are left out as they showed small diameter increment only.
<sup>2</sup> Summary for May, June, July and August.

This difference among the tree species is on the whole confirmed by earlier investigations (see Table XV).

TABLE XV. The Relative Wood Formation (Growth in Thickness) during the Individual Months after Various Investigations Carried out Abroad. The Mean Temperature and Precipitation are Added in such Cases where Information has been Received on these Points.

Species of Tree	April	Мау	June	April May June	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	Σ
Fagus silvatica			(20)						
R. HARTIG (1891)		(17)	(28)	45	39	16		-	100
(Germany)				90					
(Edisburgh Engl)				58					
(Edinburgh, Engl.)	ì	14	20	47	07	20	E		100
(Streesburg Cormony)	1	14	54	41	21	20	5	1	100
(Strassburg, Germany)	0.0	145	17.1		10.1	10.0	15.0	10.0	
Dregipitation mm	9.0	79	74		76	10.0	15.0	10.0	
Epipericulation min	20	13	29		10	40	40	04	
(Mariabrunn, Austria)	4	23	33	00	20	10	0	1	100
Mean temperature	10.6	13.2	16.3		19.1	16.8	13.0	7.8	
Precipitation mm	75	78	121		79	69	31		
Gäumann (1935) (Germany)	-	3	27	30	18	34	18	—	100
Acer pseudoplatanus									
CHRISTISON (1889)				38					
(Edinburgh, Engl.)									
Jost (1892)	1	15	33	49	31	15	4	1	100
(Strassburg, Germany)									
Mean temperature	9.0	14.5	17.1		18.1	18.6	15.6	10.0	
Precipitation mm	28	73	74		76	45	46	84	•
Quercus									
CHRISTISON (1889) (Edinburgh, Engl.)				38					
Jost (1892) (Quercus cerris) (Strassburg Germany)	2	23	27	52	31	14	2	1	100
Mean temperature	9.0	14.5	17.1		18.1	18.6	15.6	10.0	
Precipitation mm	28	73	74		76	45	46	84	
	10					10	10	04	
Fraxinus									
LODEWICK (1925)	10	15	40	65	30	5	-	-	100
Mean temperature		11.1	18.3		20.0	18.1			
Precipitation mm		70	82		56	36			
Снацк (1930)	6	11	32	49	39	12			100
(Oxford, Engl.)									100
Mean temperature	8.3	10.8	14.6		16.5	17.1			
			1						

Species of Tree	April	May	June	April May June	July	Aug.	Sept.	Okt.	Σ
Picea abies									
Міsснке (1890) (Germany)	4	26	27	57	26	17	-	-	100
Mean temperature	6.5	13.5	17.4		16.7	17.0			
Precipitation mm	25	17	27		94	43			
FRIEDRICH (1897)	4	15	23	42	29	20	7	2	100
(Mariabrunn, Austria)									
Mean temperature	_	12.7	15.8		18.7	17.0	13.2	8.3	
Precipitation mm	73	83	125		61	50	54		
WIELER (1898)				(47)					

TABLE XV (continued).

Wood formation proceeds practically speaking in the same way in the upper and lower parts of the stem (see Figs. 16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 26 and 30).

In well-grown trees wood formation is terminated in the stem at the close of August or during the first half of September. The time varies somewhat according to the tree species<sup>1</sup> and the climate of the individual year (comp. Figs. 15-30).

#### 2. The Individual Variation.

The individual variation is fairly considerable and to some extent relative to the diameter increment (comp. Figs. 16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 26 and 30 with Tables V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X and XIII).

In trees with small radial growth wood formation is most lively up to the beginning or the middle of July. It varies somewhat according to the species of the tree. Thereafter it decreases quickly. It often terminates at the close of July or the beginning of August.

In trees with large diameter increment wood formation proceeds quite evenly all through summer. As a rule it only terminates at the close of August or the beginning of September.

The difference is most distinct in the diffuse porous and the conifers (*Picea abies*). In these trees one third of the annual ring is generally speaking formed after June, while 2/3 are formed in trees with large diameter increment (see Fig 32).

The reason of this correlation between diameter increment and the formation of wood is no doubt that the more unfavourable the growth conditions are (decreasing growth in thickness) the more will the growth possibilities relatively decrease during the last half of the summer.

This may be due to the  $\alpha$ ) external conditions and  $\beta$ ) the internal, nutrition physiological conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wood formation does not continue later in autumn in *Fraxinus excelsior*, Alnus glutinosa and *Quercus robur* whose foliage keeps fresh and green till defoliation in October (comp. BURGER 1942) than in the broad leaved trees whose foliage begins to discolour relatively early in autumn.

#### a) External conditions.

The food material in the soil is greatest in May and during the first half of June. It thereafter decreases, cf. LUNDEGÅRDH (1925) and HONCAMP (1931). Particularly the nitrogen<sup>1</sup> content decreases. The reason is decreasing biological activity.

HONCAMP (1931, II, p. 84) writes: "Im Frühjahr erwacht mit steigender Wärme ein immer regeres Bakterienleben, das aber schon in der wärmsten Jahreszeit, Juli bis August, merklich nachlässt und erst zum Herbste hin wieder ansteigt, um dann gegen den Winter hin wieder einzuschlafen".

The growth retarding effect of this must according to the minimum law presumably be relatively stronger the poorer the soil is in food stuffs and particularly in nitrogen (sluggish assimilation, humus accumulation etc.).

#### $\beta$ ) Internal conditions of the physiology of nutrition.

During the first part of the growth period the volume increment is determined by the equation:

 A) Consumption of reserve food + assimilation surplus<sup>2</sup> = volume increment + seed (if any).

The reserve nutrients are consumed during the leafing period and the first part of the shoot extension period, when great quantities are consumed during a comparatively short time for formation of leaves, shoots, and spring wood, cf. RAMANN and BAUER (1911)<sup>3</sup>.

There exist no exact investigations showing how late in summer the reserve nutrients are consumed. After the many investigations made concerning the starch content of the trees etc. there is, however, every reason to assume that it is used up to 2 to 4 weeks after foliation, cf. R. HARTIG (1888c), FISCHER (1891), WOTCZAL (1890), LUTZ (1895), FABRICIUS (1905), RAMANN and BAUER (1911), KÜBLER (1912), PRICE (1915), BUTLER, SMITH, and CURRY (1917), CAMERON (1923), SWARBRICK (1927a), COCKERHAM (1930), WIGHT (1933), and GÄUMANN (1927 and 1935)<sup>4</sup>.

In Denmark the growth of the trees presumably proceeds by means of reserve foods until the close of May to the middle of June. Probably it varies somewhat according to how long time the leaves take to expand, how long the shoot extension lasts, and whether the trees are seed-bearing or not.

<sup>1</sup> It is worth noticing that the trees at the same time require increased nitrogen supply, cf. RAMANN and BAUER (1911, p. 74).

<sup>2</sup> The assimilation surplus = the net assimilation of the leaves — loss of leaves — loss of branches — (root loss) respiration in the stem, branches, and roots, cf. Boysen JENSEN (1910).

<sup>3</sup> In older trees with well developed crowns only the young branches are completely depleted of reserve nutrients in spring, cf. SWARBRICK (1927), COCKERHAM (1930), and GÄUMANN (1927 and 1935). A complete depletion of reserve nutrients in the older branches and in the stem only takes place in seed years, cf. BOYSEN JENSEN (1943, p. 228).

A relatively greater quantity of the reserve food is consumed in quite young than in older trees, comp. RAMANN and BAUER (1911), KÜBLER (1912), and GÄUMANN (1935).

 $^4$  According to Münch (1938, p. 641) the branches only supply assimilates to the stem after the young shoots are fully developed.





The per cents give the mean for the stem in the middle of the crown and at brest height. The curve is drawn assuming a rectilinear regression<sup>1</sup>. The correlation coefficient is 0.75<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>1</sup> The regression equation is: y = 67.10 - 2.74 x<sup>2</sup> Judged by the *t*-criterion:  $\frac{r}{m_r} = 6.5$ ; t = c. 2.

62

The volume increment during the last part of the growth period appears from the equation:

B) Assimilation surplus — reserve nutrients = volume increment + seed (if any).

In conformity with the minimum law it is to be assumed that the closer the assimilation surplus is to minimum wood formation will decrease relatively more by the transition from equation A) to B).

This may also explain why there is relatively less wood formation after June in the strongly suppressed trees with small crowns of scanty foliage (small diameter increment) than in trees with large crowns (large diameter increment).

#### The Course of Wood Formation in the Roots.

Judging by the sections taken from the roots wood formation in the latter proceeds very irregularly.

It terminates somewhat later than in the stem, often not until the beginning of October, comp. TH. HARTIG (1857, 1863a), GULBE (1888a und b), LODEWICK (1928) and REES (1929).

# The Effect of Temperature and Precipitation on the Course of Wood Formation.

The correlation between the course of wood formation and temperature and precipitation is made the object of investigations in the following way:

- a) By a comparison of the growth curves in 1944 and 1945 with mean temperature and precipitation.
- b) By a comparison of the results of these investigations with the result of investigations carried on abroad in countries with a different climate. This comparison is made on the basis of the figures in Tables XIV and XV.

#### 1. Temperature.

If we compare the thick growth curves in Figs. 15—30 with the temperature curve it will appear that wood formation was most active during the warmest periods.

TABLE XVI. The Correlation Coefficients for the Wood Formation and a) the MeanTemperature and b) the Precipitation in the Period from April—July. The Coefficientsare Calculated after the Figures in Tables XIV and XV.

		Precip	Precipitation				
Species of Tree	Г	º/o	F.V.	$\frac{r}{m_r}$	t	Г	°/0
Acer pseudoplatanus	0.96	92	5	7.2	2.6	0.56	31
Fagus silvatica	0.80	64	12	4.6	2.2	0.25	6
Quercus	0.76	58	8	3.3	2.3	0.39	15
Fraxinus	0.73	53	11	3.5	2.2	0.16	2
Picea abies	0.72	52	12	3.6	2.2	÷ 0.06	(0)

A correlation calculation on the basis of the figures in Tables XIV and XV shows that in April, May, June and July there is a distinct positive correlation between wood formation and temperature (see Table XIV).

After July the course of wood formation seems chiefly to be autonomously determined.

#### 2. Precipitation.

We get information of the effect of precipitation by examining how wood formation reacts in periods of drought.

July and August 1944 were by the Danish standard both warm and dry. In July the mean temperature was  $1.0^{\circ}$ , and in Aug.  $3.2^{\circ}$  over normal (see Table I). August was the warmest month of the year. Normally July is the warmest time.

Precipitation in July was only 34 mm against normally 71 mm, and in August 19 mm only against normally 67 mm (see Table I).

The water content in the ground under close-grown Fagus silvatica, Acer pseudoplatanus, Quercus robur- and Picea abies-stands in higherlying areas decreased in the uppermost 20 cms to only  $11-14 \ 0/_0$  of the dry weight. A lower water content is scarcely reached in good forest soils in this country, except in quite exceptional periods of drought.

The Fagus silvatica and the Quercus robur did not react to this strong drying out of the soil (see Figs. 19 and 23). In the Quercus robur wood formation on the contrary reached maximum during the first half of August.

In a number of the *Picea abies* wood formation on the other hand decreased strongly in August (see Fig. 29). The wood that was formed during this month was typical summer wood with thick-walled tracheids of small widths.

When the drought ceased at the end of the month wood formation increased. During a short period wood was formed with proportionally thin-walled tracheids of fairly great widths.

In many of the trees a "false annual ring" appeared as a consequence of this.

The reason why the drought retarded wood formation in *Picea abies*, but not in *Fagus silvatica* and *Quercus robur*, may possibly be sought in the difference in the building of the root system. *Picea abies* has a shallow root and is therefore more sensitive to the drying up of the uppermost layer of the soil than *Fagus silvatica* that has a main root, and *Quercus robur* that has a tap-root. During periods of drought it is easier for these trees to get their supplies of water from the deeper lying layers of the soil than for *Picea abies*.

*Fraxinus excelsior* grew chiefly along swamp-borders where the soil was more watery. It is difficult on the basis of the curves to determine whether wood formation in this species of tree was retarded owing to lack of water under the drought (comp. Figs. 25 and 26).

In 1945 wood formation was at first relatively livelier in *Fraxinus excelsior* Nos. 6, 7, and 8, that were growing in watery marsh soil than in the other *Fraxinus excelsiors* on the

higher lands (see Fig. 26 and Table X). The reason of this may possibly be sought in a presumably livelier nitrification in the marsh soil during May and June when a vigorous and dense nettle-vegetation grew up here.

The Betula pendula and the Alnus glutinosa in most cases grew in moist marsh soil and have scarcely suffered from lack of water during the drought. On the contrary it must be supposed that the drought has improved the physical condition of the marsh soil. In both species of trees wood formation was accordingly also particularly lively during most of the drought-period (see Figs. 15 and 17).

According to the figures in Tables XIV and XV there is little positive correlation between wood formation and precipitation during the various summer months (see Table XVI).

Literature gives spare information only about the connection between the course of wood formation and external factors. Most investigators have paid little attention to this question.

MISCHKE (1890) followed wood formation in *Pinus silvestris* and *Picea abies* in a year of pronounced drought (see Table XIV) and found that drought retarded wood formation more in *Pinus silvestris* than in *Picea abies*.

FRIEDRICH (1897, p. 145) found: "... dass die Perioden der grössten oder grösseren Baumzuwachses mit den Perioden der höheren Lufttemperatur, und zwar sowohl hinsichtlich der mittleren als auch der maximalen zusammenfallen".

The investigations were carried out in a rainy area (see Table XIV) and therefore did not give any certain information about the effect of precipitation.

JOST (1892), CHRISTISON (1889), BROWN (1915), LODEWICK (1928) and CHALK (1930) found that wood formation has two annual maximum periods which stand in no relation to external factors.

KORSTIAN (1921) found no correlation between temperature and the course af wood formation in Acer Negundo L. and in Picea pungens ENGEL.

According to MacDougal (1924) cold storms or short periods of drought may cause wood formation to decrease or terminate.

LODEWICK (1925) found that a decline in temperature may cause decreasing wood formation in *Fraxinus americana* L.

The influence of climatic factors on the width of the annual ring has on the other hand been the subject of many investigations. It would take us too far here to deal in detail with all of them. A survey of the older literature is to be found in ANTEVS (1914—17) and of later literature in KNUCHEL (1933) and ORDING (1940).

The investigations in Central- and Northern Europe chiefly comprise *Pinus silvestris* and *Picea abies*.

The main results may be summed up as follows:

In the colder climate of Sweden and Norway the width of the annual ring is chiefly determined by the summer temperature. The precipitation is on the other hand of inferior importance, cf. HESSELMAN (1904), WALLÉN (1917), KOLMODIN (1923 and 1935), EIDE (1926), AANDSTAD (1934), ERLANDSON (1936) and ORDING (1940-41).

In the warmer climates in Central Europe the width of the annual ring is on the other hand determined chiefly by the quantity of precipitation, cf. HENRY (1894), MER (1895), SCHWARZ (1899), CIESLAR (1907), WIEDEMANN (1925), KNUCHEL and BRÜCKMANN (1930) and KNUCHEL (1933).

Here in Denmark LÜTKEN (1891) found that in Bornholm the basal area increment of *Abies alba* is chiefly determined by the annual amount of precipitation: the mean temperature in April—October.

Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no. 3.

HOLMSGAARD (1945) has investigated the connection between precipitation and temperature and the variation in the width of the annual ring in *Picea abies* in Gludsted Plantation, where the soil on the whole is meagre. The measurements were carried out on 510 increment cores from 19 stands in the ages from 38-69 years.

He found that precipitation in April—July has a decisive influence upon the width of the annual ring. Of particular importance is the precipitation in May and June.

On the other hand he could not show any certain relation between the temperature and the width of the annual ring.

# IX. The Thickening of the Cell Walls.

The thickening of the cell walls, which presumably takes place by apposition, continues later in autumn than wood formation (growth in thickness) by cell division and growth in size.

In well-grown broad leaved trees it ceases about the middle of September, in well-grown coniferous trees at the end of September or the beginning of October (see Fig. 33).

SIGMOND (1935) has made the same observation. He writes i. a. (p. 562): "Die Verstärkung der Spätholzeinheiten dauert bei der Fichte und sehr warscheinlich auch bei den übrigen Nadelbäumen unserer Breiten bis in den Herbst hinein an. Auf Grund gewisser Beobachtungen kann man sogar vermuten, dass die Vollendung des Spätholzanteiles erst während



Fig. 33. The cambium of the Larix decidua in the middle of September, 1945. Transverse section taken at breast height from Larix decidua No. 2 (see Table XII). Cell division had ceased, it was at any rate impossible to prove further wood increment. On the other hand the cell walls of the summer wood cells had not yet ceased growing in thickness.

- $s_1$  Young, undifferentiated sieve tube cells which presumably next spring will differentiate into spring tissue.
- *i* The approximate position of the initial cell.
- $w_1$  Young, undifferentiated wood cells, which presumably next spring will differentiate into spring wood.
- $w_2$  Summer wood cells whose cell walls have not yet terminated their growth in thickness. Under the preparation the cell walls have shrunk to a certain extent.

des Winters, ja sogar noch im Laufe der darauffolgenden Wuchszeit erfolgt. Demnach bleibt das Kambium noch lange nach Abschluss der Teilungsvorgänge tätig, indem es die zur abschliessenden Verstärkung der letzten Spätholzeinheiten notwendigen Bildungsstoffe abgibt. Vereinzelte Fälle deuten sogar darauf hin, dass man Kambium während der Wuchszeit die verfügbaren Baustoffe nicht ausschliesslich für die Bildung des neuen Jahreszuwachses und gelegentliche Speicherung verbraucht, sondern auch zur Vollendung des vorletzten Jahres ringes verwendet".

# X. The Change in the Width of the Vessels and Tracheids during the Growth Period.

An attempt has been made at elucidating the above mentioned change numerically and graphically by measurements on a number of sections taken from the stem during the summers of 1944 and 1945 from 1.3 m height.

#### Methods.

The measurements were carried out in the following way:

All vessels or tracheids within a limited area of the last lignified part of the new annual ring were by means of a Zeiss Zeichnenapparat traced on squared paper magnified 80, 120 or 240 times.

The conductive cross section area of the vessels or the tracheids was then calculated by counting how many squares were comprised.

The diameter of the vessels was calculated on the basis of the individual vessels' cross section areas by referring to MAX FRIEDRICH KUNZE: Hilftafeln für Holzmassen-Aufnahmen, 1928.

The period within which the measured sections of the annual ring was formed was approximately determined. The determination was based on curves of the previous course of wood formation. Errors in the determination have scarcely in any case exceeded one week to either side.

#### Tables and Figures.

The results are collected in Tables XVII and XVIII and appear graphically in Figs. 34, 35, 36, and 37.

The numbers in column 3 in the Tables refer to the trees, from which the sections examined are taken.

The mean annual ring width varied between c. 4 and 5 mm.

The total cross section area of the vessels in columns 8, 9 and 10 has been recorded in per cent of the whole cross section area of the examined core of the annual ring.

TABLE XVII. The Diameter of the Vessels and the Total Conductive Cr. Security

1	2	3	4	5	6
Tree species	Vear	Tree No.	Date		Vess
	Tour	100 100	Date	Max. mm.	Min. mm.
Ring porous:					
Fraxinus excelsior	1945	1, 2, 3, 4, 5,	May 11—May 20	0.259	0.064
		6, 7 and 8 (cf.	May 20-June 1	224	24
		Table X)	June 1—June 8	200	21
			June 16—June 25	106	12
			June 25—July 5	69	12
Quercus robur	-	1, 2, 3, 4, 5,	May 17—May 25	0.216	0.033
		6 and 7 (cf.	May 25—June 8	262	33
		Table IX)	June 8—June 20	185	15
			June 20—July 1	62	12
			July 25—Aug. 8	46	12
Ulmus glabra	1944		May 2—May 25	0.161	0.032
			May 25—June 7	179	29
			June 25—July 6	121	15
Diffuse porous:			Aug. 1—Sept. 1	69	9
Carpinus betulus	1944		till June 15	0.081	0.016
			after July 15	48	6
Tilia cordata	-		till June 15	0.078	0.009
				46	7
Prunus avium	-		till June 15	0.073	0.017
			after July 15	47	6
Fagus silvatica	1945	1, 3, 4, 6 and	May 21—June 1	0.084	0.015
		7 (cf. Table	June 1—June 9	100	15
		VII)	June 9—June 24	67	8
			July 13—July 21	50	8
			July 25—Aug. 10	58	8
Sorbus aucuparia	1944		till June 15	0.058	0.009
			after July 15	36	8
Corylus avellana	-		till June 15	0.097	0.007
			after July 15	73	7
Alnus glutinosa	1945	1, 2, 3, 4 and	May 21—June 1	0.069	0.009
		5 (see Table	June 1—June 8	69	9
		VI)	July 10—July 25	82	9
			July 25—Aug. 5	51	7
Acer pseudoplatanus		1, 2, 3 and 4	May 18—June 14	0.122	0.017
		(cf. Table	June 14—July 1	96	17
		VIII)	July 1—July 8	78	17
			July 20—July 30	78	17
A anoulus his second sources	1011		July 30—Aug. 8	74	9
Aesculus hippocasianum	1944		May 21—June 15	0.042	0.017
			June 15—July 5	50	14
Retula pendula	1045	22450	July 15—Aug. 5 May 17 June 14	32	8
Detata penada	1945	2, 3, 4, 3, 0, 7 and 9 (af	May 17—June 14	0.105	0.024
		Table V)	Julie 25—July 5	97	24
		Table V)	July 25—Aug. 6	88	10
		1	Aug. 11—Aug. 29	82	13

Nr. 3

7	8	9	10	11		
Diameter	The T	the Vessels	Area of	Percentage relation between the Total Cr. Sect. Area of the Vessels in Summer		
Mean mm.	Max. %	Min. º/o	Mean º/o	and Spring Wood %		
$0.165 \pm 14.2$	38	20	$30 \pm 1.8$			
$127 \pm 18.4$	35	10	$17 \pm 2.7$			
$72 \pm 18.1$	23	1	10 + 2.6			
43 + 8.6	3	0.5	2 + 0.4			
38 + 2.7	2	0.1	0.7 + 0.2	6		
0.161 + 9.2	38	22	32 + 2.2			
127 + 20.0	42	10	23 + 4.5			
46 + 8.5	8.5	1.3	$3.5 \pm 0.9$			
26 + 1.5	3.5	0.3	2 + 0.4			
$26 \pm 2.2$	3.3	0.7	2 + 0.4	7		
$0.127 \pm 16.1$	24	22	23 + 0.4			
97 + 14.6	16	11	15 + 1.2			
53 + 12.4	11	6	7 + 1.9			
$23 \pm 5.7$	8	2	5 + 1.7	26		
0.045 + 6.0	5.7	2.3	$3.8 \pm 1.5$			
23 + 2.8	2.0	0.9	1.3 + 0.5	34		
0.036 + 6.1	22	7	13 + 1.6			
24 + 3.3	9	2	5 + 1.4	38		
0.057 + 7.5	37	24	28 + 2.4			
26 + 3.6	17	8	12 + 3.6	43		
$0.039 \pm 7.9$	31	21	26 + 1.6			
52 + 7.4	28	15	19 + 2.7			
46 + 4.7	21	10	15 + 1.8			
28 + 3.8	18	4	11 + 2.4			
29 + 2.4	11	8	9 + 1.1	44		
0.034 + 4.7	25	15	20 + 1.8			
20 + 3.2	13	5	9 + 1.2	45		
0.026 + 3.5	24	9	16 + 1.9			
21 + 3.2	12	6	8 + 0.7	50		
0.041 + 7.1	29	13	20 + 3.0			
33 + 6.5	30	14	21 + 2.5			
37 + 7.5	18	12	15 + 1.2			
29 + 5.1	9	4	7 + 0.8	54		
0.062 + 9.2	10	5	8 + 1.1			
54 + 8.4	7	4	6 + 0.7			
$45 \pm 7.1$	8	4	6 + 0.8			
$48 \pm 7.1$	6	3	$5 \pm 0.2$			
$43 \pm 10.3$	5	2	4 + 0.8	64		
0.026 + 8.3	10	6	8 + 0.5			
31 + 3.5	7	5	6 + 0.6			
18 + 2.5	8	3	6 + 0.8	75		
0.060 + 1.6	16	3	8 + 1.6			
48 + 1.1	11	6	8 + 0.7			
47 + 2.4	11	5	7 + 1.2			
$47 \pm 1.8$	9	4	6 + 0.9	81		

Area in Wood Formed within Different Times of the Growth Period.

69

Nr. 3

TABLE XVIII. The Cr. Sect. Area of the Tracheids in Wood

1	2	3	4	5 The C	6 Cr. Sect. Areas
Tree species	Year	Tree No.	Date	Max. m²	Individua Min. m²
Larix decidua	1945	1, 2, 3, and 4	May 18—June 5 June 25—July 1 July 10—July 20	0.00212	0.00044
Picea abies	-	1, 2, 3, and 4 and 10	Aug. 1—Aug. 10 May 17—June 13 June 25—July 3	0.00176	 0.00036 
			July 15—July 23 Aug. 1—Aug. 10 Aug. 15—Aug. 25	-	-

# The Difference between Spring and Summer Wood and the Time of the Inception of Summer Wood.

1. Definition.

According to an arrangement of The International Association of Wood Anatomists (1933) spring wood = Früholz or Weitholz—is in the future to be called early wood, and summer wood = Spätholz or Engholz is to be called late wood.

The following definition was at the same time given:

Early wood is the loosely built wood with large cells in the first part of the growth ring. Late wood is the densely built wood with small cells in the later formed part of the growth ring.

WIKSTEN (1944) uses the terms spring and summer wood. He gives the following definition for *Picea abies* and *Pinus silvestris* (see also MORK 1928)<sup>1</sup>:

As summer wood must thus be considered that part of the growth ring where twice the common cell wall constantly is equal to or larger than the lumen, while the remainder is considered as spring wood.

In such cases where the relation between the common cell wall and the lumen does not decline to 2.0 the relation between the tangential and the radial cell cross section  $\left(\frac{t}{r}\right)$  must be used which for

Picea (gran) = 1.12 Pinus (tall) = 1.11 or rounded off for both species = 1.10.

The part of the annual ring is thus to be considered as summer wood where the relation between the cells' tangential and radial cross section  $\left(\frac{t}{r}\right)$  constantly is equal to or larger than 1.10.

CHALK (1937) considers the small-porous part of the annual ring in the ring porous species as the equivalent of the whole annual ring in the diffuse porous. He writes (p. 326):

"It is suggested that the late or summer wood of ring-porous species is the equivalent of the whole ring in diffuse-porous species, and that the pore-zone represents an additional, highly specialised tissue.

The term early wood should imply early development in relation to the foliage and be limited to softwoods and ring-porous hardwoods".

<sup>1</sup> The Swedish text is translated into English.
N	r.	3
		~

7	8	9	10	11		
of the Fracheids	The	Total Cr. Sect. A the Tracheids	Area of	Percentage Relation between the Tota		
Mean m²	Max. Min. Mean <sup>0</sup> / <sub>0</sub> <sup>0</sup> / <sub>0</sub>		Mean º/o	Spring and Summer Wood		
0.00114	71	48	$61\pm5.8$			
37	50	26	$37 \pm 4.9$			
29	40	23	$34\pm3.7$			
11	26	14	$22\pm2.7$	46		
0.00088	62	49	$57 \pm 2.5$			
22	55	22	$38\pm5.2$			
16	35	22	$30 \pm 2.5$			
15	38	12	$21\pm4.6$			
8	23	10	18 + 2.3	34		

Formed within Various Times during the Growth Period.

For purely practical reasons the old-established term for spring and summer wood in Denmark is retained in this paper even if we agree with O. G. PETERSEN (1920, p. 70) that the term is somewhat misleading.

In cases where it is difficult to distinguish between spring and summer wood such wood as is formed before June 15th is considered as spring wood, while wood formed after July 15th is to be termed summer wood.

The first formed large-porous wood in the ring porous species is considered as spring wood.

#### 2. The Successive Order of the Formation of Summer Wood.

The formation of summer wood begins first in the young branches and later in the stem. It may often be far advanced in the branches at a time, when spring wood is still being formed in the stem, see PRIESTLEY and SCOTT (1936).

### 3. A Comparison between the Tree Species.

#### a) HARDWOODS.

According to the difference between the size and total conductive cross section area of the vessels in spring and summer wood in the stem the hardwoods may be ranged in the following succession from typical ring porous to typically diffuse porous trees:

# $\alpha$ ) Ring porous.

Characteristics of the structure of the annual ring: Great difference between spring and summer wood. The vessels in the spring wood are very wide. In cross sections they are conspicuous to the naked eye as small cavities. The vessels in the summer wood are very small and scantily distributed in a tissue of wood fibres and wood parenchyma. The transition between spring and summer wood is abrupt.

Quercus robur and Fraxinus excelsior are typically ring porous trees.



Fig. 34. The mean-diameter of the vessels formed in wood at different times in summer.

The first formed vessels in spring wood are very wide (mean diameter 0.16 mm) and cover scarcely one third of the total cross section area of the spring wood (see Table XVII and Figs. 34 and 35).

The diameter of the vessels and their total conductive cross section area is strongly decreasing till mid-June. About this time the formation of summer wood begins.

The summer wood contains only few and small vessels with a total conductive cross section area of only  $2 \frac{0}{0}$  of the total cross section area of the summer wood.



Fig. 35. The total conductive cross section area of the vessels in percentage of the cross section area of the wood formed.

Ulmus glabra is somewhat closer to the diffuse porous types.

It differs from *Quercus robur* and *Fraxinus excelsior* by having smaller spring vessels, by a more even transition from spring to summer wood, and by having more vessels in its summer wood (see Table XVII and Figs. 34 and 35).

# $\beta$ ) Diffuse porous.

Characteristics of the structure of the annual ring: Small vessels both in spring and summer wood. Under good growth conditions the transition from spring to summer wood is even.



Fig. 36. The mean and cross section area of the individual tracheids in wood formed at different times in the course of summer.

Fagus silvatica, Alnus glutinosa, Prunus avium, Sorbus aucuparia, Tilia cordata, Corylus avellana and (Carpinus betulus) are those of the diffuse porous types that are closest to the ring porous.

In summer wood there are considerably fewer and smaller vessels than in spring wood. The difference is so conspicuous that in most cases it may easily be seen on cross sections under a good magnifying glass.

In Prunus avium and Fagus silvatica the total cross section area of the vessels in spring wood is almost as large as in *Quercus robur* and *Fraxinus excelsior* (see Table XVII and Figs. 34 and 35).

Carpinus betulus has very few vessels in its spring as well as in its summer wood.

In Fague silvatica the commencement of summer wood formation may averagely be considered to take place from the end of June, in Alnus glutinosa from mid-July.

Betula pendula, Alnus glutinosa and Aesculus hippocastanum are typically diffuse porous trees.

The number and size of the vessels are on the whole alike both in spring and



Fig. 37. The total conductive cross section area of the tracheids in percentage of the cross section area of the wood formed.

summer wood (see Table XVII and Figs. 34 and 35). Even under the microscope it may often be difficult to notice any distinct difference between spring and summer wood.

The border of the annual ring is therefore often not sharply outlined.

The number of vessels is relatively small both in spring and summer wood. In spring wood their total conductive cross section area thus makes only  $8 \ 0/0$  of the total cross section area of the spring wood.

### b) CONIFERS.

Characteristics of the structure of the annual ring: Considerable difference between spring and summer wood. The spring-tracheids are thin-walled and have a fairly large volume. The summer-tracheids are thick-walled, somewhat compressed radially, and have a small volume only.

The transition between spring and summer wood is most often even.

*Picea abies* and *Larix decidua* have almost the same annual ring structure (see Table XVIII and Figs. 36 and 37).

The total conductive cross section area in the spring wood is double as large as that of the ring porous types (comp. Tables XVII and XVIII).

The commencement of summer wood formation may averagely be considered to take place from the beginning of July (see Fig. 36).

Literature gives the following information about the time of the inception of summer wood formation in the different tree species:

Quercus robur: The middle of June (MER 1892c and ANTEVS 1914-17).

The middle of July (PRIESTLEY and Scott 1936).

Fraxinus excelsior: The middle of June (LODEWICK 1925, CHALK 1930 and PRIESTLEY 1936).

Picea abies: The middle of August (MER 1892c).

The end of July (WIELER 1898).

Picea rubra L.: The middle of July (REES 1929).

#### 4. The Width of the Annual Ring.

In hardwoods the percentage of summer wood increases with the width of the annual ring, and in the conifers it decreases at the same rate (cf. R. HARTIG (1891) and ANTEVS (1917).

According to WIKSTEN (1944, p. 457) the width of the transition zone between spring and summer wood in conifers (*Picea abies* and *Pinus silvestris*) increases with the width of the annual ring.

#### The Cause of the Difference between Spring and Summer Wood.

#### 1. Literature.

Ever since the first half of last century botanists have tried to find the cause of the difference between spring and summer wood.

Literature offers many more or less hypothetic explanations. Some of the most important are the following:

### a) DIFFERENCE IN NUTRITION.

SCHACHT (1856) and R. HARTIG (1891) think that the reason is that the cambium is better supplied with food substances at the height of the summer season and late in summer than early in summer, when the temperature still is relatively low and the assimilation has not yet reached full height.

WIELER (1887) and KLEBS (1914) also seek the reason in the difference of the food supply of the cambium. But in contrast to the above mentioned investigators they think that summer wood formation is due to declining food supplies.

ANDRÉ (1920) has shown by experiments that spring wood is only formed when there is an excess of nutrients and the water supply is abundant.

#### b) BARK TENSION.

KRAUS (1867), SACHS (1868), DE VRIES (1872, 1874, 1875, and 1876) and BURNS (1910) maintain that summer wood formation is due to increasing bark pressure on the wood cylinder, when this in the course of summer increases in circumference owing to wood increment.

KRABBE (1882 and 1884) and WIELER (1885 and 1887) have by experiments shown that this assumption is incorrect.

#### c) TURGOR.

Russow (1881) seeks the reason of summer wood formation in declining turgor.

#### d) water content.

LUTZ (1895) thinks that summer wood formation is due to decreasing water content in the bark and the young wood regions.

#### e) MECHANICAL POINTS OF VIEW.

METZGER (1908) explains the difference between spring and summer wood from purely mechanical points of view.

# f) teleology

HABERLANDT (1884), STRASBURGER (1891), R. HARTIG (1894) and HOLTERMANN (1907) explain the difference from teleological points of view. The spring wood is wide porous, because the trees at this time of the year, when leaf expansion takes place, require great water supplies. Later in summer when the foliage has hardened and the request for water supply decreases so much and extensive water conductive tissue is no longer necessary. Therefore at this time more thick-walled wood elements are formed to strengthen "... die Festigkeit des Stammes" (HABERLANDT 1884, p. 638).

## g) HORMONE EFFECT.

COSTER (1927) has in tropical countries made the observation that wood of the spring wood type is only formed as long as foliage is developing. When the leaves are fully expanded summer wood formation begins.

He advances the theory that wood formation is under influence of growth hormones issuing from the foliage. The difference between spring and summer wood he explains in this way, that other hormones are formed in the foliage while it is developing than in the fully developed leaves.

## h) VASCULAR CONNECTION.

PRIESTLEY and Scott (1936) have undertaken some investigations of summer wood formation in the ring porous types. They found that only the large vessels in the spring wood stand in direct connection with the leaf traces. The small vessels in summer wood on the other hand issue from the bud scales and the embryonal shoot- and leaf-organs in the new formed buds.

# 2. A Comparison between the Length of the Shoot Extension Period and the Difference between the Size and Number of the Vessels in Spring and Summer Wood.

When considering the material from the investigations carried on in the first year I come to the result, that the difference between the size and number of the vessels in spring and summer wood may possibly be explained by a corresponding difference between the length of the shoot extension in the individual tree species. To try out the theory I measured the length of the shoot extension period in 1945 in the species of trees mentioned in Table XIX. The measurements were all carried out on trees of good growth, and at 7—14 days interval I measured the elongation growth in respectively,

- a) the three uppermost vigorous top branches,
- b) and the three lowest vigorous lateral branches.

Then the length of the shoot extension period in each species was calculated by taking the mean figure for the duration of the shoot extension in both categories of branches. The results are recorded in Table XIX.

1	2	3	4	5	6
Tree Species	No. of Trees	Age	Avera Top branches (a) days	ge for Lower branches (b) days	All branches $\frac{(a + b)}{2}$ days
Hardwoods:					
a) Ring porous					
Quercus robur	7	10-15	35	20	27.5
Fraxinus excelsior	8	7—12	43	20	31.5
Ulmus glabra	6	10—20	45	40	42.5
b) Diffuse porous					
Fagus silvatica	7	10-15	47	39	43
Sorbus aucuparia	2	c. 15	61	43	52
Prunus avium	1	c. 10	68	-	(60)
Corylus avellana	3	<b>c.</b> 10	68	56	62
Acer pseudoplatanus	9	10-20	77	53	65
Alnus glutinosa	5	10-15	92	48	70
Betula pendula	9	5—12	105	68	86.5
Conifers:					
Picea abies	5	10	70	45	57.5
Larix decidua	5	7	(110)	(70)	(90)

TABLE XIX. The Length of the Shoot Extension Period in 1945.

In Table XVII in column 11 is recorded how great the difference is between the total conductive cross section area of the Vessels in spring and summer wood respectively in the said hardwoods. The difference is recorded in per cent.

In Fig. 38 these percentages are given as ordinates, while the length of the shoot extension period (Table XIX, column 6) is given as abscissa.



Fig. 38. A comparison between the mean length of the shoot extension period and the percentage relationship between the total conductive cross section area of the vessels in summer and spring wood.

It appears from the figure that there almost exists an inverse proportion between the length of the shoot extension period and the difference between the total conductive cross section area of vessels in spring wood and summer wood.

After this result there is reason to suppose that the size and the distribution of the vessels within the annual ring in the individual broad leaved trees, and thus one of the most essential differences between wood formation in spring and summer wood, is due to a difference in the length of the shoot extension period, comp. COSTER (1927). This explanation is confirmed by the fact that there, so to speak, is no difference between spring and summer wood in tropic tree species with leaves and shoots developing all the year round.

The reason of this connection may presumably be sought in:

a) The close connection which according to PRIESTLEY and Scott (1936) exists between formation of vessels in the leaves and large vessels in the wood.

b) Relatively larger hormone production during the last part of the summer in

trees with a long shoot- and leaf-developing period than in trees with a short one, cf. pp. 34-36.

c) Presumably it is also of importance how long time passes between the differentiation of the vessels in the young branches and lower down in the stem. A long interval in time (the diffuse porous) must be supposed to cause a more even distribution of vessels than a short interval (the ring porous), comp. the figures in Table XVII, column 11, with the time that passes between the beginning of wood formation at bud base and at breast height (Figs. 7 and 8).

# XI. Water Transportation.

On the basis of the figures in Tables XVII and XVIII and HUBER and SCHMIDT'S (1936) figures for the velocity of the water flow some estimates have been made concerning the amount of transportation in *Quercus robur*, *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Fagus silvatica*, *Alnus glutinosa*, *Betula pendula*, *Acer pseudoplatanus*, *Picea abies* and *Larix decidua*.

TABLE XX. Calculation of Water Transportation in the Middle of the Day in the Outermost Annual Ring in a 20 cms Thick Stem, when the Annual Ring is 5 mm Wide (diameter increment = 1 cm).

. 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
		Mean	Total con-	Water of	Transportation in the Middle the Day at Breast Hight		
Tree Species	Tree	annual ring width	ductive cross section area	velocity	per cm² annual ring	in the whole outermost annual ring	relative for Quercus robur
	No.	mm.	⁰/₀	m/hour	cm³/hour	Liter/hour	100
Ring porous:							
Quercus robur	1, 2, 3, 5 and 7	4.9	8.2	43.6	358	10.74	100
Fraxinus excelsior	1, 2, 3, 6, 7 and 8	5.1	8.8	25.7	226	6.78	64
Diffuse porous:							
Alnus glutinosa	2, 3, 4 and 5	5.0	11.4	2.00	23	0.69	6
Fagus silvatica	1, 3, 4, 6 and 7	5.0	12.6	1.07	14	$0.42^{1}$	4
Acer pseudoplatanus.	1 and 3	4.8	5.4	2.40	13	0.39	4
Betula pendula	3, 5 and 6	4.7	7.2	1.60	12	0.36	3
Conifers:							
Picea abies	3 and 6	5.0	39.4	(0.50)	(20)	(0.64)	(6)
Larix decidua	3 and 4	5.5	47.3	2.1	99	2.97	28

<sup>1</sup> Water transportation in the outermost annual ring in a 120-year-old *Fagus silvatica* quality class 2 is after corresponding calculations 0.66 liters/hour. DETLEV MÜLLER (1943, p. 161) has by other methods approximately estimated it at 0.7 liters/hour.

80

# Water Transportation in the Outermost Annual Ring.

In Table XX is shown a calculation of the water transportation in the middle of the day through the outermost annual ring in a 20 cms thick stem when the annual ring is 5 mm wide.

The figures in column 2 refer to the trees described in Tables V—XIII. They are here selected in such a way, that the mean annual ring width is as close to 5 mm as possible (column 3).

The total conductive cross section area (column 4) is given in per cent of the cross section area of the whole annual ring. It is calculated after curves for the relative course of wood formation (Figs. 16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 26, 28 and 30) and curves for the total conductive cross section area in wood formed within various times of the growth period.

The velocity of flow (column 5) is taken after HUBER and SCHMIDT (1936).

In the ring porous species (Quercus robur and Fraxinus excelsior) the water transportation in the outermost annual ring is 10 to 30 time larger than in the diffuse porous (Alnus glutinosa, Fagus silvatica, Acer pseudoplatanus and Betula pendula).

As the conductive cross section area is approximately the same for both groups taken in sections the difference is chiefly due to the much greater velocity of flow in the ring porous species (column 5).

In *Picea abies* the velocity of flow must be supposed to be very small (see HUBER and SCHMIDT 1936, p. 411). Thanks to the large conductive cross section area the total water transportation in the outermost annual ring is nevertheless just as great as in the best yielding among the diffuse porous.

In *Larix decidua* the velocity of flow is approximately as in the diffuse porous types (*Acer pseudoplatanus* and *Alnus glutinosa*). But on account of the much larger conductive cross section area the water transportation in the outermost annual ring is 5 to 10 times larger.

### **Total Water Transportation.**

In order to be able to calculate the total water transportation we must know how many annual rings are engaged in it.

According to RUMBOLD (1920), PRIESTLEY, SCOTT and MALINS (1933) and HUBER and SCHMIDT (1936) the water transportation in the ring porous species almost exclusively takes place in the outermost annual ring.

In the diffuse porous on the other hand it takes place through several annual rings. As to how many we have only uncertain information. WIELER (1888) states that in branches of *Fagus silvatica* 3.6, and in the stems of *Betula pendula* over 15 annual rings are water conductive. DETLEV MÜLLER (1943) has approximately estimated that in 120-year-old *Fagus silvatica* between 10 and 20 of the outermost annual rings are engaged in water transportation.

In June 1944 I have carried out the following investigations of how many annual rings participate in the water transportation in *Quercus robur*, *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Fagus silvatica*, *Acer pseudoplatanus* and *Betula pendula*.

Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no. 3.

11

At a week's interval a tree was felled within each species. The trees were 15 to 20 years old. They were all well-grown, stood in close stands and had medium sized crowns.

The trees were felled at about nine o'clock. They were felled in such a way, that they did not fall to the ground, but remained standing, leaning against neighbouring trees.

Immediately after the felling the trees were placed in containers with water stained with red ink.<sup>1</sup>

The weather was each time warm with sunshine and a cloudless sky. About 6 p.m. the stems were cut and examined.

The following annual rings participated in the water transportation:

Quercus robur and Fraxinus excelsior (ring porous):

1. Annual ring (under formation): All vessels.

2. — — : Most of the small and c.  $\frac{1}{5}$  of the large vessels.

3. - - : C. one half of the small and a few of the large vessels.

4. - : A few small vessels.

According to estimates roundly speaking 75  $^{0}/_{0}$  of the total water transportation take place in the outermost annual ring.

Fagus silvatica, Acer pseudoplatanus and Betula pendula (diffuse porous):

Almost all vessels in all annual rings (up to 20). But the velocity of the water transportation decreases much inwards. It is 5 to 15 times greater in the outermost than in the innermost annual rings, comp. R. HARTIG (1888a, p. 223) and ANTEVS (1914-17, p. 353).

After measurements and curves water transportation in the outermost annual ring is calculated at:

Fagus silvatica	$10.4 \ ^{0}/_{0}$	of	the	total	water	transportation
Acer pseudoplatanus	9.1 °/0	-	-	-	-	-
Betula pendula	8.9 °/0	-	-	-	-	-

After these results and the figures in column 7 in Table XX the total water transportation in the middle of the day in a 20 cms thick stem with 5 mm wide annual rings may be estimated at:

Ring porous:		
Quercus robur	14.1	liter/hour
Fraxinus excelsior	9.1	
Diffuse porous:		
Fagus silvatica	4.0	
Acer pseudoplatanus	4.3	
Betula pendula	4.0	

<sup>1</sup> First experiments were made with a solution of methyl blue which HUBER and SCHMIDT used (1936) in some of their experiments. The result was not, however, completely satisfactory as the colouring matter was strongly absorbed by the cell walls of the vessels and therefore took comparatively long time to enter the vessels. Diluted red ink rose considerably quicker.

We have too little information about the velocity of the flow at other hours of the day and night to undertake a calculation of the total transpiration during 24 hours.

HUBER and SCHMIDT (1936, Table 5) give some figures for the velocity of the flow in the evening in branches and stem. According to these figures the transpiration flow between 6 and 8 p.m. in a c. 20 cms thick stem with 5 mm wide annual rings may approximately be calculated at:

Ring porous:		
Quercus robur	1.1	liter/hour
Fraxinus excelsior	2.2	-
Diffuse porous:		
Fagus silvatica	2.7	-
Acer pseudoplatanus	1.4	

From the calculations appears that in the middle of the day the transpiration flow is two to three times greater in the ring porous than in the diffuse porous species. In the evening it is on the other hand almost alike within both groups.

This seems to indicate, that the water transportation in the ring porous types shows a greater adaptability towards the much increased transpiration in the middle of the day than in the diffuse porous types. The reason must be sought in the much larger vessels, the strong concentration of the transportation tissue (chiefly the outermost annual ring), and a wide margin in the velocity of flow.

From the point of view of production it presumably means that the ring porous types<sup>1</sup> utilize the warm, sunny hours of the day relatively better than the diffuse porous (the stomata keep open longer?). Possibly it is the reverse in the hours of morning and evening.

# XII. Comparisons.

### 1. Hardwoods.

In Table XXI the above main results are collected in a graphic summary of the anatomic-physiological differences among the hardwoods.

Compared with Figs. 5—8 it appears that the ring porous species differ from the diffuse porous by:

- a) Much wider spring vessels and smaller and fewer summer vessels.
- b) Much higher top yield in water transportation.
- c) 75  $^{0}/_{0}$  of the total water transportation take place in the outermost annual ring against only 9–10  $^{0}/_{0}$  in the diffuse porous.

<sup>1</sup> The ring porous are all light trees (see DETLEV MÜLLER 1943, p. 166). After investigations by  $St_{L-FELT}$  (1924) and BOYSEN JENSEN (1932) the light leaves of the light trees may get a considerably higher production capacity by strong light (full daylight) than the leaves of the shade trees.

11\*

TABLE XXI. Graphic Summary of the Anatomica

1	2	3	4	5	6	
Tree Species	Mean diameter of the vessels in spring wood		Percentage rela- tion between the total conductive cr. sect. area in summer and spring wood	Water Transporta- tion. Highest velo- city the middle of the day at breast heigth	The water trans- portation in the outermost annual ring in % of the total water trans- portation	
	mm.	m.	°/₀	m/hour	º/o	
Ring porous:						
Fraxinus excelsior	0.165		6	25.7		
Quercus robur	0.161	>1	7	43.6	75	
Ulmus glabra	0.127		26	6.0		
Diffuse porous:						
Carpinus betulus	0.045		34	1.25	-	
Tilia cordata	0.036		38		-	
Prunus avium	0.057		43	-	-	
Fagus silvatica	0.039		44	1.09	10.4	
Sorbus aucuparia	0.034		45	-	-	
Corylus avellana	0.026	< 0.5	50	-		
Alnus glutinosa	0.041		54	2.0	-	
Acer pseudoplatanus	0.062		64	2.4	9.1	
Aesculus hippocastanum	0.026		75	0.80	-	
Betula pendula	0.060		81	1.6	8.9	

The figures in column 3 are quoted after Detlev Müller (1943, Table 3). The dates for leaf expansion in column 7 are quoted after Bruun (1919).

d) Averagely later leafing (except in elm).

- e) Shorter interval between bud break and complete leafing.
- f) Shorter shoot extension period (if no repeated shoots are formed).
- g) Much shorter interval between the commencement of wood formation at bud- and stem-base.
- h) More active wood formation in May and June.

1	2	3	4
Tree Species	Conduction Tissue. The mean cr. sect. area of the tracheids in spring wood	Percentage relation be- tween the total conductive cr. sect. area in summer and spring wood	Water Transportation. The highest velocity in the middle of the day at breast height
	mm²	0/o	m/hour
Picea abies	0.00088	34	(0.50)
Larix decidua	0.00114	46	2.1
* Short Shoot.			

TABLE XXII. Graphic Summary of the Anatomical-Physiologica

7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14		
Leafing and Shoot Extension			Perio						
Mean date of leafing	No. of Days between bud break and com- plete leafing Days	Length of shoot extension period Days	No. of Days be- tween beginning of wood forma- tion at bud base and at breast height Days	At breast height wood formation begins the fol- lowing no. of days before after bud break bud break		At breast height wood formation begins the fol- lowing no. of days before bud break batter bud break bays		Relative annual ring formation per July 1.	Force-readiness in winter
			Days	Days	Days				
<sup>5</sup> /6 29/5	18 15 —	32 28 43	2 2 2	8 6 0—3	  	$ \begin{array}{c} 58\\ 44\\ - \end{array} \right\} $	Difficult to force		
17/-	28	_	9		7	_			
	_	_	11		6	_			
_		(60)	19		15	-			
11/5	14	43	16		14	40	Difficult to force		
	_	52	16		11	_			
		62	27		26	-			
16/5	25	70	35		35	47 )			
12/5	24	65	29		23	38	Comparatively		
9/5	-	-	27		22	- (	easy to force		
13/5	24	87	32		31	40			

Physiological Differences among the Hardwoods.

Nr. 3

The growth periodicity of the ring porous types seems to be more autonomously determined and the growth to have a more marked optimum than in the diffuse porous types.

In the typically ring porous types (*Quercus robur* and *Fraxinus excelsior*) the buds, irrespective of temperature, do not begin to move till May. But then things also happen in quick succession. Leafing proceeds quickly, shoot extension terminates in the course of relatively short time, and in branches as well as in stem comparatively much wood is formed in May and June.

Differences	between	Picea	abies	and	Larix	decidua

	5	6	7	8	9
		Periodici	ty of Wood Formati	on	
Length of the shoot extension period		No. Days between inception of wood forma- tion at bud base and at breast height	At breast height wood formatic begins the following no. of day before bud break after bud bre		Relative annual ring formation per July 1
	Days	Days	Days	Days	0/0
	58	8	5		50
	(90)	6		36*	50
		11			10

Outside the growing period the ring porous (Quercus robur and Fraxinus excelsior) are very difficult to force, cf. LAKON (1912) and KÜHN (1916).

The diffuse porous types are more sensitive towards the increase in temperature in spring. If the latter is mild the buds begin to swell already in March. But it takes a long time before the growth really increases. Leafing, shoot extension, and wood formation begin at a slow rate. Wood formation takes a long time before it spreads in basipetal direction. In the stem between one third and one half of the annual ring only is formed in May and June

Outside the growth period the typical diffuse porous (Acer pseudoplatanus, Aesculus hippocastanum and Betula pendula) are comparatively easy to force.

Among the diffuse porous Carpinus betulus, Tilia cordata, Prunus avium and Fagus silvatica are nearest the ring porous. Particularly Fagus silvatica has a few qualities in common with them. Its growth periodicity thus seems to be autonomously determined. It develops fairly late in spring. Its shoot extension period is relatively short. Outside the growth period it is very difficult to force, cf. JOHANNSEN (1906), HOWARD (1906), MOLISH (1908 and 1909), WEBER (1911), LAKON (1912), and KÜHN (1916).

There is some reason with DETLEV MÜLLER (1943, p. 165) to believe that the diffuse porous types phylogenetically are older than the ring porous ones. "Ring porous condition is a higher development and more specialised."

In the anatomy and physiology of the ring and diffuse porous types a certain adaptation may be traced to the climatic conditions under which the trees have their greatest distribution.

The ring porous species chiefly grow within the area of summer green forests of hardwoods<sup>1</sup> (see DENGLER (1930, Table I)). In the warmest part of this area (*Castanetum*) they are conspicuous: *Castanea*, *Quercus*, *Carya*, *Morus*, *Robinia* and *Ailanthus*. With HUBER and SCHMIDT (1936, p. 404) they may be considered as outposts in the warm and relatively dry border areas towards the steppes where on account of their greater top yield in water transportation it is easier for them to grow than the diffuse porous.

To the North and in direction from the marked continental towards the Atlantic climate the ring porous decrease in species and in dominance. At the same time the diffuse porous species spread and particularly those which are nearest the ring porous types. In the intermediate and northern parts of the area of the summer green forests of hardwoods (*Fagetum*) the beech (*Fagus*) and the oak (*Quercus*) are dominant with an intermixture of *Fraxinus*, Ulmus, Tilia, Carpinus, Acer, and Alnus.

In the northernmost and coldest part of the area the ring porous are less conspicuous.

Within the area of conifers in the cold climates only diffuse porous trees are on the whole to be found. At the polar forest border there are of hardwoods only *Populus trémula, Salix* and *Betula pendula* (typically diffuse porous species).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the tropical countries there are almost no ring porous trees, cf. FORSAITH (1926, pp. 83-84). On the whole the number of ring porous species is only small. CHALK (1937, p. 325) mentions that out of 1700 genera collected in Imperial Forestry Institute less than 3 % have species with ring porous wood.

# 2. Conifers.

In Table XXII a graphic summary is made of the most important anatomicalphysiological differences between *Picea abies* and *Larix decidua*.

Physiologically they are nearest the diffuse porous species. They both show adaptation to a relatively cold and moist climate, which fact is confirmed through their distribution.

# XIII. Summary.

1. During the resting stage in winter the cell walls of the cambium generally appear sharply and distinctly outlined under the microscope. In transverse sections the cell form is most often markedly rectangular.

2. When temperature rises in March or April the appearance of the cambium changes. The walls of the cells become semi-transparent and the protoplasm proceeds from a gel- to a sol-like condition. At the same time the radial cell walls begin to extend (size increment) and the cambial ring increases in width.

3. The change (the preliminary change of the cambium) begins at bud base end from here spreads in basipetal direction. In *Picea sitchenses* and *Pseudotsuga taxifolia* it starts at a mean temperature of  $4^{\circ}$  to  $5^{\circ}$  C. In *Pinus silvestris, Larix decidua, Picea abies, Betula pendula, Alnus glutinosa, Corylus avellana, Carpinus betulus, Ulmus glabra, Tilia cordata, Aesculus hippocastanum, Acer pseudoplatanus, Prunus avium* and *Sorbus aucuparia* it starts after a few warm spring days at the end of March or the beginning of April with a maximum temperature over  $12^{\circ}$  C. In *Fagus silvatica, Quercus robur* and *Fraxinus excelsior* the change in the cambium does not set in till the last half of April. In the latter species the time seems to be more autonomously determined than in the former.

4. When the cambium is in the preliminary change it is sensitive to frost.

5. One to four weeks after the change has started in the cambium cell division begins. It starts at bud base and from here spreads in basipetal direction.

6. In the ring porous species cell division begins at bud base one to nine days before bud break. In the diffuse porous species with considerable shoot extension before bud break (*Sorbus aucuparia*, *Acer pseudoplatanus*, *Aesculus hippocastanum* and *Prunus avium*) it starts up to a week before bud break; in the other diffuse porous at the earliest two days before bud break.

In conifers it begins five to fifteen days before bud break.

7. Cell division spreads quicker in basipetal direction in the ring porous species than in the diffuse porous and the conifers.

In the ring porous and the evergreen conifers cell division begins in the lower part of the trunk some days before or at the latest simultaneously with bud break. In the diffuse porous and *Larix decidua*, on the other hand, it does not begin till after the leaves (the short shoots in *Larix decidua*) are completely or partly expanded.

87

8. In the roots cell division only takes place when the temperature of the soil has reached up between  $10^{\circ}$  to  $13^{\circ}$  C.

9. The elongation growth of the roots precedes their growth in thickness.

10. The reason that cambial activity begins at bud base and from there spreads in basipetal direction is that growth hormones are formed in the buds of the trees when they begin to swell in spring. From the buds (and inflorescence) the growth hormones proceed down through the branch-, stem- and root-cambium and stimulate it to a resumption of growth.

11. There is reason to assume that the change in the cambium before its preliminary change is due to a beginning downward progress of growth hormones from the swelling buds.

12. In the young branches the main part of the annual ring is formed within the period when the liveliest shoot extension takes place.

13. The length of the wood formation period increases gradually from the young branches and down into the stem, and a relatively greater part of the annual ring is formed later in summer.

14. There is a difference in the course of the wood formation in the stems of the various species of trees. They may be divided into three groups:

Fraxinus excelsior: Wood formation is lively from the very start. About one half of the annual ring are formed in May and June. After July there is only slight wood formation.

*Picea abies* and *Larix decidua*: Wood formation is lively from the start as in *Fraxinus excelsior*. About half of the annual ring is formed in May and June. After July wood formation is not particularly active.

Betula pendula, Fagus silvatica, Alnus glutinosa, Acer pseudoplatanus and (Quercus robur): Some time often elapses before wood formation actually becomes active. Only between one third and one half of the annual ring is formed in May and June. On the other hand wood formation is very lively in August. Between one third and one fourth of the annual ring is formed in this month and during the first days of September.

15. The less the trees grow in thickness the earlier in summer wood formation declines. The reason may be sought in external as well as in internal nutrition-physio-logical conditions.

16. In well-grown trees wood formation in the stem terminates in the last half of August or the beginning of September.

17. In the roots wood formation often continues into October.

18. In April, May, June, and July there is a distinct positive correlation between wood formation and temperature.

19. Only in *Picea abies* can it be proved with certainty that protracted drought retards wood formation.

20. The growth in thickness (apposition) of the cell walls terminates two to four weeks later than the cell division.

21. In the ring porous species (Quercus robur, Fraxinus excelsior, and Ulmus

glabra) summer wood formation begins about mid-June, in beech at the end of June, in Alnus glutinosa about mid-July, and in Picea abies and Larix decidua about the beginning of July.

22. The diameter of the spring vessels is approximately three times larger in the ring porous than in the diffuse porous species.

23. The total conductive cross section area for spring and summer wood in sections is averagely about equally large in the ring porous and the diffuse porous species. In conifers it is four to nine times greater than in hardwoods.

24. There exists an almost inverse proportionality between the length of the shoot extension period and the difference between the total conductive cross section area of the vessels in spring and summer wood.

The difference between the distribution of the vessels within the annual ring, and thus the difference between spring and summer wood in hardwoods, may therefore partly be referred to a difference in the length of the period of the shoot- and leaf-expansion.

25. In the ring porous species (Quercus robur and Fraxinus excelsior) the water transportation in the outermost annual ring is in the middle of the day ten to thirty times greater than in the diffuse porous species (Alnus glutinosa, Fagus silvatica, Acer pseudoplatanus and Betula pendula).

26. The difference is due to the much greater velocity of flow in the ring porous species.

27. In *Picea abies* the water transportation in the outermost annual ring is in the middle of the day almost of the same size as in the diffuse porous species. In *Larix decidua* it is five to ten times greater.

28. In the ring porous species (*Quercus robur* and *Fraxinus excelsior*) the whole water transportation takes place in the four outermost annual rings. 75  $^{0}/_{0}$  of the total water transportation, however, take place in the outermost annual ring.

29. In the diffuse porous species (*Fagus silvatica*, Acer pseudoplatanus, and Betula pendula) the water transportation takes place through many annual rings (over twenty). But the velocity of the flow is five to fifteen times greater in the outermost than in the innermost annual rings. Approximately  $10^{0}/_{0}$  of the total water transportation take place in the outermost annual ring.

30. In the middle of the day the total transpiration flow is two to three times greater in the ring porous than in the diffuse porous trees. In evening and morning it is on the other hand alike within the two groups.

From the view of production this presumably means that the ring porous utilize the warm and sunny hours about noon relatively better than the diffuse porous. In the hours of the morning and evening the case is probably reversed.

31. In the anatomy and physiology of the ring and diffuse porous species a certain adaptation may be traced to the climatic conditions under which the trees have their greatest distribution.

The ring porous have their chief distribution within the area of the summergreen hardwood forests. In the warm and dry regions of the latter they dominate as they thrive better here than the diffuse porous owing to the higher top yield in the water transportation.

Towards the North and in direction from the Continental towards the Atlantic climate the ring porous decrease in species and dominance, and simultaneously the diffuse porous gain ground, in the first line those that are nearest to the ring porous types. Within the area of conifers in cold climates there are so to speak diffuse porous trees only.

# References.

- AANDSTAD, S. Untersuchungen über das Dickenwachstum der Kiefer in Solör. Nyt Mag. f. Naturv. 74. 1934.
- AMILON, J. A. Om tiden för diametertillväxtens början hos barrträden och orsakerna härtill. — Skogsvardsföreningens Tidskrift 8. 1910.
- ANDRÉ, H. Über die Ursachen des periodischen Wachstums des Stammes. Zeitschr. f. Bot. 12. 177—218. 1920.
- ANTEVS, E. Zur Kenntnis der jährlichen Wandlungen der stickstoffreien Reservestoffe der Holzpflanzen. — K. Svenska Vet. Akad. Arkiv f. Bot., Bd. 14, No. 16. 1916.
- Die Jahresringe der Holzgewächse und die Bedeutung derselben als klimatischer Indikator.
   En Litteratursammenstilling. Progressus rei botanicae. 5, 285—386. 1914—17.
- AVERY, G. S., P. R. BURKHOLDER and H. B. CREIGHTON. Production and distribution of growth hormone in shoots of Aesculus and Malus, and its probable role in stimulating cambial activity. — Amer. Journ. of Bot. 24, 51—58. 1937.
- BENNETT, J. P., and F. Skoog. Preliminary experiments on the relation of growth-promoting substances to the rest period in fruit trees. Plant Physiology. 13, 219—226. 1938.
- BONDORFF, K. A. Landbrugets Jorddyrkning I. 1938.
- BORNEBUSCH, C. H., og KJELD LADEFOGED. Hvidgranens og Sitkagranens Dødelighed i Hedeog Klitplantager i 1938 og 1939. — Det forstl. Forsøgsvæsen i Danmark. 15, 209—232. 1940.
- BROWN, A. B. Cambial activity, root habit and sucker shoot development in two species of poplar. New Phytologist. 34, 163—179. 1935.
- and R. G. H. CORMACK. Stimulation of Cambial Activity, Locally in the Region of Application and at a Distance in Relation to a Wound, by means of Heteroauxin. Canadian Journ. of Research. 15, Sect. C. 433—441. 1937.
- BROWN, H. P. Growth studies in forest trees. I. *Pinus rigida* MILL. Botanical Gazette. 54, 386—402. 1912.
- Growth studies in forest trees. II. Pinus strobus L. Ibidem. 59, 197-241. 1915.
- BRUUN, ALFR. Iagttagelser over Løvspring, Blomstring, Frugtmodning og Løvfald i Veterinær- og Landbohøjskolens Have i Aarene 1882-86. Bot. Tidsskr. 1889.
- Iagttagelser over Dato for Løvspring, Blomstring, Frugtmodning og Løvfald i den kgl.
   Veterinær- og Landbohøjskoles Have i Aarene 1887—1915. Den kgl. Veterinær- og Landbohøjskoles Aarsskrift. 1919.

BUCKHOUT, W. A. The Formation of the Annual Ring of Wood in the European Larch and the White Pine. — Forestry Quarterly. 5, 259—267. 1907.

BURGER, H. Blattverfärbung und Blattversetzung. — Schweiz. Zeitschr. f. Forstwesen. 93, 125—128. 1942.

BURNS, G. P. Eccentric Growth and the Formation of Red Wood in the Main Stem of Conifers. — Vermont Agricultural Station, Bull. 219. 1910.

90

BÜSGEN, M., and E. MÜNCH. Bau und Leben unserer Waldbäume. Jena 1927.

- BöHMERLE, K. Die Dürreperiode 1904 und unsere Versuchsbestände. Centralblatt f. d. ges. Forstwesen. 33, 192—208. 1907.
- CAMERON, S. H. Storage of Starch in the Pear and Apricot. Amer. Soc. Hor. Sci. 98— 100. 1923.
- CHALK, L. The growth of the wood of ash (Fraxinus excelsior L. and F. oxycarpa WILLD.), and Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga Douglasii CARR.). — Quarterly Journ. of Forestry. 21, 102— 123. 1927.
- The Formation of Spring and Summer Wood in Ash and Douglas Fir. Oxford Forestry Memoirs. No. 10, 1—44. 1930.
- A note on the meaning of the terms early wood and late wood. Proceedings of the Leeds Phil. and Lit. Society, Sci. Section. Vol. III, Part V, 325-326. 1937.
- CHRISTISON, D. On the Monthly Increase in Girth of Trees at the Royal Botanic Garden, and at Craigiehall, near Edinburgh. — Transactions of the Bot. Society. 17. 1889.
- CIESLAR, A. Einige Beziehungen zwischen Holzzuwachs und Witterung. Centralblatt f. d. ges. Forstwesen. 33, 233—246 und 289—311. 1907.
- COCKERHAM, G. Some observations on cambial activity and seasonal starch content in sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus*). Proceedings of the Leeds Phil. and Lit. Society, Sci. Section. Vol. II, Part II, 64—80. 1930.
- COSTER, CH. Zur Anatomie und Physiologie der Zuwachszonen- und Jahresringbildung in den Tropen. — Annales du Jardin Botanique de Buitenzorg. Vol. 37, 49—160 und Vol. 38, 1—114. 1927.
- CZAJA, A. TH. Der Nachweis des Wuchsstoffes bei Holzpflanzen. Ber. d. Deutschen Bot. Gesell. 52, 267—271. 1934.
- DENGLER, ALFR. Waldbau auf ökologischer Grundlage. Berlin 1930.
- EIDE, E. Om Sommervarmens indflydelse på årringbredden. Medd. Det norske Skogforsøksvesen 2, 87—104. 1926.
- ELLIOT, J. H. Seasonal changes in the development of the phloem of the sycamore, Acer Pseudo Platanus L. — Proceedings of the Leeds Phil. and Lit. Society, Sci. Section. Vol. III, 55—67. 1935.
- ENGLER, A. Untersuchungen über das Wurzelwachstum der Holzarten. Mitt. Schweiz. Centralanst. f. d. forstl. Versuchswesen. 7, 247—317. 1903.

— Untersuchungen über den Blattausbruch und das sonstige Verhalten von Schatten- und Lichtpflanzen der Buche und einiger anderer Laubhölzer. — Ibidem. 10, 103—188. 1913.

- ERLANDSON, S. Dendro-chronological studies. Data, 23 från Stockholms Högsk. Geokron. Inst. Stockholm 1936.
- FABRICIUS, L. Untersuchungen über den Stärke- und Fettgehalt der Fichte auf der oberbayerischen Hochebene. — Naturw. Zeit. f. Land- und Forstwiss. 3, 137—175. 1905.

FISCHER, A. Beiträge zur Physiologie der Holzgewächse. — Jahrb. Wiss. Bot. 22, 73—106. 1891.

- FLURY, TH. Ueber den Einfluss von Trockenperioden auf das Bestandeswachstum. Mitt. d. Schweiz. Zentralanst. f. d. forstl. Versuchswesen. 14. 1907.
- FORSAITH, C. C. The Technology of New York State Timbers. Techn. Publ. No. 18 of New York State College of Forestry at Syracuse University. 1—374. 1926.
- FRIEDRICH, J. Über den Einfluss der Witterung auf den Baumzuwachs. Mitt. aus dem Forstl. Versuchswesen Österreichs. 22. 1897.
- Über den Einfluss des Frostes auf den Durchmesser lebender Bäume. Centralbl. f. d. ges. Forstwesen. 33, 185—192. 1907.
- GÄUMANN, E. Der jahreszeitliche Verlauf des Kohlenhydratgehaltes im Tannen und Fichtenstammen. — Ber. d. deutschen bot. Gesellschaft. 45, 591—597. 1927.
- Der Stoffhaushalt der Buche (Fagus silvatica L.) im Laufe eines Jahres. Ber. d. schweiz. bot. Gesellschaft. 44, 157–334. 1935.

- GILL, N. The phloem of ash (Fraxinus excelsior L.) its differentiation and seasonal variation. — Proceedings of the Leeds Phil. and Lit. Society, Scientific Section. Vol. II, Part VII, 347—355. 1932.
- The Relation of Flowering and Cambial Activity. Observations on Vascular Differentiation and Dryweight Changes in the Catkins of some Early Flowering Catkin-bearing Dicotyledons. — The New Phytologist. 32, 1—12. 1933.
- GOUWENTAK, CORNELIA A. Kambiumthätigkeit und Wuchsstoff I. Meded. van de Lanbouwhoogeschool, Deel 40, Verhandling 3, 2—23. 1936.
- und A. L. MAAS. Kambiumthätigkeit und Wuchsstoff II. Ibidem. Deel 44, Verhandling 1, 1—16. 1940.
- Cambial Activity as Dependent on the Presence of Growth Hormone and the Non-Resting Condition of Stems. — Nederl. Akademie van Wetenschappen. 44, 654—663. 1941.
- GRANEFIELD, F. Duration of the growth period in fruit trees. Rept. Wis. A. E. S. 17, 300—308. 1900.
- GROSSENBACHER, J. G. The Periodicity and Distribution of Radial Growth in Trees and their Relation to the Development of "Annual" Rings. — Transact. of the Wisconsin Acad. of Sci., Arts, and Letters. 18, 1—77. 1915.
- GULBE, L. A. Über die periodische Aktivität des Kambiums in den Wurzeln unserer Bäume.
   Arbeiten der St. Petersburger Naturf. Gesellschaft 18. 1888 a. Reprint in Bot. Zentralblatt 38, p. 487.
- Über die periodische Aktivität des Kambiums in den Wurzeln unserer Bäume. Jahrb.
   d. St. Petersburger Forstinst. 3, 1–47. 1888 b. Reprint in Bot. Zentralblatt 40, p. 43.
- HAASIS, F. W. Seasonal shrinkage of Monterey Pine and Redwood trees. Plant Physiology. 7. 1932.
- HABERLANDT, G. Physiologische Pflanzenanatomie. Leipzig 1884.
- Über Jahresringbildung zur Wahrung der Priorität. Ber. d. deutsch. bot. Ges. 13, 337—338. 1895.
- HANSON, H. C., and B. BRENKE. Seasonal Development of Growth Layers in Fraxinus campestris and Acer saccharinum. — Bot. Gaz. 82, 286—304. 1926.
- HARTIG, R. Das Aussetzen der Jahresringe bei unterdrückten Stämmen. Zeitschr. f. Forstu. Jagdwesen. 1, 471—476. 1869.
- Über die Verteilung der organischen Substanz, des Wassers und Luftraumes in den Bäumen, und über die Ursache der Wasserbewegung in transpirierenden Pflanzen. — Untersuch. Forstbot. Inst. München. 2. 1882 a.
- Über den Beginn und den Schluss der Jahrringbildung der Bäume in den verschiedenen Baumhöhen. — Flora 40, 118—124. 1882 b.
- Über die Wasserleitung im Spätholze der Bäume. Ber. d. deutsch. bot. Ges. 6, 222— 225. 1888 a.
- Über den Einfluss der Samenproduktion auf Zuwachsgrösse und Reservestoffvorrat der Bäume. — Bot. Zentralblatt 36, 388—391. 1888 b.
- -- Über die Bedeutung der Reservestoffe für den Baum. -- Bot. Zeitung 46. 1888 c.
- Ein Ringlungsversuch. Allgem. Forst- u. Jagd-Zeit. 65, 365-373 und 401-410. 1889.
- Lehrbuch der Anatomie und Physiologie der Pflanzen. Berlin 1891.
- Über Dickenwachstum und Jahresringbildung. Bot. Zeitung 50, 176—180 und 193— 196. 1892.
- Über neuere Untersuchungen zur Physiologie der Eiche. Bot. Zentralblatt 56, 357— 358. 1893.
- Untersuchungen über die Entstehung und die Eigenschaften des Eichenholzes. Forstl.naturwiss. Zeitschrift. 3, pp. 49, 172 und 193. — Reprt. in Bot. Zentralblatt 58, p. 150. 1894.
- HARTIG, TH. Beiträge zur physiologischen Forstbotanik. Über die Vegetationsperioden der Waldbäume und deren Produkte. Allgem. Forst- u. Jagdzeitung 1857, 281—296. 1857.

- HARTIG, TH. Über die Bewegung des Saftes in den Holzpflanzen. Bot. Zeitung 16, 329—335 und 337—342. 1858.
- Über die Bewegung des Saftes in den Holzpflanzen. Bot. Zeitung 20, 73—76, 81—87, 89—94, 97—100, 105—109. 1862.
- Über die Zeit des Zuwachses der Baumwurzeln. Bot. Zeitung 21, 288—289. 1863 a.
  Folgen der Ringelung an Nadelholz-Aesten. Bot. Zeitung 21, 286—287. 1863 b.
- HARVEY, R. B. Cambial temperatures of trees in winter and their relation to sun scald. Ecology 4, 1923.
- HASTINGS, G. T. When increase in thickness begins in our trees. Plant World. 3, 113—116. 1900. — Cf. Science 12, 585—586. 1900.
- HELLINGA, G. Heteroauxin und Polarität, morphologische und elektrische, bei Coleus-Stecklingen. — Meded. van de landbouwhoogeschool. Deel 41, Verhandlung 1, 1—69. 1937.
- HENRY, E. Influence de la sécheresse de l'année 1893 sur la végétation forestière en Lorraine. — Compt. Rendus d. Séan. de l'Acad. d. Sci., tome 19. 1894.
- HERRMANN, A. Unterschiede in der Anatomie der Kurz- und Langtriebe einiger Holzpflanzen (Fagus, Acer, Pomaceen, Ginko, Berberis). — Österr. bot. Zeitschrift 1916.
- HERTZ, M. Beobachtungen über die "jährlichen" und täglichen Perioden im Längenwachstum der Kiefer und Fichte. Acta Forest. Fennica. 34, 1—26. 1929.
- HESSELMAN, H. Om tallens diametertilväxt under de sista tio åren. Svenska Skogsvårdsfören. Tidskr. 2. 1904.
- HOLMSGAARD, E. Aarringsanalyser fra Midtjylland. Dansk Skovforenings Tidsskr. 30, 129-173. 1945.
- HOLTERMANN, C. Der Einfluss des Klimas auf den Bau der Pflanzengewebe. Anatomischphysiologische Untersuchungen in den Tropen. — Leipzig 1907.
- HONCAMP, F. Handbuch der Pflanzenernährung und Düngerlehre. I and II. Berlin 1931.
- HOWARD, W. L. Untersuchungen über die Vinterruheperiode der Pflanzen. Diss. Halle 1906.
- HUBER, BRUNO. Weitere quantitative Untersuchungen über das Wasserleitungssystem der Pflanzen. Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 67, 877—954. 1928.
- Untersuchungen über das Knospentreibes der Buche und einiger anderer Gehölze. Mitt. d. Deutsch. Dendrol. Gesell. 43, 51—61. 1931.
- Der Wärmehaushalt der Pflanzen. Naturwiss. u. Landwirtschaft. 17, 1-148. 1935.
- Die physiologische Bedeutung der Ring- und Zerstreutporigkeit. Ber. d. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 53, 711—719. 1935.
- und E. SCHMIDT. Weitere thermoelektrische Untersuchungen über den Transpirationsstrom der Bäume. — Tharandter Forstl. Jahrb. 87, 369—412. 1936.
- -, E. SCHMIDT und H. JAHNEL. Untersuchungen über den Assimilatstrom I. Ibidem. 88, 1017–1050. 1937.
- und ERNST ROUSCHAL. Anatomische und zellphysiologische Beobachtungen am Siebröhrensystem der Bäume. — Ber. d. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 56, 380—391. 1938.
- Das Siebröhrensystem unserer Bäume und seine jahreszeitlichen Veränderungen. Jahrb.
   f. wiss. Bot. 88, 176—242. 1939.
- ILLICK, J. S. When trees grow. Amer. Forestry. 25, 1386—1390. 1919.

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WOOD ANATOMISTS. - Tropical Woods. 36, p. 3. 1933.

Iwanow, L. A. Vom Einfluss der Stammbeschattung auf die Arbeit des Kambiums. — Journ. Bot. de l'USSR. 19, 220—224. 1934. — Ref. in Bot. Centralblatt 27, 128—129. 1934.

- JACCARD, P. Beginn und Verlauf der Kambiumtätigkeit bei einigen Waldbäumen. Schweiz. Zeitschr. f. Forstwesen. 81, 313—318. 1930.
- JENSEN, P. BOYSEN. Studier over Skovtræernes Forhold til Lyset. Tidsskrift for Skovvæsen. 22, 1—116. 1910.
- Die Stoffproduktion der Pflanzen. Jena 1932.
- Plantefysiologi. København 1943.

JOHANNSEN, W. Das Ätherverfahren beim Frühtrieben. Jena 1906.

- Jost, L. Über Dickenwachsthum und Jahresringbildung. Bot. Zeitung. 49, 485—495, 501 —510, 525—531, 541—547, 557—563, 573—579, 589—596, 605—611 und 625—630. 1891.
- Beobachtungen über den zeitlichen Verlauf des secundären Dickenwachsthums der Bäume.
   Ber. d. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 10, 587—605. 1892.
- Über Beziehungen zwischen der Blattentwicklung und der Gefässbildung in der Pflanzen. — Bot. Zeitung. 51, 89—138. 1893.
- Zur Physiologie der Gefässbildung. Zeitschr. f. Bot. 35, 114-150. 1940.
- KAISER, F. Über die tägliche Periodizität der Dickendimensionen der Baumstämme. Inaug.-Diss. Halle. 1879. — Reprt. in Just's Jahresberichte. 7, Abt. 1, p. 239. 1879.

KAROLA, OTTE. Die Wuchsstoffe im Leben der höheren Pflanzen. 1937.

- KASTENS, E. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Funktion der Siebröhren. Mitt. a. d. Inst. f. Allgem. Bot. in Hamburg. 6, 33—70. 1924.
- KIENHOLZ, R. Leader, needle, cambial and root growth of certain conifers and their interrelations. — Bot. Gaz. 96, 73—92. 1934.
- KLEBS, G. Über das Treiben der einheimischen Bäume speziell der Buche. Abh. Heidelberger Akad. Wiss., math.-nat. Kl. 3, 1—114. 1914.
- KNIGHT, R. C. The relation in the apple between the development of young shoot and the thickening of older stems. Journ. Pomology and Hort. Sci. 6, 72—77. 1927.
- KNUCHEL, H. and W. BRÜCKMANN. Holzzuwachs und Witterung. Forstwiss. Centralblatt. 52. 1930.
- KNUCHEL, H. Über Zuwachsschwankungen. Schweiz. Zeitschr. f. Forstwesen. 84, 261—272 und 369—380. 1933.
- KNUDSON, L. Observations on the inception, season, and duration of cambium development in the American larch (*Larix laricina* (Du Roi) Koch). — Bull. of the Torr. Bot. Club. 40, 271—293. 1913.
- KNY, I. Über das Dickenwachstum des Holzkörpers in seiner Abhängigkeit von äusseren Einflüssen. Berlin 1882.
- KOLMODIN, G. Tillväxtundersökningar i Norra Dalarna. Svenska Skogsvårdsfören. Tidskr. 21. 1923.
- Väderlekens inflytande på tallens diametertillväxt. Ibidem. 33. 1935.
- KORSTIAN, C. F. Diameter growth in box elder and blue spruce. Bot. Gaz. 71, 454—461. 1921.
- Kostytschew, S. Der Bau und das Dickenwachstum der Dikotylenstämme. Ber. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 40, 297—305. 1922.
- Der Bau und das Dickenwachstum der Dikotylenstämme. Beitr. zum Bot. Centralblatt, Abt. 1. 40, 295—350. 1924.
- KRABBE, G. Über die Beziehungen der Rindenspannung zur Bildung der Jahrringe und zur Ablenkung der Markstrahlen. — Sitzungsber. d. Königl. Preuss. Akad. d. Wiss. 60. 1882.
- Über das Wachstum des Verdickungsringes und der jungen Holzzellen in seiner Abhängigkeit von Druckwirkungen. Anh. z. d. Abh. kgl. Akad. Wiss. Berlin, Abteil. I, 1—83. 1884.
- KRAUS, G. Die Gewebespannung des Stammes und ihre Folgen. Bot. Zeitung 105--119, 121-126, 129-133, 137-142. 1867.
- Киния, R. Die Verdoppelung des Jahresringes durch künstliche Entlaubung. Bibl. Bot. 15. 1—53. 1910.
- KÜBLER, W. Die Periodizität der Nährsalzaufnahme und Trockensubstanzbildung von zweijährigen Buchen. — Natw. Zeitschr. f. Forst- u. Landw. X. 1912.
- KÜHN, OTHMAR. Das Austreiben der Holzgewächse und seine Beeinflussung durch äussere Faktoren. — Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 57, 1—16. 1916.
- KÜSTER, ERNST. Über das Wachstum der Knospen während des Winters. Fünfstück's Beitr. zur wiss. Bot. 2, 401—413. 1898.

- LADEFOGED, KJELD. Frostringsdannelser i Vaarveddet hos unge Douglasgraner, Sitkagraner og Lærketræer. — Det forstl. Forsøgsv. i Danmark. 15, 97—112. 1938.
- Untersuchungen über die Periodizität im Ausbruch und Längenwachstum der Wurzeln bei einigen unserer gewöhnlichsten Waldbäume. Ibidem. 16, 1—256. 1939.
- LAITAKARI, ERKKI. Tutkimuksia sää suhteiden vaikutuksesta männyn pituusja paksuuskasvuum. — Acta forest. fennica. 17. 1922.
- LAKON, G. Die Beeinflussung der Winterruhe der Holzgewächse durch die Nährsalze. Zeitschr. f. Bot. 4, 561—582. 1912.
- LANGE, J. Iagttagelser over Løvspring, Blomstring og Løvfald i Veterinær- og Landbohøjskolens Have. — Bot. Tidsskr. 1873, 1879 and 1884.
- LARKUM, A. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Jahresperiode unserer Holzgewächse. Göttingen 1914.
- LIGNIER, O. Sur l'accroissement diamétral d'un tronc de *Juniperus communis.* Bull. Soc. Linn. de Normandie, tome 6, 7—12. 1913.
- Sur la croissance diamétrale d'un Ginko biloba. Ibidem, tome 6, 13-32. 1913.
- LODEWICK, J. E. Growth studies in forest trees. III. Experiments with the dendograph on *Fraxinus Americana.* Bot. Gaz. 79, 311—323. 1925.
- Seasonal activity of the cambium in some northeastern trees. Bull. of The New York State College of Forestry at Syracuse University. — Technical Publ. 23, 1—52. 1928.
   Effect of Certain Climatic Factors on the Diameter Growth of Longleaf Pine in Western
- Florida. Journ. of Agric. Research. Washington 41, 349—363. 1930.

LUNDEGÅRDH, H. Klima und Boden in ihrer Wirkung auf das Pflanzenleben. 1925.

LUTZ, K. G. Beiträge zur Physiologie der Holzgewächse. 1895.

LÜTKEN, CH. Nogle Iagttagelser over de meteoriske Forholds Indflydelse paa Træernes Tilvæxtgang. — Tidsskr. f. Skovbrug. 12, 280—290. 1891.

MACDOUGAL, D. T. Growth in trees. — Carnegie Inst. Wash. Publ. 307. 1921.

- Tree trunks, growth and reversible variations in circumference. Science. 69, 370—372. 1925.
- and F. Shreve. Growth in trees and massive organs of plants. Carnegie Inst. Wash. Publ. 350. 1924.
- MAANEDSOVERSIGT OVER VEJRFORHOLDENE Udgivet af det danske meteorologiske Institut 1944 og 1945.
- MAYR, H. Waldbau auf naturgesetzlicher Grundlage. Berlin 1925.
- MER, E. Réveil et extinction de l'activité cambiale dans les arbres. Compt. Rendus. 114, 242—245. 1892 a.
- Sur les causes de variation de la densité des bois. Bull. Soc. Bot. de France. 39, 95— 105. 1892 b.
- Bois de printemps et bois d'automne. Compt. Rendus. 114. 1892 c.
- Influence de l'état climatérique sur la croissance des sapins. Journ. de bot. 9, 178—180, 202—206, 222—228, 229—233, 247—255. 1895.
- METZGER, K. Über das Konstruktionsprinzip des sekundären Holzkörpers. Naturw. Zeitschr. f. Forst- u. Landwirtschaft. 1908. — Reprt. Bot. Zentralblatt. 113, 161—163. 1910.
- MISCHKE, KARL. Beobachtungen über das Dickenwachstum der Coniferen. Bot. Centralblatt. 44, 39—43, 65—71, 97—102, 137—142 und 169—175. 1890.
- MITRA, S. K. Seasonal Changes and Translocation of Carbohydrate Materials in Fruit Spurs and Two Year Old Seedlings of Apple. — Ohio Journ. Sci. 21, 89—103. 1921.
- Molisch, H. Über ein einfaches Verfahren, Pflanzen zu treiben. Sitzungsber. d. kais. Akad. d. Wissensch. in Wien. 117. 1908.
- Über ein einfaches Verfahren, Pflanzen zu treiben. 2. Teil. Ibidem. 118. 1909.
- MORIKAWA, K. Über die Beziehungen zwischen dem Streckungs- und dem Dickenwachstum und den Jahrestrieben von *Pinus densifiora* und *P. Thunbergii.* — Bull. Sc. Fak. Terkultura, Kjusu Imp. Univ. 1925. — Reprt. in Bot. Zentralblatt. 9, p. 136. 1927.

MORK, ELIAS. Undersøkelser av vedkvalitet særlig med sigte paa slip- och cellulosaved. — Særtr. av Papir-Journalen, 4—10. 1928.

- MÜLLER, DETLEV. Planteanatomi. 1939.
- Hvorfor springer Eg og Ask saa sent ud? Forskellen mellem ring- og spredtporede Løvtræer. — Dansk Skovforen. Tidsskr. 28, 158—166. 1943.
- MÜNCH, E. Die Stoffbewegungen in der Pflanze. Jena 1930.
- Ergänzende Versuche über Stoffbewegungen. Ber. d. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 50, 407—426. 1932.
- Beobachtungen über die Laubentfaltung der Buche. Mitt. d. Deutsch. Dendrol. Gesell.
   48, 71—76. 1936.
- Untersuchungen über die Harmonie der Baumgestalt. Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 86, 581— 673. 1938.

Møller, CARL MAR:. Untersuchungen über Laubmenge, Stoffverlust und Stoffproduktion des Waldes. — Det forstl. Forsøgsvæsen i Danmark. 17, 1—286. 1945.

ORDING, ASBJØRN. Årringsanalyser på gran og furu. – Medd. f. d. norske Skogsforsøksvesen. 7, 101–354. 1940–41.

PAULSEN, OVE. Grundtræk af den almindelige Botanik. 1939.

- PEARSON, G. A. The Growing Season of Western Yellow Pine. Journ. of Agric. Research Washington. 29, 203—204. 1924.
- PETERSEN, O. G. Nogle Bemærkninger om abnorme Løvforholds Indflydelse paa Aarringsdannelsen. — Dans. Vid. Selsk. Overs. Nr. 5, pp. 405—427, 1896.
- Nogle Undersøgelser over Træernes Rodliv. Ibidem, Nr. 1, pp. 1—68. 1898.
- Aarringsstudier. Tidsskr. f. Skovvæsen. Række B. 11, 190—220. 1899.
- Nogle Iagttagelser over Rodens Perioder hos Træerne. Ibidem. 15, 53-56. 1903.
- Undersøgelser over Træernes Aarringe. Det Kgl. Danske Vidensk. Selsk. Skrifter, nat. og mat. Afd., 7. Rk. Bd. 1, Nr. 3, 165—214. 1904.
- Forstbotanik. 1920.
- PRESTON, J. F., and F. J. PHILLIPS. Seasonal Variation in the Food Reserves of Trees. Forest Quarterly. 9, 232—443. 1911.

PRICE, W. A. Starch in Apple Trees. — Ohio Journ. Sci. 16, 356—359. 1915.

- PRIESTLEY, J. H. Studies in the Physiology of Cambial Activity. The New Phytologist. 29, 316—354. 1930.
- -, LORNA I. SCOTT and E. MALINS. A new method of studying cambial activity. Proc. of the Leeds Phil. and Lit. Society, Scientific Section. Vol. II, 365—374. 1933.
- Radial Growth and Extension Growth in the Tree. Forestry. 9, 84-95. 1935.
- and LORNA I. SCOTT. A note upon summer wood production in the tree. Proc. Leeds Phil. and Lit. Society, Scientific Section. Vol. III, 235—248. 1936.
- RAMANN, E., und E. BAUER. Trockensubstanz, Stickstoff und Mineralstoffe von Baumarten während einer Vegetationsperiode. — Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 50, 70—91. 1911.
- REES, L. W. Growth Studies in Forest Trees. *Picea rubra* LINK. Journal of Forestry. 27, 384—403. 1929.
- REHM, S. Zur Entwicklungsphysiologie der Gefässe und des trachealen Systems. Planta. 26, 255—274. 1936.
- REICHE, K. Zur Kenntniss der Lebensthätigkeit einiger chilenischen Holzgewächse. Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 30, 81—115. 1897.
- REUSS, H. Beiträge zur Wachstumsthätigkeit des Baumes nach praktischen Beobachtungsdaten des laufenden Stärkenzuwachsganges an der Sommerlinde. — Forstlich. naturwiss. Zeitschrift. 2, 145—158. 1893.
- ROMELL, LARS-GUNNAR. Samspelet mellan olika Produktionsfaktorer. Skogvårdsföreningens Tidskr. 22, T. 89. 1924.
- Växttidsundersökninger å tall och gran. Medd. f. Statens Skogförsöksanstalt. 22, 45— 124. 1925.

- RUBNER, K. Das Hungern des Cambiums und das Aussetzen der Jahresringe. Naturwiss. Zeitschr. f. Forst- u. Landwirtschaft. 8, 212—262. 1910.
- RUMBOLD, C. Effect on chestnuts of substances injected into their trunks. Amer. Journ. of Bot. 7, 45—56. 1920.
- Russow, E. Über die Entwicklung des Hoftüpfels, der Membran der Holzzellen und des Jahresringes bei den Abietineen, in erster Linie von *Pinus silvestris* L. — Sep. Abdr. aus Sitzungsber. Dorpater Naturforscher Gesellschaft, pp. 109—158. 1881.
- Über den Inhalt der parenchymatischen Elemente der Rinde vor und während der Knospenaustriebes und Beginns der Cambiumthätigkeit in Stamm und Wurzel der einheimischen Lignosen. — Sitzungsber. d. Naturforscher-Gesell. bei der Universität Dorpat. 6, 386— 388. 1884.
- SACHS, J. Lehrbuch der Botanik. Leipzig 1868.
- SCHACHT, H. Lehrbuch der Anatomie und Physiologie der Gewächse. Berlin 1856-58.
- SCHRENK, C. A. Fremländische Wald- und Parkbäume, I, II, III. Berlin 1939.
- SCHRÖDER, R. Zur Frage über die Verdickung der Bäume in verschiedenen Jahreszeiten. --
  - Mitt. Land- u. Forstwiss. Akad. zu Petrowskë-Rasumowskoë bei Moskau. 2, 1—4. 1879. — Reprt. in Just's Jahresberichte 7, Abt. 1, p. 240. 1879.
- SCHWARZ, F. Physiologische Untersuchungen über Dickenwachstum und Holzqualität von *Pinus silvestris*. Berlin 1899.
- SIGMOND, JOH. Kambiumtätigkeit u. Spätholzentwicklung bei der Fichte (*Picea excelsa* Lк.) an Standorten unterschiedlicher Höhenlage. — Beih. zum Bot. Centralbl. 54, 1. Abt., 531—568. 1935.
- SIMON, S. Studien über die Periodicität der Lebensprozesse der in dauernd feuchten Tropengebieten heimischen Bäume. — Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 54, 71—187. 1914.
- SNOW, R. The Nature of the Cambial Stimulus. The New Phytologist. 32, 288—296. 1933.
   Activation of Cambial Growth by Pure Hormones. Ibidem. 34, 347—360. 1935.
- SPÄTH, H. L. Der Johannistrieb. Ein Beitrag zur Kenntnis der Periodicität und Jahresringbildung sommergrüner Holzgewächse. Berlin 1912.
- STÅLFELT, M. G. Tallens och granens kolsyreassimilation och dess ekologiska betingelser. Medd. f. Statens Skogförsöksanstalt. Stockholm 1924.
- STRASBURGER, E. Über den Bau und die Verrichtungen der Leitungsbahnen in den Pflanzen. Jena 1891.
- SWARBRICK, TH. Studies in the Physiology of Fruit Trees. I. The Seasonal Starch Content and Cambial Activity of one- to five-year-old Apple Branches. — The Journ. of Pomology and Hort. Science. 6, 137—157. 1927 a.
- Studies in the Physiology of Fruit Trees. II. The Effects of Ringing, double Ringing and Disbudding upon the Starch Content and Cambial Activity of two-year-old Apple Shoots. — Ibidem. 6, 296—312. 1927 b.
- Söding, H. Über den Einfluss von Wuchsstoff auf das Dickenwachstum der Bäume. Ber. d. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 54, 291—304. 1936.
- Wuchsstoff und Kambiumtätigkeit der Bäume. Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 84, 639—670. 1937.
- Weitere Untersuchungen über die Wuchsstoffregulation der Kambiumtätigkeit. Zeitschr. f. Bot. 36, 113—141. 1940—1941.
- THIMANN, KENNETH V. Studies on the Growth Hormone of Plants. The Journ. af General Physiology. 18, 23—34. 1935.
- TOUMEY, J. W., and C. F. KORSTIAN. Foundations of Silviculture upon an ecological Basis. New York 1937.
- URSPRUNG, A. Über die Dauer des primären Dickenwachstums. Ber. d. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 24, 489–497. 1906.
- WALLÉN, A. Om Temperaturens och nederbördens inverkan på granens och tallens höjdoch radietillväxt å Stamnäs kronopark 1890–1914. – Skogshögskolan, pp. 413–427. 1917. Dan. Biol. Skr. 7, no. 3.

- WALTER, B. Untersuchungen über Beginn und Beendigung der Jahrringbildung bei Rotbuche. — Forstl.-naturw. Zeitschr. 7, 19—32. 1898.
- WEBER, F. Über die Abkürzung der Ruheperiode der Holzgewächse durch Verletzung der Knospen bezw. Injektion derselben mit Wasser. — Sitzungsber. d. kais. Akad. d. Wissensch. in Wien. 120, 179—195. 1911.
- WEIJ, VAN DER. Der Mechanismus des Wuchsstofftransportes. Amsterdam 1932.
- WIGHT, W. Radial Growth of the Xylem and the Starch Reserves of *Pinus sylvestris*: a Preliminary Survey. — The New Phytologist. 32, 77—96. 1933.
- WIEDEMANN, E. Zuwachsrückgang und Wuchsstockungen der Fichte in den mittleren und unteren Höhenlagen der sächsischen Staatsforsten. — Abteile f. Standortslehre u. d. bot. Abteil. d. forstl. Versuchsanstalt, Tharandt. 2 Ed. 1925.
- WIELER, A. Analysen der Jungholzregion von Pinus silvestris und Salix pentandra nebst einem Beitrage zur Methodik der Pflanzenanalyse. — Landwirtschaftl. Versuchsstat. 32, 307—364. 1885. — Ref. in Bot. Zentralblatt. 27, p. 36. 1886.
- Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Jahresringbildung und des Dickenwachstums. Jahrb. f. wiss. Bot. 18, 70–132. 1887.
- Über den Ort der Wasserleitung im Holzkörper dikotyler und gymnospermer Holzgewächse. — Ber. d. Deutsch. Bot. Gesell. 6, 406–435. 1888.
- Holzbildung auf Kosten des Reservematerials der Pflanzen. Tharandter forstl. Jahrb. 47, 172—246. 1897.
- Über die jährliche Periodicität im Dickenwachstum des Holzkörpers der Bäume. Ibidem. 48, 39—139. 1898.

WIESNER, JULIUS VON. Die Rohstoffe des Pflanzenreich. 4. Ed. Leipzig 1928.

WIKSTEN, ÅKE. Metodik vid Mätning av Årsringens Vårved och Höstved. — Medd. f. Statens Skogförsöksanstalt. 34, 451—496. 1944—45.

- WIMMENAUER, K. Die Hauptergebnisse zehnjähriger forstlich-phänologischer Beobachtungen. Berlin 1897.
- WOTCZAL, E. Die Stärkeablagerung in den Holzgewächsen. Bot. Centralblatt. 41, 99—100. 1890.
- VRIES, HUGO DE. Über den Einfluss des Druckes auf die Ausbildung des Herbstholzes.— Flora. 30, 241—246. 1872.
- Over den invloed der bastdrukking op den bouw der jaarringen. Maandblad voor Naturwet. 4, 97—102. 1874. — Reprt. in Just's Jahresberichte. 2, p. 775.
- Über den Einfluss des Rindendruckes auf den anatomischen Bau des Holzes. Flora.
   33, 97—102. 1875.
- De l'influence de la pression du liber sur la structure des couches ligneuses annuelles.
   Archiv. Néerl., tome 11. 1876.
- ZIMMERMANN, W. A. Untersuchungen über die räumliche und zeitliche Verteilung des Wuchsstoffes bei Bäumen. — Zeitschr. f. Bot. 30, 209—252. 1936—37.

Indleveret til selskabet den 11. april 1951. Færdig fra trykkeriet den 29. Juli 1952.

# Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab Biologiske Skrifter

Biol. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk.

	Bind 6 (kr. 94,00)	kr. ø.
1.	ORLA-JENSEN, S., ORLA-JENSEN, ANNA D., and SNOG-KJÆR, AGNETE: Biological Researches on the Silage Process. 1948	2,00
2.	LUND, SØREN: The Marine Algæ of Denmark. Contributions to their Natural History. Vol. II. Phæophyceæ. IV. Sphacelariaceæ, Cutleriaceæ, and Dictyotaceæ. 1950.	10,00
3.	TUXEN, S. L.: Über den Lebenszyklus und die postembryonale Entwicklung zweier dänischer Proturengattungen. 1949	10,00
4.	PAULSEN, OVE: Observations on Dinoflagellates. Edited by Jul. Grøntved. 1949.	9,00
5.	THOMSEN, MATHIAS: Weismann's Ring and Related Organs in Larvae of Diptera. 1951.	15,00
6.	NIELSEN, ANKER: Contributions to the Metamorphosis and Biology of the Genus Atrichopogon Kieffer (Diptera, Ceratopogonidæ). With Remarks on the Evolu- tion and Taxonomy of the Genus. 1951	16,00
7.	BÖCHER, TYGE W.: Cytological and Embryological Studies in the Amphi-Apomictic Arabis Holboellii Complex. 1951	9,00
8.	DEGERBØL, MAGNUS: Recent Discoveries of Remains of Mammals from Glacial Deposits in Denmark. Dicerorhinus kirchbergensis (Jäger), New to the Fauna of Denmark; Megaloceros giganteus (Blumenbach) and Bison priscus (H. v. Meyer). 1952	5,00
9.	CHRISTENSEN, PAUL J. HOLST: The Embryonic Development of Cochlidion lima- codes Hufn. (Fam. Cochlididae, Lepidoptera). A Study on Living Dated Eggs. 1953.	18,00

# Bind 7 (kr. 100,00)

1.	NYGAARD, GUNNAR: Hydrobiological Studies on some Danish Ponds and Lakes. Part II: The Quotient Hypothesis and some new or little known Phytoplankton Organisms. 1949	40,00
2.	CHRISTENSEN, PAUL J. HOLST: Studien über die postembryonale Entwicklung bei Cochlidion limacodes Hufn. (Fam. Cochlididae, Lepidoptera). 1950	10,00
3.	LA DEFOGED, KJELD: The Periodicity of Wood Formation. 1952. Second Edition 1958.	25,00
4.	BÖCHER, TYGE W.: Lichen-Heaths and Plant Successions at Østerby on the Isle of Læsø in the Kattegat. 1952	5,00
5.	THOMSEN, MATHIAS: Neurosecretion in some Hymenoptera. 1954	8,00
6.	FJERDINGSTAD, E.: The Subfossil Algal Flora of the Lake Bølling Sø and its Limnological Interpretation. 1954	12,00

# Bind 8 (kr. 100,00)

1.	KøIE, M., and RECHINGER, K. H.: Symbolae Afghanicae. Enumeration and De-	
	scriptions of the Plants Collected by L. EDELBERG and M. KØIE on "The 3rd	
	Danish Expedition to Central Asia" and by W. KOELZ, H. F. NEUBAUER, O. H.	
	VOLK, and others in Afghanistan Vol. I. K. H. RECHINGER: Labiatae. 1954.	15,0
2.	KOIE, M., and BECHINGER, K. H.: Symbolae Afghanicae, Enumeration and De-	

scriptions of the Plants Collected by L. EDELBERG and M. Køie on "The 3rd 

3.	BÖCHER, TYGE W., LARSEN, KAI, and RAHN, KNUD: Experimental and Cytological Studies on Plant Species, II. Trifolium arvense and some other Pauciennial	kr. ø.
	Herbs. 1955	5,00
4.	URSIN, ERIK: Geographical Variation in Apodemus sylvaticus and A. flavicollis (Rodentia, Muridae) in Europe, with Special Reference to Danish and Latvian	
	Populations. 1956	9,00
5.	NIELSEN, ANKER: A Comparative Study of the Genital Segments and their Appen- dages in Male Trichoptera. 1957	31,00

#### Bind 9 (kr. 101,00)

1.	BIRKELUND, TOVE: Upper Cretaceous Belemnites from Denmark. 1957	15,00
2.	RØEN, ULRIK: Contributions to the Biology of some Danish Free Living Freshwater Copepods. 1957	19,00
3.	KØIE, M., and RECHINGER, K. H.: Symbolae Afghanicae. Enumeration and De- scriptions of the Plants Collected by L. EDELBERG and M. KØIE on "The 3rd Danish Expedition to Central Asia" and by G. KERSTAN, W. KOELZ, H. F. NEU- BAUER, O. H. VOLK, and others in Afghanistan. — Vol. III. K. H. RECHINGER: Leguminosae 1957	40.00
4.	JØRGENSEN, C. A., SØRENSEN, TH., and WESTERGAARD, M.: The Flowering Plants	10,00
	of Greenland. A Taxonomical and Cytological Survey. 1958	27,00

# Bind 10

# (uafsluttet | in preparation)

۱.	HAMMER, MARIE: Investigations on the Oribatid Fauna of the Andes Mountains.	
	I. The Argentine and Bolivia. 1958	30,00
2.	BÖCHER, TYGE W., and LARSEN, KAI: Experimental and Cytological Studies on	
	Plant Species. IV. Further Studies in Short-Lived Herbs. 1958	5,00

On direct application to the agent of the Academy, EJNAR MUNKSGAARD, Publishers, 6 Nörregade, Köbenhavn K., a subscription may be taken out for the series *Biologiske Skrifter*. This subscription automatically includes the *Biologiske Meddelelser* in 8vo as well, since the *Meddelelser* and the *Skrifter* differ only in size, not in subject matter. Papers with large formulae, tables, plates etc., will as a rule be published in the *Skrifter*, in 4to.

For subscribers or others who wish to receive only those publications which deal with a single group of subjects, a special arrangement may be made with the agent of the Academy to obtain the published papers included under one or more of the following heads: Botany, Zoology, General Biology.

In order to simplify library cataloguing and reference work, these publications will appear without any special designation as to subject. On the cover of each, however, there will appear a list of the most recent paper dealing with the same subject.

The last published numbers of *Biologiske Skrifter* within the group of **Botany** are the following:

Vol. 9, nos. 3-4. — Vol. 10, no. 2.